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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The board of directors of ARB Holdings Limited (“ARB”) present this integrated report for the year ended  
30 June 2019. This report charts a journey towards enhanced integrated reporting, at the same time seeking to 
provide ARB’s shareholders, clients, employees, investors, analysts and other interested parties with a transparent 
and understandable assessment of the context in which ARB operates, the strategy, risks, how the group manages 
governance, social and environmental responsibilities and the performance of the group for the year.

could, and the like identify these forward-looking statements, 
but not exclusively. Forward-looking statements only apply as 
at the date of this report and ARB does not undertake to update 
these forward-looking statements other than in the half year or 
full year results announcements.

Integrated risk management and combined assurance 
ARB applies a combined assurance model that seeks to match 
the risk areas affecting the group with assurance obtained 
from management, together with internal and external risk 
assurance providers. Management provides the board with 
assurance that it has implemented and monitored the group’s 
risk management plan as set out in the risk registers presented 
to the board and that the plan is integrated into ARB’s day-to-
day activities.

ARB believes that an effective risk governance model contains 
checks and balances to support appropriate consideration of risk 
and opportunity management throughout the organisation.  
ARB therefore considers integrated risk management practices 
supplemented by the combined assurance model to be an 
optimal approach that facilitates coordinated risk management 
and governance efforts. This model provides assurance that 
there are clearly defined risk ownership responsibilities with 
functionally independent levels of oversight and independent 
assurance. Please refer to the underlying reports below for a 
detailed discussion of the oversight role of the board and relevant  
sub-committees. 

The internal audit function reports directly to the audit 
committee chairman, is overseen by the audit committee and 
assesses the effectiveness of ARB’s systems of internal 
controls and risk management.

PKF Durban provide external assurance on the fair presentation 
of the annual financial statements. Their scope does not include 
the review of any financial or operating information contained 
elsewhere in this integrated report. The subsidiaries’ B-BBEE 
compliance is also externally assessed and audited.

The audit committee, as well as the board, have considered the 
exposure to sustainability risks and have concluded that it is 
not necessary to engage an external assurance provider to 
provide assurance on this integrated report.

In compiling this report, ARB was guided by King IVTM, the 
International Integrated Reporting (IR) Framework, the Global 
Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) and the need to comply with 
disclosure requirements of the South African Companies Act, 
the JSE Listings Requirements, South African Institute of 
Chartered Accountants (“SAICA”) financial reporting guides 
issued by the Accounting Practice Committee and with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

This is the second year of reporting in terms of the King IV® 

structure of “comply and explain”, and once again the board 
has been through a formal review of the 17 principles and the 
associated practices as recommended which are available on 
the ARB website, www.arbhold.co.za. The group has been 
pragmatic in the application of the King IVTM principles and has 
adopted a “fit for purpose” approach.

Board responsibility statement
ARB’s board of directors acknowledges its responsibility to 
ensure the integrity of the integrated report. The board has 
accordingly applied its collective mind, and, in its opinion, this 
integrated report addresses all material matters, offers a 
balanced view of the group’s strategy and how it relates to the 
organisation’s ability to create value in the short, medium and 
long term. 

Materiality
This report aims to provide a balanced, accurate and accessible 
assessment of the group’s strategy, performance and prospects 
in relation to material financial, economic, social, environmental 
and governance issues. These material issues, which were 
determined considering both quantitative and qualitative 
criteria, are the key concerns of ARB’s stakeholders and 
matters that are material to its strategic objectives, risks and 
the sustainability of the group’s business model. Materiality 
has been set at R7,3m, approximately 0.3% of revenue and 5% 
of profit before tax. 

Forward-looking statements
The integrated report includes forward-looking statements 
that include assumptions, uncertainties and similar risks and,  
thus, the actual result may be different to that anticipated.  
Words such as believe, anticipate, intend, seek, will, may, 

This integrated report is also available online at www.arbhold.co.za, together with the King IV™ 
compliance register. The board welcomes feedback on the report from stakeholders. Please contact 
the chief financial officer (“CFO”) at grants@arbhold.co.za with any suggestions for improvement, or 
with any questions or queries you may have.
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HIGHLIGHTS AND CHALLENGES

Radiant acquisition completed on 1 January 2019

CraigCor achieves level 2 B-BBEE value adding status

Radiant integration and optimisation in progress

Significant reduction in Eskom spend

Occupation taken of Lords View Distribution Centre in 
December 2018

CraigCor results exceed expectations

GMC Powerlines acquisition in March 2019

No “projects” and dire state of construction industry

Operating income down 24%; HEPS down 18.8%

Rightsizing of operational structures
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GROUP AT A GLANCE

ARB Electrical Wholesalers
ARB Connect
ARB Global

CraigCor Distribution Co
CED – CHINT Distributors
GMC Powerlines

Eurolux
Radiant 

ARB Holdings 

ARB is an investment and property holding company that owns investments in closely-related trading and distribution 
businesses. Major investment holdings include 74% of ARB Electrical Wholesalers, a level 2 B-BBEE company, which 
operates 22 electrical branches throughout South Africa, and 60% of Eurolux, which imports and distributes light 
fittings, lamps and related accessories.

ARB Holdings owns a 60% interest in Eurolux, which in turn owns 100% of Radiant and 
Cathay Lighting. Eurolux is a leading importer and distributor of energy-saving LED, 
halogen and fluorescent lamps, light fittings, electrical accessories, cut cable products 
and ancillary products, including fans and lighting components. Eurolux markets its 
products under its own well-known brand, as well as those of Radiant, What4 Electronics, 
and Euro Nouveau. It operates out of two custom-designed distribution centres situated 
in Johannesburg and Cape Town and sells to retail chains, independent DIY and hardware 
chains, as well as to resellers such as specialised lighting shops and electrical 
wholesalers. Following the acquisition of Radiant, effective from 1 January 2019, Eurolux 
plans to consolidate all the Gauteng operations into the existing Radiant properties which 
the group is in the process of purchasing.

ARB’s property portfolio, which includes 15 properties valued at R345m, is housed under 

the corporate division. The division provides strategic leadership to the group and 

performs the internal audit, secretarial, legal and centralised treasury functions for the 

underlying operating subsidiaries. ARB Holdings owns a 100% interest in Xact ERP 

Solutions, which provides the electrical division and other third-party clients with 

specialist IT software and hardware services and support.

ARB Holdings owns a 100% interest in ARB Global, GMC Powerlines and CED and a 74% 

interest in ARB Electrical Wholesalers, which in turn owns 60% of CraigCor Distribution 

Co. ARB Electrical Wholesalers is one of Southern Africa’s largest distributors of electrical 

products. It operates out of 22 branches across South Africa, with a presence in all nine 

provinces, and provides a wide range of internationally-recognised and SABS-approved 

products across three main categories:
nn power and instrumentation cable; 
nn overhead line (“OHL”) equipment and conductors; and 
nn general low-voltage products.

ELECTRICAL  
DIVISION

LIGHTING 
DIVISION

CORPORATE 
DIVISION

Cathay Lighting
Euro Nouveau

Xact ERP Solutions

|  ARB Integrated report 20194
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Organisational chart

Western Cape 
Cape Town

Gauteng 
Johannesburg

KwaZulu-Natal 
Durban

Eastern Cape 
East London 
Port Elizabeth

Free State 
Bloemfontein

Gauteng 
Johannesburg (4) 
Pretoria (6) 
Lords View

KwaZulu-Natal 
Durban (2)
Pietermaritzburg 
Richards Bay

Limpopo 
Polokwane

Mpumalanga 
Nelspruit

Northern Cape 
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North West 
Rustenburg

Western Cape 
Cape Town (3)

ARB HOLDINGS LTD (JSE)

Corporate divisionLighting division

Electrical division

OUR PRESENCE

60%
CraigCor  

Distribution Co  
(Pty) Ltd

100%
GMC 

Powerlines  
(Pty) Ltd

100%
Cathay Lighting  

(Pty) Ltd

100%
The Radiant 

Group (Pty) Ltd

74%
ARB Electrical 
Wholesalers  

(Pty) Ltd

100%
ARB Global  

(Pty) Ltd

100%
Xact ERP  
Solutions  
(Pty) Ltd

100%
Consolidated  

Electrical  
Distributors  

(“CED”)

60%
Eurolux  
(Pty) Ltd

26%
Batsomi Power  

(Pty) Ltd

40%
Directors of  

Eurolux

Eastern Cape

Western Cape

Northern Cape

North West

Free State

Gauteng

KwaZulu-Natal

Mpumalanga

Limpopo



The new electrical divisions distribution centre, purpose built in the Lords View Eco-Estate in Midrand in Gauteng was 
completed during the year at a cost of R145m and occupation was taken in December 2018. This distribution centre is 
a step change in the electrical division’s business model that will provide break-bulk and regular distribution services 
to the branches, reducing the transport costs, stock holding costs and ultimately the size of branch footprint required 
while still providing a high level of service to electrical’s customers.

Electrical Wholesale’s Lords View distribution centre, Midrand.

OUR PRESENCE (continued)

|  ARB Integrated report 20196
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ARB’s various stakeholders – identified as groups of people or individuals who are impacted by our operations – are 
represented below. ARB is committed to constructive and transparent engagement with all its stakeholders to ensure 
that key risks and opportunities arising from these relationships are identified and resolved through dialogue and 
engagement where necessary. Regular engagement further ensures that the group is aware of any issues raised and 
actions put in place to resolve these should this be necessary.

The outcomes from our stakeholder analysis, and risks and opportunities identified through this process, are 
considered in determining material matters for the business.

GOVERNMENT/
PARASTATALS

FINANCIERS EMPLOYEES

REGULATORS SUPPLIERS

TRADE UNIONS CUSTOMERS

Constructive, transparent 

and continuous engagement 

with all stakeholders.

SHAREHOLDERS/  
INVESTMENT  
COMMUNITY

COMMUNITIES

HOW WE ENGAGE WITH OUR STAKEHOLDERS



Stakeholder

Level of 
stakeholder 
involvement How we engage Responsibility Issues raised Our strategic response

Quality of 
relationship

Shareholders/
investment 
community

High  n ARB releases SENS announcements to keep shareholders and the 
investment community updated on major group actions, etc.

 n We undertake both interim and final results presentations.
 n Our ARB Holdings website is regularly updated and serves as a key 

information platform.
 n We host informal conference calls and meetings.
 n ARB leadership meets with the media and gives interviews when 

we have newsworthy information to share. This is typically around 
results releases. All interactions with the media are guided by a 
formal communications policy, with the CEO identified as the 
primary spokesperson. All communication with the external 
market, including the media, must be vetted by the CEO before 
distribution to ensure alignment with key messages.

 n ARB hosts an AGM.
 n Our integrated report serves as a detailed communication to our 

stakeholders. 
 n We host investor site visits periodically.

Billy Neasham (CEO)/
Grant Scrutton (CFO)

The ARB board

 n Careful and cautious management 
who are largely complimented in 
the current market.

 n Potential problems with future 
growth of the business.

 n High levels of cash on the balance 
sheet.

 n Share liquidity issues.
 n Succession planning for senior 

leadership.

 n ARB communicates its long-term focus and strategy through the 
integrated report.

 n We continue to communicate our governance practices clearly and 
transparently through various mediums, including the integrated report 
and our website.

 n The board assesses potential acquisitions to benefit the group.
 n The executive team continues to drive organic growth in a difficult 

environment.
 n Cash and bank facilities are considered as a funding option in potential 

acquisitions.
 n A succession plan is in place to ensure adequate thought is given to 

this issue. The group CEO has a six-month notice period.

4

Customers High  n ARB conducts formal business meetings during the year with 
customers.

 n We host regular site visits and there is interaction with group 
representatives at all levels.

 n Regular product presentations are hosted.
 n ARB conducts regular credit checks and reviews.
 n The group hosts a number of customer breakfasts and functions 

across the year.
 n We participate in a number of trade shows during the year.

Divisional executive 
teams

 n Pricing and availability of inventory.
 n Long delays in payment by SOEs, 

Government and municipalities.
 n Volatile exchange rates causing 

fluctuating pricing in fixed price 
contracts.

 n Poor payments by their  
SOE/parastatal customers.

 n The current cable supply 
inconsistencies in the market.

 n ARB actively manages stock levels to mitigate against over- or 
under-pricing.

 n ARB secure prices and stock ahead of time to minimise price volatility.
 n ARB actively monitors overdue payments and offers extended terms 

where necessary. 

5

Employees High  n Regular presentations with management of subsidiaries.
 n The group adheres to and implements the Basic Conditions of 

Employment Act.
 n One-on-one interactions between staff and line managers. 
 n Regular Employment Equity meetings are held throughout the 

group.
 n ARB Electrical hosts regular worker forum meetings in each 

branch.
 n ARB conducts ongoing training and development initiatives
 n Regular health and safety meetings take place, including  

“Toolbox Talks”. 
 n A robust social and ethics committee is in place.
 n The group has a whistle-blower hotline in place.

Divisional executive 
teams with HR staff

 n Fair and market-related 
remuneration taking into account 
food and transport cost increases 
being in excess of CPI. 

 n Ability to obtain necessary skills 
for promotion and career 
development opportunities.

 n The increase of union 
representation within ARB 
Electrical.

 n ARB offers equal opportunity for all employees. 
 n The executive team receives feedback from the employment equity 

committee meetings to help monitor progress and performance against 
B-BBEE and employment equity targets.

 n Staff are engaged regularly on branch-specific issues.
 n ARB undertakes annual salary reviews with higher increases awarded 

to lower paid employees – the group is keenly aware of the rate of 
increase in salaries of executive management vis-à-vis the workforce 
and has put in place a mechanism to ensure this is monitored and 
managed accordingly. 

 n The group adheres to mandated grievance procedures.
 n ARB conducts regular performance reviews to assess capabilities and 

opportunity for career development.
 n The group has put in place a medical insurance scheme for all 

employees at no cost to the employees.
 n Workers’ forum meetings are held on a regular basis, with monthly 

feedback to divisional management, which is fed to group executives 
where relevant.

 n We support and encourage our staff to improve their skills and 
capabilities to remain relevant – on the job training takes place 
throughout the organisation.

 n External training and development opportunities are available – ARB 
has a funding policy in place for study assistance.

 n The deduction of union-related subscriptions or levies in keeping with 
section 13 of the Labour Relations Act.

4

HOW WE ENGAGE WITH OUR STAKEHOLDERS (continued)
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Stakeholder

Level of 
stakeholder 
involvement How we engage Responsibility Issues raised Our strategic response

Quality of 
relationship

Shareholders/
investment 
community

High  n ARB releases SENS announcements to keep shareholders and the 
investment community updated on major group actions, etc.

 n We undertake both interim and final results presentations.
 n Our ARB Holdings website is regularly updated and serves as a key 

information platform.
 n We host informal conference calls and meetings.
 n ARB leadership meets with the media and gives interviews when 

we have newsworthy information to share. This is typically around 
results releases. All interactions with the media are guided by a 
formal communications policy, with the CEO identified as the 
primary spokesperson. All communication with the external 
market, including the media, must be vetted by the CEO before 
distribution to ensure alignment with key messages.

 n ARB hosts an AGM.
 n Our integrated report serves as a detailed communication to our 

stakeholders. 
 n We host investor site visits periodically.

Billy Neasham (CEO)/
Grant Scrutton (CFO)

The ARB board

 n Careful and cautious management 
who are largely complimented in 
the current market.

 n Potential problems with future 
growth of the business.

 n High levels of cash on the balance 
sheet.

 n Share liquidity issues.
 n Succession planning for senior 

leadership.

 n ARB communicates its long-term focus and strategy through the 
integrated report.

 n We continue to communicate our governance practices clearly and 
transparently through various mediums, including the integrated report 
and our website.

 n The board assesses potential acquisitions to benefit the group.
 n The executive team continues to drive organic growth in a difficult 

environment.
 n Cash and bank facilities are considered as a funding option in potential 

acquisitions.
 n A succession plan is in place to ensure adequate thought is given to 

this issue. The group CEO has a six-month notice period.

4

Customers High  n ARB conducts formal business meetings during the year with 
customers.

 n We host regular site visits and there is interaction with group 
representatives at all levels.

 n Regular product presentations are hosted.
 n ARB conducts regular credit checks and reviews.
 n The group hosts a number of customer breakfasts and functions 

across the year.
 n We participate in a number of trade shows during the year.

Divisional executive 
teams

 n Pricing and availability of inventory.
 n Long delays in payment by SOEs, 

Government and municipalities.
 n Volatile exchange rates causing 

fluctuating pricing in fixed price 
contracts.

 n Poor payments by their  
SOE/parastatal customers.

 n The current cable supply 
inconsistencies in the market.

 n ARB actively manages stock levels to mitigate against over- or 
under-pricing.

 n ARB secure prices and stock ahead of time to minimise price volatility.
 n ARB actively monitors overdue payments and offers extended terms 

where necessary. 

5

Employees High  n Regular presentations with management of subsidiaries.
 n The group adheres to and implements the Basic Conditions of 

Employment Act.
 n One-on-one interactions between staff and line managers. 
 n Regular Employment Equity meetings are held throughout the 

group.
 n ARB Electrical hosts regular worker forum meetings in each 

branch.
 n ARB conducts ongoing training and development initiatives
 n Regular health and safety meetings take place, including  

“Toolbox Talks”. 
 n A robust social and ethics committee is in place.
 n The group has a whistle-blower hotline in place.

Divisional executive 
teams with HR staff

 n Fair and market-related 
remuneration taking into account 
food and transport cost increases 
being in excess of CPI. 

 n Ability to obtain necessary skills 
for promotion and career 
development opportunities.

 n The increase of union 
representation within ARB 
Electrical.

 n ARB offers equal opportunity for all employees. 
 n The executive team receives feedback from the employment equity 

committee meetings to help monitor progress and performance against 
B-BBEE and employment equity targets.

 n Staff are engaged regularly on branch-specific issues.
 n ARB undertakes annual salary reviews with higher increases awarded 

to lower paid employees – the group is keenly aware of the rate of 
increase in salaries of executive management vis-à-vis the workforce 
and has put in place a mechanism to ensure this is monitored and 
managed accordingly. 

 n The group adheres to mandated grievance procedures.
 n ARB conducts regular performance reviews to assess capabilities and 

opportunity for career development.
 n The group has put in place a medical insurance scheme for all 

employees at no cost to the employees.
 n Workers’ forum meetings are held on a regular basis, with monthly 

feedback to divisional management, which is fed to group executives 
where relevant.

 n We support and encourage our staff to improve their skills and 
capabilities to remain relevant – on the job training takes place 
throughout the organisation.

 n External training and development opportunities are available – ARB 
has a funding policy in place for study assistance.

 n The deduction of union-related subscriptions or levies in keeping with 
section 13 of the Labour Relations Act.

4
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Stakeholder

Level of 
stakeholder 
involvement How we engage Responsibility Issues raised Our strategic response

Quality of 
relationship

Suppliers High  n ARB conducts formal one-on-one business meetings, dealing with 
supply issues and commercial terms of reference.

 n The group offers product training to staff members on new and 
existing products and encourages suppliers to offer product 
training.

 n ARB hosts relevant trade shows and encourages suppliers to 
participate.

Procurement 
executives

 n Increasing low-cost competition. 
 n Perceived anti-competitive 

supplier trading practices.
 n Competitor trading practices.
 n Monitoring and adhering to 

on-time deliveries.

 n The group maintains strong relationships with strategic suppliers.
 n We ensure that all goods supplied comply with regulatory standards.
 n ARB is a member of Safehouse.
 n The group ensures all relevant staff are adequately trained on the 

products we sell – and encourage our suppliers to assist in ensuring 
this happens.

4

Government/
SOEs/
parastatals

Low  n ARB hosts meetings with procurement managers where relevant. Procurement 
executives

 n No issues have been raised in 
ARB’s dealings with Government 
or SOEs and parastatals.

 n Ensuring that we comply with all applicable legislation and that we act 
in all cases as a responsible corporate citizen.

2

Regulators High  n Reporting, correspondence, formal meetings and feedback 
sessions.

The ARB board and 
executives

 n Department of Labour: 
employment equity matter in 
regard to ARB Electrical.

 n Ensuring that we comply with all applicable legislation and that we act 
in all cases as a responsible corporate citizen.

 n Urgent action being taken to ensure compliance with employment 
equity legislation – ARB Electrical.

3

Financiers High  n ARB hosts formal one-on-one meetings as well as telephonic 
discussions with financiers.

 n Annual facilities review.
 n Annual and interim group financial information issued timeously.

The ARB board and 
executive management

 n Facilities raised for Radiant 
acquisition. 

 n ARB ensures regular communication with bankers in anticipation of 
future requirements.

5

Trade unions Medium  n The group undertakes adhoc engagement as the membership of 
unions within ARB is low and represents a small proportion of the 
various legal entities.

Divisional executive 
teams with HR staff

 n ARB has union recognition where 
there is sufficient representation.

 n We undertake CCMA-facilitated 
negotiations where disputes arise.

 n The group sets levels of employee representation in order for a union to 
obtain recognition.

 n We also set levels at which active negotiations are facilitated.

3

Communities Medium  n ARB has a number of CSI initiatives in place and there is 
participation by both the group’s major divisions.

 n ARB Electrical focuses on CSI initiatives where its branches are 
located – direct community involvement.

Operational teams  n More financial support requested.
 n Support for additional CSI 

projects.

 n The social and ethics committee monitors CSI activities and spend and 
evaluates further requests for support.

 n ARB makes annual donations to credible community organisations.

4

Relationship scale

This scale represents our internal assessment of the quality of our relationships:

1. No existing relationship.

2. Relationship established which meets criteria/purpose of relationship.

3. Good relationship established which meets criteria/purpose of relationship.

4. Good-quality, mutually beneficial relationship established.

5. Very strong relationship of mutual benefit established.

HOW WE ENGAGE WITH OUR STAKEHOLDERS (continued)

|  ARB Integrated report 201910
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Stakeholder

Level of 
stakeholder 
involvement How we engage Responsibility Issues raised Our strategic response

Quality of 
relationship

Suppliers High  n ARB conducts formal one-on-one business meetings, dealing with 
supply issues and commercial terms of reference.

 n The group offers product training to staff members on new and 
existing products and encourages suppliers to offer product 
training.

 n ARB hosts relevant trade shows and encourages suppliers to 
participate.

Procurement 
executives

 n Increasing low-cost competition. 
 n Perceived anti-competitive 

supplier trading practices.
 n Competitor trading practices.
 n Monitoring and adhering to 

on-time deliveries.

 n The group maintains strong relationships with strategic suppliers.
 n We ensure that all goods supplied comply with regulatory standards.
 n ARB is a member of Safehouse.
 n The group ensures all relevant staff are adequately trained on the 

products we sell – and encourage our suppliers to assist in ensuring 
this happens.

4

Government/
SOEs/
parastatals

Low  n ARB hosts meetings with procurement managers where relevant. Procurement 
executives

 n No issues have been raised in 
ARB’s dealings with Government 
or SOEs and parastatals.

 n Ensuring that we comply with all applicable legislation and that we act 
in all cases as a responsible corporate citizen.

2

Regulators High  n Reporting, correspondence, formal meetings and feedback 
sessions.

The ARB board and 
executives

 n Department of Labour: 
employment equity matter in 
regard to ARB Electrical.

 n Ensuring that we comply with all applicable legislation and that we act 
in all cases as a responsible corporate citizen.

 n Urgent action being taken to ensure compliance with employment 
equity legislation – ARB Electrical.

3

Financiers High  n ARB hosts formal one-on-one meetings as well as telephonic 
discussions with financiers.

 n Annual facilities review.
 n Annual and interim group financial information issued timeously.

The ARB board and 
executive management

 n Facilities raised for Radiant 
acquisition. 

 n ARB ensures regular communication with bankers in anticipation of 
future requirements.

5

Trade unions Medium  n The group undertakes adhoc engagement as the membership of 
unions within ARB is low and represents a small proportion of the 
various legal entities.

Divisional executive 
teams with HR staff

 n ARB has union recognition where 
there is sufficient representation.

 n We undertake CCMA-facilitated 
negotiations where disputes arise.

 n The group sets levels of employee representation in order for a union to 
obtain recognition.

 n We also set levels at which active negotiations are facilitated.

3

Communities Medium  n ARB has a number of CSI initiatives in place and there is 
participation by both the group’s major divisions.

 n ARB Electrical focuses on CSI initiatives where its branches are 
located – direct community involvement.

Operational teams  n More financial support requested.
 n Support for additional CSI 

projects.

 n The social and ethics committee monitors CSI activities and spend and 
evaluates further requests for support.

 n ARB makes annual donations to credible community organisations.

4

Relationship scale

This scale represents our internal assessment of the quality of our relationships:

1. No existing relationship.

2. Relationship established which meets criteria/purpose of relationship.

3. Good relationship established which meets criteria/purpose of relationship.

4. Good-quality, mutually beneficial relationship established.

5. Very strong relationship of mutual benefit established.

ARB Integrated report 2019 | 11



GROWTH AND EXPANSION STRATEGY

ARB’s growth and expansion strategy is focused on the following elements within each division:

LIGHTING 
DIVISION

CORPORATE 
DIVISION

nn Providing structured assistance 

in executing the strategies of 

the operating divisions;
nn Diversifying the group through 

the acquisition of trading and 

distribution businesses in 

related industrial or consumer 

products sectors; and
nn Expanding the Xact ERP 

Solutions customer base.

ELECTRICAL  
DIVISION

nn Expanding the branch network 

through:

– strategic acquisitions; 

– the new distribution centre at 

Lords View; 
nn Expanding the range of products 

through the introduction of new 

products or the acquisition of 

complementary businesses, such 

as CraigCor and GMC 

Powerlines; and
nn Leveraging niche product 

offerings through our national 

distribution footprint.

nn Growing through acquisitions, 

such as Radiant, where value 

creation and synergistic 

opportunities exist;
nn Increasing market share 

through the expansion of our 

customer base;
nn Broadening the product offering 

to new and existing customers, 

including:

–  the electrical accessories 

sector (switches, sockets, 

double adaptors, cut cable, 

wire and extension leads, 

etc.); and

–  selling Crabtree and 

Schneider products directly 

to retailers; and
nn Expanding into Africa with local 

logistics partners.

|  ARB Integrated report 201912
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ARB services predominantly the South African electrical supply 

market, with a strategy to expand into sub-Saharan Africa (SSA). 

Within the SSA market, South Africa has the lion’s share of the 

power generation capacity, with an installed base of  

45 Gigawatts (GW) compared to Zambia (2.3 GW), Angola  

(1.15 GW), Botswana (0.9 GW) and Namibia (0.47 GW).  

An estimated 1.1bn people – 14% of the global population – do 

not have access to electricity according to energy access outlook 

2017. Many more suffer from supply that is of poor quality. More 

than 95% of those living without electricity are in countries in SSA 

and developing Asia. In 2015 SSA had 13% of the world’s 

population, but 48% of global population without access to 

electricity the lowest in the world. Although SSA currently 

consumes less power than Brazil, by 2040 demand is projected to 

reach a level equal to the 2010 level of consumption of both Latin 

America and India combined. As a result, the industry is set to 

remain robust for the future.

The electrical supply market is segmented as follows:

Power size segments – “Low voltage” (less than 1 Kilovolt [KV]), 

“medium voltage” (1KV to 132KV), “high voltage” (132KV to 

400KV) and a limited “very high voltage” sector (greater than 

765KV). In South Africa, these segments are largely controlled by 

Eskom, where Eskom’s Distribution Division manages the 

medium voltage sector and its Transmission Division the high 

voltage business.

Distribution channels to (1) the “formal market”, which generally 

includes power supply utilities (such as Eskom, Zesco, Copperbelt 

Electrical Company, etc.), municipalities and large users such as 

mines that tend to procure directly from the Original Equipment 

Manufacturers (“OEMs”) on long-term contracts and to (2) the 

“informal market”, which comprises electrical wholesalers, 

cable traders, large retail chain stores and other general 

retailers that sell to electrical contractors and end-users on a 

transaction by transaction basis.

Product types are largely categorised into (1) cable (copper and 

aluminium power cable, communication cable, etc.), OHL 

products (cable, structures and hardware for overhead line 

power supply) and (3) low voltage (a very large category of 

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

equipment and accessories ranging from commodities to 

specialist products covering wire, switches, sockets, conduit, 

cable management systems, light fittings, lamps, solar 

accessories, transformers, switchgear, tools, etc.) used by the 

informal market. 

The group primarily services the informal market, providing cable, 

OHL and low voltage products sourced from local manufacturers 

(Aberdare Cables, CBI, South Ocean Cables, Crabtree, Pfisterer, 

etc.); local agents of international manufacturers (Schneider,  

ABB, Legrand, Osram, Siemens, 3M, etc.); and products imported 

directly from overseas (CHINT, Rockwell, Copperweld, etc.).

These products are sold to large, medium and small electrical 

contractors, commercial and industrial projects and maintenance 

users, retail chain stores (Eurolux), DIY users, and the like. While 

there are very limited direct sales to Eskom, mines and 

municipalities, the lion’s share of sales by electrical contractors’ 

is to these customers. 

ARB’s competitors include cable traders and other electrical 

wholesalers, several of which have formed a collective buying 

group, and increasingly the group’s own suppliers.

Standards play a pivotal role in the quality of products that are 

sourced and distributed by ARB. In South Africa, there are three 

sets of stringent laws that enforce standards and criminalise 

non-compliance: The Occupational Health and Safety Act (OSH 

Act of 1993), which has its own Electrical Installation Regulations, 

requiring certificates of compliance for all “premises”; the 

National Regulator Compliance Standards Act (NRCS Act of 

2008); and the South African National Standards Act (SANS Act  

of 2008). The South African Bureau of Standards (“SABS”) / SANS 

is responsible for publishing all local standards, which are based 

on local adaptions to the International Electrotechnical 

Commission (“IEC”) standards. 

While all countries in SSA do have similar quality standards, 

enforcement and policing in the informal market is less vigorous 

and neighbouring countries have seen large volumes of imported 

low priced and lower-quality products flooding the markets in 

recent years. Some countries like Zambia are now believed to be 

wanting to return to better quality standards.



BUSINESS MODEL

Our PURPOSE TO SUPPORT, SOLVE, SIMPLIFY

INPUTS/CAPITALS
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BUSINESS ACTIVITIES/ 
VALUE ADDS

Human capital

  Skills of our workforce: whose skills and 
efforts enable us to meet customer needs

  Trading ability of our traders

  Ongoing training and skills transfer

  Initiatives to “make a plan” and assist a 

customer

  Attracting, retaining engaged employees

Intellectual capital

  Product knowledge: customer value add

  Sourcing knowledge: best product at  

fair price

  Standards and specification knowledge

  Brands and brand awareness

Social capital

  Relationships with customers

  Relationships with suppliers

  Relationships with communities

  Relationships with funders

Finance capital

  Investments in assets required to deliver 
against our objectives

  –  Right stock range to meet customer 

requirements

  –  At locations convenient to where customer 

needs it

  – Provide credit to customers to fund projects

Sourcing

  Procurement advantage

  Procurement automation

  Suppler knowledge/support

  Skilled central  
procurement staff

Customer  
knowledge

  Needs and requirements

  Focus on service

  Make a plan to solve a 
problem

  Technical assistance

Logistics

  Collection and delivery

  Own delivery fleet

  Central DC receiving  

and break bulk

  “Connect Stores” close to 
customers
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Our VALUES

OUTPUTS/OUTCOMES

MAKE A  
PLAN

STAY  
DRIVEN

STAY  
HUMBLE

PUT PEOPLE  
FIRST

  Repeat business

  Problems solved

  Stronger brands

  Long-term relationships

  Trained and developed

  Happy work environment

  Share in wealth generation

Challenged and engaged staff

  Low carbon footprint

  Solution for disposal of problem products

  Low water use and contamination

  Electrifying the country

Low impact on the environment

  Contribute to country development

  Improved social and economic wellbeing

  Good corporate citizen

Payment of taxes

  Secure return on investments

Returns to funders

  Financial support

  Time support

  Product support

Upliftment of communities

Customer satisfaction

Credit funding

  Thorough customer 
knowledge

  Backed by credit insurance

  Any store – one account

  Central control, local 
relationship

Range

  One-stop shop

  Wide range for target 
customers

Cables Overhead line

Low voltage Lighting

Renewables

Location

  Close and convenient

  Simple picking solutions

  Web store alternative
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MATERIAL ISSUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The risk assessment process and identification of the top five group risks

The identification and mitigation of ARB’s significant risks are a key driver in the management of the group’s businesses. Set out below 

is the risk process overview and the top five identified group risks:

Risk categories

Strategic risk Financial risk Operational risk

Compliance and  

regulatory risk

Internal and external events and 

scenarios that may inhibit the 

group’s ability to achieve its 

strategic objectives, i.e. business 

model choice, strategy and 

execution, etc.

Risks that might have an 

adverse impact on the 

financial position of the 

group, i.e. unexpected 

internal and external changes 

in markets, prices, rates and 

liquidity supply and demand.

Loss resulting from 

inadequate or failed internal 

processes, people and 

systems, or from external 

events, i.e. information and 

data management, people  

and technology risk.

Risk of breaching/non-

compliance with laws, 

regulations and internal 

policies.

The management of ARB’s risks is a key driver in the way in which the business is run. Set out on the 
following page is a summary of the risk matrix of the group’s top five risks with their mitigation strategies.

RISK COMMITTEE

Strategic

IT

Environmental

Reputational

Operational

Financial
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Risk matrix

Description of risk Level of risk Mitigation strategies and focus areas

Disintermediation 

(Strategic risk of our suppliers dealing directly with our 

customers)

High Client service – by providing a full range of products 

through an extensive branch network at acceptable 

prices.

Provide funding and business assistance to SMMEs.

Where required, sourcing alternative supply channels.

Credit risk 

(Finance risk of bad and doubtful debts)

High Implementation of credit insurance through a reputable 

insurer and maintenance of a centralised credit 

department staffed by skilled professionals.

Commercial success of Lord’s View DC

(Operational risk of changing the business model to a 

distribution centre-supplied system and the recovery of 

the concomitant costs)

High Employment of specialist supply chain management to 

oversee the conversion project and implementation of a 

specialised warehouse management system to manage 

the distribution centre effectively.

Active engagement with suppliers to recover the 

additional distribution centre costs.

Radiant integration and rationalisation 

(Operational risk that Radiant will not deliver the 

financial returns expected) 

High A detailed integration and rationalisation plan led by the 

lighting division’s senior executive management.

Trading margin 

(Financial risk of reducing trading margins due to 

increased competition and reduced level of projects)

High The development or employment of skilled trading 

personnel together with strict control by managers over 

margin levels.
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SHARE TRADING STATISTICS

Month High Low Close  Volume 

 Value

 (R000s) VWAP

July 2017 630 512 615  222  1 349 607

August 2017 601 550 590  1 838  10 411 566

September 2017 600 460 597  111  644 581

October 2017 600 499 600  6 813  37 635 552

November 2017 600 505 585  856  5 102 596

December 2017 580 490 520  894  4 854 543

January 2018 521 410 438  3 766  18 416 489

February 2018 549 440 540  7 060  35 389 501

March 2018 575 515 564  1 394  7 591 544

April 2018 570 520 570  3 135  16 955 541

May 2018 570 493 565  91  492 542

June 2018 570 451 565  261  1 430 548

12 months     26 441  140 268  530 

July 2018 600 600 600 261 1 496  573 

August 2018 623 623 623 3 081 19 472  632 

September 2018 600 590 590 823 4 971  604 

October 2018 560 560 560 907 5 315  586 

November 2018 545 545 545 446 2 961  664 

December 2018 540 505 540 1 669 8 912  534 

January 2019 519 519 519 685 3 747  547 

February 2019 410 409 409 240 1 042  434 

March 2019 425 424 425 4 940 20 501  415 

April 2019 437 420 437 310 1 268  409 

May 2019 475 475 475 38 164  431 

June 2019 472 430 472 3 470 15 580  449 

16 870 85 429 506

Number of shares traded as a percentage of Share performance

 n Free float 7.18% Opening price July 2018 565

 n Total shares 16 870 Closing price June 2019 472

Market capitalisation (million) 1 109 % lost for the year (16.5)

PE ratio (EPS) 8.1x

|  ARB Integrated report 201918
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A JOINT NOTE FROM OUR CHAIRMAN AND CEO

The South African economy’s lack of growth hinders earnings for the group.

Non-executive  

chairman

Ralph Patmore
Chief executive  

officer

Billy Neasham 

Overview
This was another tough year as the South African economy, from 

which the group generates most of its revenue, produced a 

negative growth rate of 3.2% in the first quarter of the 2019 

calendar year. Eskom’s lack of funding and consequential dearth 

of electrification projects, together with the financial collapse of 

major players in the construction sector, impacted directly on the 

electrical division, while declining consumer confidence, and its 

impact on retail spend, affected the lighting division. 

While in the past the electrical division benefited from local and 

National Government expenditure leading up to elections, ARB 

experienced no such momentum in the lead-up to the May 2019 

national elections. The tough macro-economic and political 

environment and its effect on the group during the past year 

have included:
 n reduced activity in new large-scale projects in South Africa;
 n disruption to existing projects with the liquidation of, or 

resorting to business rescue, by several of the larger 

construction companies, which had a knock-on effect on the 

financial viability of several of their sub-contractors;

 n significant reduction in the awarding of new electrification 

projects as a result of Eskom’s financial constraints;
 n inconsistency in the cable supply industry, due to copper 

supply shortages during the period;
 n the volatile Republic copper price and the change in strategic 

focus enroute to market of one of the major cable manufacturers;
 n lack of consumer confidence, which is reflected in recent 

trading updates by major retailers; and 
 n volatility of the ZAR exchange rate during the year under 

review impacted both divisions. 

While the results are disappointing, we are cognisant that the 

group remains profitable and cash-generative, ensuring that we 

are adequately positioned to take advantage of any significant 

upturn in the South African economy.



Group turnover (R000s) Lighting turnover (R000s) Earnings per share (cents)

Lighting operating  
income (R000s)

Headline earnings per 
share (cents)

Electrical turnover (R000s)

Electrical operating  
income (R000s)

Group operating  
income (R000s)

Financial review

Dividend

25.0 cents
per share 

HEPS

58.20 cents
per share 

A JOINT NOTE FROM OUR CHAIRMAN AND CEO (continued)
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Revenue grew 4.5% during the year to R2,7bn, helped by the 

inclusion of CraigCor for a full year, and Radiant for six months. 

Without the effect of these acquisitions, group revenue would have 

declined by 2.7%. This decline in comparative revenue was mainly 

attributable to the decline in the electrical segment, with some 

compensation from an increase in lighting segment revenue. 

Margins improved slightly, mainly attributable to the change in 

product sales mix, with the introduction of Radiant. The electrical 

wholesale operations’ margin declined as a result of competitive 

pressures from the limited trading opportunities.

Overheads continue to be closely managed and are constantly 

being reviewed. The 19.3% increase is predominantly attributable 

to the inclusion of the Radiant overheads for six months, and of 

the full year for CraigCor. 

Operating profit decreased 24.0% to R155,3m (2018: R204,3m), 

with operating margin declining to 5.7% (2018: 7.9%).

The decrease in interest resulted from the unwinding of the 

discount on the put option liability, the cash utilised to finance the 

Radiant acquisition, and the cost of the Lord’s View property 

development. 

This was a year of acquisitions and restructuring with large abnormal non-recurring items included in the statement of comprehensive 

income. The JSE Listings Requirements do not permit companies to report “normalised earnings” so we set out below a table of these 

abnormal items, net of minority interests, so the user may make their own decisions on what they wish to adjust for: 

2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

Accounting for minorities as “put options” 
Change in put option assumptions 17 025 26 000
Dividends paid to minorities expensed ito IFRS (3 735) (4 800)
Unwinding the discount of put option liability (1 307) (1 558)

Profit and loss improved by put options 11 984 19 642

Minorities’ share of the results for the year (18 010) (11 272)

2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

Abnormal items

Negative goodwill on Radiant acquisition 18 779 –

Goodwill in Eurolux written off (18 410) –

Radiant retrenchment costs (5 374) –

Lords View abnormal costs (2 900) –

(7 905) –

We are disappointed to report a decrease of 22.3% in profit for the 

year. The decline is mainly attributed to the poor performance of 

the electrical division. Headline earnings per share (“HEPS”) 

declined by 18.8% to 58.20 cents per share, compared to  

71.70 cents in the prior period. Shareholders are reminded of the 

effect that the change in the put option liability has had on the 

earnings of the group. In the current year there was a reduction 

in this liability of R17,0m, compared to R26m in the prior year. 

This liability is sensitive to the average earnings of the 

subsidiaries, Eurolux and CraigCor, and to the price earnings 
ratio of the group.

As a trading and distribution group, significant focus remains on 
working capital management, which has shown benefits 
particularly in the lighting division, ensuring that ARB’s 
operations remain cash-generative. Working capital ratios 

remained within the group’s targeted range of 20% to 25% of 

revenue, even though Radiant’s turnover was brought to account 

for six months. 



Inventory levels increased 19.5%, mainly in the lighting division 

as a result of the inclusion of Radiant. The electrical division 

remains within the range of the group’s inventory policy, which 

was established to limit inventory losses in a potentially volatile 

copper price environment. The lighting division has taken 

corrective action and has improved inventory management while 

still meeting the in-stock requirements of the major retailers 

which it supplies. Management remains committed to ensuring 

that inventory is managed within the group’s targeted parameters. 

The trade receivables book increased by 4.8%, despite a 

challenging credit environment. Both divisions continue to insure 

their trade receivables.

Capital expenditure for the financial year amounted to R93,1m 

(2018: R106,3m).

The group’s after-tax return on average equity in the current year 

was 13.1%, compared to the 17.5% achieved in the prior period.

During the year we completed the Radiant acquisition in the 

lighting division (January 2019) and a small bolt-on acquisition, 

GMC Powerlines (“GMC”), in the electrical division. GMC is an 

importer of product used predominantly for the OHL market to 

Eskom and other utilities in Africa.

The Radiant acquisition has been well publicised and is detailed 

in this integrated report. This acquisition was funded by the 

Eurolux shareholders, proportionate to their shareholding, whilst 

the GMC acquisition was funded by internal resources.

Given the group’s continued strong cash generation, its ungeared 

balance sheet and net cash resources of R180,9m (2018: R259,4m), 

and in line with the dividend policy, the board approved an annual 

dividend of 25.0 cents per share (2018: 35.0 cents). 

The annual dividend will be paid to shareholders on Monday,  

9 September 2019.

Operational review
Electrical division (revenue down 1.1% and operating profit 
down 33.7%)
This division’s revenue continues to be hampered by the lack of 

any real economic growth or infrastructure spend. The challenges 

that have occurred with the major players in the construction 

sector also negatively impacted the electrical wholesale market 

during the year under review. 

This division has benefited from a strong performance by 

CraigCor, which was acquired in February 2018, and which 

showed significant growth, and countered the overall poor 

performance of the division.

A JOINT NOTE FROM OUR CHAIRMAN AND CEO (continued)

Another challenge during the year was the difficulty experienced 

by cable manufacturers with the lack of copper supplies, 

particularly in the first half of the financial year, which resulted 

in short supplies of certain products. Furthermore, the change in 

strategy by a major supplier to supply directly to the end-user, 

together with the decline in the number of projects being 

tendered on, has put pressure on margins. 

Indirect supply of OHL products to Eskom via contractors has 

reduced substantially, mainly as a result of the decline in 

electrification projects awarded during the year. We remain 

committed to this sector and believe the need to electrify the 

rural areas remains a priority for national government. 

Consequentially, we acquired GMC, an importer of OHL products, 

several of which are included on the Eskom LAP list and are 

promoted for sale to other African countries.

Despite the poor performance, the group’s tight management of 

working capital has ensured that this division remains  

cash-generative. The integration and effectiveness of the new 

distribution centre will be critical to its performance in the 

forthcoming financial years. Reviews of the management and 

organisational structure together with the distribution footprint 

of the electrical wholesaling operation, in order to make them 

more efficient and effective in a challenging trading environment, 

are currently in progress.

A more detailed review of the electrical division appears on 

page 32 of this integrated report.

Lighting division (revenue up 29.2% and operating profit 
down 22.9%)
The lighting division’s revenue was positively impacted by the 

inclusion of Radiant’s revenue for the six months to June 2019, 

which was partially offset by the volatile exchange rate and the 

lack in consumer confidence. 

This division’s decline in gross margin during the period was 

partially as a result of the necessity to dispose of excess 

emergency lighting stock at a discount and the effect of the 

volatile exchange rate on the nature and timing of the products 

imported. While Radiant sales were disappointing in the first six 

months, energy is now focused on growing market share, with a 

motivated sales force and an extended product range in place.

The division continues to manage the challenges that exist in 

ensuring compliance in the issue of Letters of Authority by the 

National Regulator of Compliance Specifications for the enlarged 

product range. 

Overheads still approximate 29% of revenue of the enlarged 

division, notwithstanding that there are certain once-off costs 
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associated with the restructuring and integration of Radiant into 

this division. Further restructuring costs are expected in the next 

six months as the Johannesburg operations are combined, 

whereafter we expect to see benefits from the reduction in the 

combined, group-owned buildings.

The reduction in margin and the restructuring costs have seen 

the operating margin decline to 5.4% (2018: 9.2%) of turnover. 

While this is expected to improve, the real benefits are only 

expected to reflect in the second half of the 2020 financial year.

A more detailed review of the lighting division appears on page 32 

of this integrated report.

Corporate division (revenue up 21.0% and operating profit 
up 33.5%)
This division completed the development of the 42 000m² site, 

purchased in Lords View in April 2017, to house the ARB 

Electrical distribution centre. Beneficial occupation occurred in 

late December 2018, despite the work stoppages on site from 

demands by residents in Chloorkop. The facility has cost R145,0m, 

of which R70,0m was incurred in the current financial year. The 

entire project has been funded out of internal funds. The previous 

Alrode site is now let on a short-term basis, with the intention to 

dispose of this property to fund future operations and expansion.

Directorate
The only change to the board during the year was the retirement 

of Alan R Burke on 30 April 2019, with the consequent appointment 

of Ralph Patmore as chairman. 

Outlook
The group remains profitable and cash-generative, ensuring that 

it is adequately positioned to take advantage of any significant 

upturn in the South African economy.

The focus over the next year will be the full integration of the 

Radiant operations into the lighting division and the drive to 

make the ARB Electrical distribution centre at Lords View 

fully effective. 

Several rating agencies have changed their outlook on the South 

African economy to negative, with Moody’s similar rating 

anticipated in October 2019, which is likely to make South Africa 

even less investor friendly, further dampening the outlook for 

growth in our economy.

Given that the group’s prospects are driven by the performance 

of the general economy, and that our outlook for the South 

African economy in the short to medium term is “more of the 

same”, we will need to remain cautious and look at rightsizing 

operational structures, particularly in the electrical division.  

A period of consolidation would seem to make sense in the 

current trading environment.

Appreciation
We wish to express our sincerest gratitude to Alan Burke, the 

founder and chairman of the group who retired at the end of April 

this year after almost 40 years of passionate and active service. 

Alan established the core culture of the group and we continue to 

live his values of “stay humble, stay driven, make a plan and put 

people first”. We wish him well in his retirement. We thank our 

fellow directors for their guidance and support, which ensures 

that the group strategy remains sound and that ARB maintains 

high standards of corporate governance.

On behalf of the board, we thank the executive management 

team, as well as each of the over 1 000 ARB staff members, for 

their continued commitment in this, another extremely 

challenging year.

Lastly, to our customers, suppliers, business partners and 

shareholders, we wish to express our sincere appreciation for 

your continued support.

 

Ralph Patmore Billy Neasham

Non-executive chairman Chief executive officer



Ralph holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree, a Master of Business Leadership degree 
from Unisa’s School of Business Leadership, and has attended the Executive Programme 
at Stanford University, USA. He is an accredited associate of the Institute for 
Independent Business International. Ralph was a co-founder of JSE main board listed 
Iliad Africa Limited and served as CEO for 10 years from 1998 until his retirement in 
2008. Prior to joining Iliad, Ralph held various executive positions including as 
managing director of subsidiaries within the Unihold and Malbak groups, and as a 
director of Everite Limited and Group Five Limited. He currently serves on the boards of 
several listed companies, including Mustek Limited, Calgro M3 Holdings Limited, 
Accentuate Limited and Unicorn Capital Partners Limited. Ralph is also the Institute of 
Directors (IODSA) director training facilitator and presents training in many fields, 
including finance for non-financial managers.

BCom, MBL
Chairman and previously the lead independent non-executive director
Years of service to the group: 9 years

Grant Scrutton
(57)

Ralph Patmore
(67)

Billy qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1980 and has been involved with ARB 
Electrical Wholesalers since 1988 as the audit partner and professional advisor, initially 
with KMPG, and then with Griffith & Aiken. Billy joined ARB in June 2000 as the financial 
director responsible for the high level of financial discipline instilled throughout the 
group, a position which he held until he was appointed as CEO in February 2015.

CA(SA)
Chief executive officer
Years of service to the group: 19 years

Grant qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1986 at KPMG and spent two years in their 
Seattle, USA office on a rotational exchange programme. He was previously the 
financial director of four listed companies including Voltex, Powertech, SACMH  
and Winhold, and brings a wealth of financial, strategic, acquisitions, turnarounds and 
operational experience to the group, including 18 years in the trading environment.

CA(SA)
Chief financial officer
Years of service to the group: 3 years

Billy Neasham 
(62)
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Remuneration and 
nominations committee

Social and ethics  
committee

 Risk committee Audit committee

Simon Downes
(61)

Simon has 34 years’ experience in financial and general management of entrepreneurial 
companies, with core experience in manufacturing, property investment and 
administration. He qualified as a Chartered Accountant and completed his articles at 
Pim Goldby (now Deloitte). In 1984 he achieved an MBA from the Graduate School of 
Business at the University of Cape Town. Simon is the executive chairman and sole 
shareholder of Shave & Gibson Group (Pty) Ltd, an independent manufacturer of board 
packaging and the largest manufacturer of security printed products in Africa. He is the 
immediate past chairman of the board of directors and a trustee of Clifton College 
where he served for 20 years, as well as the chairman of Centenary Homes for the Aged 
for the last 10 years. He has served as chairman of the KwaZulu-Natal Water Polo 
Association for some years. Simon holds directorships in various investment companies.

CA(SA), FCMA, MBA
Independent non-executive director
Years of service to the group: 12 years

James qualified with PricewaterhouseCoopers and retired in 2009 after 40 years’ 
service. He was the engagement partner on many of the firm’s larger clients, led their 
KwaZulu-Natal Assurance practice and represented the region as a member of the 
National Assurance Executive. James also serves as the independent chairman on the 
Combined Motor Holdings Limited board.

CA(SA)
Independent non-executive director
Years of service to the group: 3 years

James S Dixon
(67)
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SEVEN-YEAR REVIEW
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Year ended 30 June CAGR* 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Profitability         

Revenue (R000) 6% 2 706 186  2 590 150  2 479 419  2 489 791  2 150 764  2 216 659  1 944 541 

Gross profit (R000) 6% 650 355  615 186  594 412  548 114  517 305  526 950  425 120 

Gross profit (%) 24.0 23.8 24.0 22.0 24.1 23.8 21.9

Operating profit (R000) (6%) 155 367  204 326 214 455  222 214  196 411  189 890  161 537 

Operating profit (%) 5.7 7.9 8.6 8.9 9.1 8.6 8.3

Profit after tax (R000) 0% 145 165  191 647  171 466  160 171  146 354  136 360  120 242 

Profit attributable to shareholders (R000) 3% 134 977  168 496  146 592  135 577  121 505  110 277  99 755 

Headline earnings per share (cents) 3% 58.20 71.70 61.89 59.74 51.71 46.91 41.52

Solvency and liquidity        

Net asset value (R000) 8% 1 022 472  967 476  898 940  825 188  757 897  696 924  648 674 

Net tangible asset value per share (cents) 9% 408.53  374.47  353.90  321.96 292.82 264.73  244.76 

Solvency ratio (total assets:  
total liabilities) 3.1 3.3 3.4 3.2 3.5 3.1 3.1

Current ratio current assets:  
current liabilities) 2.5  2.7 2.9 3.5 3.8 3.2 3.1

Net working capital as a % of revenue (%) 23% 22% 23% 22% 23% 20% 19%

Inventory days (based on cost of sales) 108 94 91 83 87 85 82

Receivable days (based on revenue) 56 56 62 64 60 56 51

Payable days (based on cost of sales) 67 61 61 60 56 61 58

Cash flow        

Cash generated by operating  
activities (R000) 225 801  225 339  207 021  167 919  166 876  143 655  197 156 

Net cash on hand at year-end (R000) 180 890  259 420  306 642  243 269  226 780  197 583  202 753 

Shareholder returns        

Return on average shareholders’  
funds (%) 13.6 18.1 17.0 17.1 16.7 16.4 16.4

Operations        

Number of staff at year-end 1 079 961 947 917 944 849 793

Number of branches at year-end  
– Electrical 25 26 22 20 18 18 19

Dividends and distributions**   

Dividend cover (times) 2.3 2.9 2.5 2.5 2.6 2.3 2.6

Dividends (cents per share) (100%) 25.0 25.0 25.0 23.1 20.1 20.1 16.2

Special dividends (cents per share) – 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0

Share performance        

Number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000) 235 000  235 000  235 000  235 000  235 000  235 000  235 000 

Market capitalisation at year-end (R000) (8%) 1 109 200  1 327 750  1 480 500  1 292 500  1 410 000  1 576 850  1 092 750 

Share price:

 n High (cents) 623 630 680 605 785 725 615

 n Low (cents) 420 410 470 450 575 450 380

 n Close (cents at 30 June) (8%) 472 565 630 550 600 671 465

* Five-year compound annual growth rate.
** (Adjusted) declared after year-end from profits for this year.



The electrical division delivered a weak set of results for the 2019 

financial year, although the robust performance by CraigCor did 

bolster overall performance. The results were negatively 

impacted by continued low levels of economic activity and fewer 

capital projects being undertaken by Eskom, as well as in the 

mining and construction sectors. Reduced spending on 

electrification projects and limited growth opportunities also 

impacted negatively on operating profits, as did a noticeable 

increase in bad debts. 

Operating costs increased significantly, mainly as a result of the 

inclusion of CraigCor’s operations for the full year as well as six 

month’s of rentals for the ARB Electrical Wholesalers distribution 

centre. Bad debts rose above historical levels, primarily in the 

electrical wholesaling business where customers remain under 

pressure from a tough credit environment off the back of defaults 

of larger construction companies and extended terms being 

taken by parastatals.

Working capital has been tightly managed, with a focus on 

improving efficiencies in inventories. Debtors’ days also improved 

despite an extremely challenging credit environment. However, it 

must be noted that there has been an emerging trend of late 

payment by customers, which we are monitoring closely. 

A further challenge was the difficulty in securing copper supplies 

by cable manufacturers in the first half of the financial year, 

resulting in short supplies of some cable products. The change in 

ELECTRICAL DIVISION

strategy by a major supplier to supply directly to end-users, and 

a decline in the number of projects available for tender, put 

pressure on margins. 

The CED and the ARB Electrical’s OHL businesses were negatively 

affected by the decrease in Eskom expenditure on electrification 

projects. However, the GMC acquisition, effective on 1 March 2019, 

is expected to place the division in a strong position to benefit 

from across border tenders for OHL projects, which are serviced 

mainly by international manufacturers and distributors. Several 

of its products are included on the Eskom LAP list and are 

promoted for sale to other African countries.

As mentioned, CraigCor delivered an excellent set of results  

and management is commended on this performance in 

challenging times. 

ARB Electrical Wholesalers moved into the Lord’s View facility in 

December 2018 and has begun receiving products centrally for 

redistribution to its branch network, with a full ramp-up planned 

for the first half of the 2020 financial year. The integration and 

effectiveness of the distribution centre will be critical to the 

division’s performance going forward.

In addition, the division has started a drive to rationalise costs and 

improve efficiencies across of all its operations, with a focus on 

rightsizing underperforming operations. This includes a review of 

the management and organisational structure as well as the 

distribution footprint of the electrical wholesaling operation.

DIVISIONAL REVIEWS

Chief executive officer

Blayne Burke
Sales director

Jason Burke
Divisional financial director

Jonathan Graves
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The Lords View distribution centre will improve the division’s stock holding and management 

model, with a resultant reduction in total stock levels as the stores in the region will be replenished 

as and when required. Initially this will increase the operating costs of the business but in time 

this will be recovered through reduced stock levels and partially funded by supplier rebates.
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Revenue down 

1.1% 
Operating profit down 

33.7%

Electrical Wholesalers maintain level 2 BEE status

Occupation taken of new DC in Lords View

GMC Powerlines acquired March 2019

CraigCor results exceed expectations

Significant reduction in Eskom spend

Rightsizing operational structures

Reduced activity in infrastructure and development projects

Loss making branch closed

Dire state of construction industry

Copper and cable supply challenges



LIGHTING DIVISION

Peter Willig 
Chief executive officer

Steve Palframan
Director

Shaun Bouchier
Marketing/Sales director

Although the past year was particularly tough, characterised as 

it was by challenging economic conditions, a volatile and 

depreciating currency, and the South African retail and 

construction sectors coming under increasing pressure, revenue 

was positively impacted by the inclusion of Radiant’s revenue for 

the six months to June 2019. Revenue grew by 29%, with a  

like-for-like comparison showing an 8% increase in revenue 

growth for Eurolux. This performance was somewhat offset by 

the volatile exchange rate and the ongoing lack of consumer 

confidence.

Costs were well managed compared to budget and the prior year, 

although operating income was slightly down due to margin 

pressure and extra costs incurred as a result of the Radiant 

acquisition. The reduction in gross margin, mainly due to  

the disposal of excess emergency lighting stock at a discount, the 

effect of the exchange rate on the nature and timing of  

the products imported, and the restructuring costs, resulted in 

operating margin declining to 5.4% (2018: 9.2%) of turnover, with 

real benefits only expected to show in the second half of the 2020 

financial year. Working capital decreased significantly. 

Another challenge was ensuring compliance in the issuance of 

Letters of Authority by the National Regulator of Compliance 

Specifications for the enlarged product range.

A highlight of the year was the acquisition of Radiant, which 

consumed much of management’s time. The acquisition started 

in July 2018 with the board approvals received from both holding 

companies, followed by Competition Commission approval  

in November. The effective date of the transaction was  

1 January 2019. The past months have been spent rightsizing 

Radiant to ensure a return to profitability. This included changes 

to personnel, infrastructure, sourcing and business strategies. 

By the end of these first six months, we are pleased to report that 

Radiant has made a profit. There are many aspects of the 

acquisition that still need to be completed to further enhance 

performance, including the implementation of a common ERP 

system and the moving of Eurolux Johannesburg into the Radiant 

premises, which will be completed in the next financial year. 

These initiatives will enhance profitability.

The manufacturing and assembly plant was also relocated to the 

Radiant premises, which were expanded to include office systems 

that will meet the needs of the combined operation. The business 

is fully operational and will provide new products to fuel growth 

in the coming year.

Euro Nouveau continues to contribute positively to the 

performance of the lighting division. New showrooms planned 

for Johannesburg and Durban will expose the brand to a wider 

market, which is expected to have a positive effect on revenue 

growth. Distribution agreements with major international brands 

in the retail sector have also contributed to growth.

Despite the tough economic times, we are confident of completing 

the integration of Radiant and Eurolux and achieving growth, 

both in revenue and operating income. New product ranges have 

been finalised that will add to the basket being offered and new 

business channels have been developed, which are already 

contributing to revenue and profitability. 

DIVISIONAL REVIEWS (continued)
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Eurolux has completed the acquisition of The Radiant Group for a total purchase consideration of 
R98,1m. The properties that Radiant operate out of have also been purchased for R88,0m but the 
transfer has been delayed by occupation certificates. The integration process of the two 
businesses is in progress and is expected to be complete by March 2020. Building improvements 
are also in progress at Radiant to create a super showroom for Eurolux, Radiant and Euro 
Nouveau in Wynberg close to the interior décor hub in Cramerview to showcase the wide product 
range to the trade.

Focus on core business with additional product ranges

Retail market is volatile

Radiant acquisition completed in January 2019

Consumer confidence hurts ‘hardware’ retail sales

Radiant rationalisation and optimisation in progress

Volatile exchange rate 

Improved inventory management and still meet customer needs

Material supply challenges delay packaging plant success

Revenue up 

29.2% 
Operating profit down 

22.9%
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CORPORATE DIVISION 

Billy Neasham 
Chief executive officer

Grant Scrutton 
Chief financial officer

Mario Louw 
CIA and company secretary

The division includes the group property portfolio and the Xact 

ERP Solutions business. The increase in PBT has resulted mainly 

from the increase in rentals received from subsidiaries. 

Given the fixed nature of property rental income, the results were 

in line with expectations. During the year, the development of the 

42 000m2 Gauteng distribution centre in Lord’s View was 

completed at a total cost of R145m, with occupation by the end of 

December 2018. This development was exposed to community 

action prevalent at many construction sites in South Africa at 

the moment.

The IT company was rebranded “Xact ERP Solutions” to enhance 

its drive to develop a standalone identity relevant to its target 

market. This business has continued to show customer gains but 

remains a small revenue and profit generator for the division and 

the group as a whole.

Revenue up 21.0%, operating profit up 33.5%

DIVISIONAL REVIEWS (continued)
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VALUE-ADDED REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2019

 
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

Revenue  2 706 186  2 590 150 

Other income  2 236  5 987 

(Less) cost of products sold  (2 236 614)  (2 131 721) 

Value created  471 808  464 417 

Income from investments  17 370  24 541 

Total wealth created  489 178  488 958 

Wealth distributed   

Employees   

 n Salaries, wages and benefits  257 585  225 060 

Providers of capital   

 n Dividends to shareholders  109 290  118 650 

Government   

 n Taxation and levies  47 463  63 977 

Retained in the group  74 840  81 261 

 n Reserves  54 996  68 535 

 n Deferred taxation  2 196  (970) 

 n Depreciation and amortisation  17 648  13 695 

  489 178  488 958 

Distribution of wealth 2019 Distribution of wealth 2018

53%

22%

15%

10%

GovernmentEmployees

Providers of capital Retained in group

46%

24%

17%

13%

GovernmentEmployees

Providers of capital Retained in group



ARB acknowledges the importance of prioritising environmental, 
social and governance (ESG) awareness practices, along with a 
focus on financial results. The group is committed to sustainable 
transformation as a business imperative to ensure that ARB 
makes a positive contribution to the South African economy, its 
stakeholders, the environment, employees, and the communities 
within which it operates, with a long-term basis.

The group broadly defines its stakeholders as shareholders and 
the broader investment community, customers, employees, 
suppliers, the government, SOEs and parastatals, regulators, 
financiers, trade unions and the communities within which it 
operates. A report detailing stakeholder engagement can be 
found on page 8 of this integrated report, and the group’s 
approach to governance is outlined in the corporate governance 
report on page 48.

Economic
Included in this report is a breakdown of wealth created, detailing 
the economic value generated and distributed by ARB during the 
2019 financial year (page 35). The group pays 53% (2018: 46%) of 
the wealth generated by its operations to employees by way of 
salaries and incentives, 22% to providers of capital (2018: 24%), 
10% to government (2018: 13%), with the balance of the wealth 
generated being retained to fund future growth opportunities.

ARB’s cash flow requirements to run its operations and pay for 
capital expenditure are funded internally from cash generated by 
its operations. 

Environment
ARB’s operations have a low impact on the environment, with no 
operations that directly pollute or contaminate land, water or air. 
However, we are particularly aware that South Africa is a water-
scarce country and ensure that the group’s water usage is 
monitored accordingly.

The group is however committed to ensuring that it takes 
preventative measures to reduce any indirect impact on the 
environment. A dedicated member of operational management 
at each of the group’s operations is responsible for the waste and 
environmental management at their respective operation. 

The group will however, continue to review this on an annual 
basis and should circumstances change, necessary processes 
will be implemented to offset such changes. The Carbon Tax 
introduced on 1 July 2019 is unlikely to have any effect on the 
group, but compliance will be monitored as part of our review.

In the lighting division, recycling of all hydrocarbons and the 
removal of dangerous substance wastes (e.g. fluorescent tubes) 
is undertaken by a registered waste management company. 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Eurolux has been part of a lighting industry body which, in 

conjunction with Eskom and the Department of Environmental 

Affairs, is investigating various alternatives for the safe and 

environmentally-friendly disposal and recycling of fluorescent 

and high-intensity discharge lamps which contain mercury. 

Until the above is formalised Eurolux has, over the past number 

of years, offered a free service to its customers, who can drop off 

all used lamps at Eurolux’s premises. These lamps are then 

placed in lined disposal bins supplied by the nominated service 

provider. These are then collected and disposed of and Eurolux is 

provided with a detailed register, in terms of the Waste 

Management Act, of all lamps disposed of.

Employee report
Our employees are critical to the achievement of our strategic 

objectives. Many of the business-critical skills that we require 

are in short supply and we recognise the importance of attracting, 

developing, rewarding and retaining the best people to deliver 

our business goals.

Our key focus areas include attracting and developing core skills, 

implementing sustainable leadership development and succession 

plan strategies, achieving transformation and maintaining our 

B-BBEE rating. However, we also continue to manage other  

areas important to human capital success, including employee 

engagement, health and safety, organised labour relations, 

performance management and salary benchmarking.

The group’s employees play a major role in ensuring that ARB 

remains competitive, and that ARB’s service levels remain high, 

so differentiating us from our competitors. Our employees also 

ensure that our business is conducted in an ethical and ultimately, 

profitable manner. ARB’s commitment to employees spans a 

variety of sustainability issues including employment equity, 

health and safety, children bursary schemes, basic human 

rights, HIV/AIDS and skills development, each of which is 

discussed below. The group is further guided by prevailing 

legislation including the Basic Conditions of Employment Act, the 

Labour Relations Act, the Skills Development Act, the 

Occupational Health and Safety Act, as well as the Employment 

Equity Act.

During the year, no incidents of human rights violations were 

reported. Neither ARB nor any of its subsidiaries make or made 

use of child labour. To the best of our knowledge, neither did any 

of our suppliers.

As at 30 June 2019, there were 1 012 permanent employees 

(2018: 935) across all group companies.
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Split of staff by gender Split of staff by age band Split of staff by race
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52%
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25%

72% 28%

Workforce profile
Employee gender, race and age breakdowns

Employment equity
ARB’s recruitment policies are codified in accordance with the Employment Equity Act to attract the necessary competencies whilst 

creating equal employment opportunities. Policies are geared towards attracting, retaining and promoting our people through career 

development and succession planning at all levels. To support these objectives, recruitment processes include psychometric testing 

and pre-employment assessments, where appropriate.

ARB’s permanent employment demographics at the year-end and the B-BBEE ratings that the main trading subsidiaries have achieved 

are as follows (compared to the previous year):

2019 2018

Male Female

Total

Male Female

TotalA C I W A C I W A C I W A C I W

Top 
management 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 2 15 0 0 1 7 0 1 0 1 10

Senior 
management 1 1 4 33 0 3 2 2 46 0 1 3 26 0 0 1 2 33

Professionals 8 1 8 16 3 0 2 7 45 0 3 7 13 0 0 0 6 29

Skilled 34 11 22 38 15 9 8 34 171 32 12 13 37 12 8 6 23 143

Semi-skilled 264 39 45 69 69 25 26 31 568 202 28 51 86 43 23 25 45 503

Unskilled 97 15 2 11 38 3 1 0 167 131 18 0 5 56 5 2 0 217

Permanent 404 67 81 180 125 40 39 76 1 012 365 62 75 174 111 37 34 77 935

Temporary 9 3 3 6 2 2 5 37 67 12 0 0 1 11 2 0 0 26

Total 413 70 84 186 127 42 44 113 1 079 377 62 75 175 122 39 34 77 961

African

White

Indian

Coloured



People-related material issues and key risks
ARB is committed to fostering a culture built on our values of “make a plan”, “put people first”, “stay humble” and “stay driven”.  

The following key risks pertaining to people were identified:

Key risks Risk mitigation and opportunities

Attraction and retention of critical skills

 n Sales
 n Black management

 n Ongoing focus on skills development – specifically sales and operations
 n Entry-level structured learning programmes targeting young, black talent to build 

black talent from within the organisation
 n Succession planning for leadership, critical roles and critical individuals 
 n Building a value proposition that attracts diversified talent, and specifically black talent 

Focus for next year

 n Continue to build the ARB talent pipeline through ongoing talent management – by identifying relevant training and development 

opportunities to nurture current critical skills and ensuring that we have the right people in the right place.
 n Succession planning to address critical skills shortages.
 n Embed performance measures and link them to rewards, to better drive business objectives.

Transformation
ARB acknowledges that a key area of opportunity to improve its 

B-BBEE status is in terms of black management. Although we 

have made progress, the group recognises that many of  

its senior management are white males so the need for  

developing future black, female and disabled management talent 

is receiving priority.

With the support of the executive management of the operating 

divisions, the electrical transformation and human resources 

executive has been tasked to accelerate the appointment of black 

senior managers. The group’s strategy regarding transformation 

as noted below is largely unchanged:
 n Black representation in management is a core focus for all 

management appointments. All senior appointments in the 

group – the designated top 100 or so people – are monitored 

at exco and board level to ensure that every endeavour is 

made to find qualified black candidates to fill vacant positions, 

without the consequences of a diminution of the high 

standards to which we aspire.

 n B-BBEE has been incorporated into succession planning.  

The retirement process offers an opportunity to identify the 

date when positions will become vacant and allows time to 

develop black candidates at middle-management level and 

below for any senior management posts.
 n ARB is also focused on achieving an improved gender balance 

across its workforce. Recruitment and development processes 

throughout the organisation focus on female recruits as well 

as black recruits to ensure a balanced pipeline of talent.

Talent management
ARB’s primary human capital focus includes attracting and 

developing core skills, implementing sustainable leadership 

development and succession planning strategies and improving 

the group’s B-BBEE rating. However, along with this, ARB 

continues to ensure that other elements fundamental to human 

capital success are managed – these include employee 

engagement, performance management, talent development, 

employee relations, employee health, safety and wellness. 

Key achievements in talent development FY 2019 FY 2018

Investment in training, learning and development (“L&D”) R4 058 634 R4 859 398

Previously disadvantaged (“BAC&I”] as a percentage of total participants in L&D 74% 88%

Females as a percentage of total participants in L&D 22% 56%

Previously disadvantaged (“BAC&I”) as a percentage of total participants in learnerships 100% 87%

Percentage of beneficiaries older than 35 56% 73%

Percentage of beneficiaries younger than 35 44% 27%

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT (continued)
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ARB values the ideas of fostering an inspiring environment to 

ensure that each employee is given the opportunity to achieve 

his/her maximum potential. An ongoing career promotion 

programme ensures that each staff member is afforded an equal 

opportunity to grow through business administration, 

management and commercial courses funded by the group.

Training and skills development
Technical expertise is a key focus area for building skills at ARB. 

The group needs employees with the right technical skills and 

expertise to service our customers. There has been a concerted 

effort to drive operational skills development during the 2019 

financial year. For example, courses have been developed to 

address our primary areas, i.e. cable, low voltage and OHL, to 

enhance employees’ product knowledge. The first cable training 

module has been delivered and facilitated. To ensure the 

sustainability of the group’s technical learning and development 

needs, an in-house technical trainer has been identified to 

facilitate the operational training needs for employees. 

The first steps in the implementation of eLearning have been 

taken. ARB has partnered with an external provider, Fuel Online, 

to implement digital access to training for all ARB employees 

across the electrical division. Through a learner management 

system, learning paths are created, based on job positions to 

facilitate the learning process for employees. 

As learnerships form a fundamental pillar of the group’s talent 

development, ARB continues to invest in developing a robust 

talent pipeline by creating entry-level opportunities through 

structured programmes. We have focused these learnership 

programmes around the core elements of wholesale and 

retail distribution. 

In 2018, ARB engaged a total of 26 unemployed learners in the 

Gauteng region, specifically across branches in Pretoria and in 

Lord’s View, Johannesburg. Those learners are finalising their 

formal training programme experience. Similarly, in 2019, we 

engaged a further group of 28 unemployed learners who are 

gaining work experience across all our coastal branches – from 

Cape Town through to Richards Bay. Their focus is also on an 

operational skills set. 

The group congratulates the seven employees, representing 

different ARB departments, who completed the Business and 

Administration NQF Level 4 programme this year. This Business 

Administration NQF Level 4 programme has now been 

implemented at Lord’s View for all supervisors in the warehouse. 

We anticipate that the programme will formally assist this group 

with managing their direct teams and themselves effectively. 

100% of the beneficiaries of ARB’s learnership programmes are 

from previously disadvantaged backgrounds.

Although members of senior management are remunerated 

primarily according to financial performance, they are also 

responsible for people management. Annual performance reviews 

include a rating of their achievements in the following areas:

 n the ability to appreciate and articulate the broad picture of the 

business relative to the sector within which they operate, as 

well as within ARB;

 n the achievement of budgets and growth plans;

 n the ability to attract, develop and retain solid employees; and

 n good communications skills.

The rollout of the “Amped Up” leadership development programme, 

which was initiated in 2018, has been slowed down in recognition 

of the group’s financial performance, and the next phase will be 

rolled out to the next tier of management of approximately  

40 leaders in the latter part of the calendar year 2020.

ARB provides study loans to qualifying employees to further their 

education. Where these studies are in the employee’s field of 

employment, the loan (maximum amounts are determined by the 

board) are amortised over an agreed period of post-qualification 

employment. 

In addition, the group has a child bursary scheme open to  

all employees. The programme is specifically targeted at  

long-serving, lower-earning employees for both basic and higher 

(tertiary) education. The bursary is paid directly to the educational 

institution concerned and covers a maximum of two children per 

employee. During 2019 there were 133 beneficiaries (2018: 136) 

of this scheme, which paid benefits to children of staff members 

of R578 499 (2018: R527 168).

Bursary spend YoY (Rand)
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Employee engagement
ARB values its employees’ experience. To this end engagement 

takes place regularly at all levels throughout the group. 

Engagement includes regular, i.e. weekly, monthly and quarterly 

meetings with functional groups such as sales, warehouse and 

departmental teams. Further, monthly Manco and Exco meetings 

ensure that strategic reviews are in place. Weekly toolbox talks 

are held on the shop floor to ensure that different departments 

within the broader warehouse and logistic teams are engaged. 

Monthly worker forum meetings are held formally across the 

business. Each branch holds an independent meeting where 

each function within the branch is represented by an elected 

employee representative. The minutes are collated monthly and 

matters raised are addressed directly by leadership, spearheaded 

by the CEO. Finally, regular workers’ formal meetings represent 

yet another channel of engagement that ARB uses to ensure that 

communication is aligned, thereby promoting a common 

understanding of business expectation. 

In the past year, the group revised its exit interview processes 

and procedures to better understand the reasons for employment 

terminations. 

Performance management
Measuring performance is fundamental to managing employees’ 

outputs, which leads to effective business results. ARB has a 

formal performance management programme in place that 

supports succession.

In 2019, the year-end performance reviews were administered 

digitally, through the ARB online employee self-service (“ESS”)

system. This is a first step in taking the complete performance 

management process online. Employees were able to review and 

rate their own performance, and managers also rated and 

reviewed their team members’ performance and a final agreed 

rating between employee and manager was reached. Through 

the easily accessible information made available from this online 

process, we were able to better evaluate individual performance 

and merit to empirically inform individual annual remuneration 

reviews. Through the outcome of the lessons learned from the 

survey conducted post the reviews, the group anticipates a 

sharpening of this online performance review system in the new 

financial year.

The year-end review information will also form the base for ARB 

succession planning in the future, to ensure the retention of key 

ARB talent based on performance, potential, critical individuals 

and critical roles. 

CraigCor’s large stock holding enables us to meet our customers’ needs on time.
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Performance management will continue to be a larger online 

capacity focus as we review the optimisation of our systems to 

reduce the administrative burden of people development 

processes and furthermore, to ensure that our people data 

is credible.

Health and safety
Safe working environments and safe practice in the execution of 

duties is important to ARB. Employees undergo ongoing 

certification to ensure that all sites have trained safety and fire 

teams and well-marked signage to ensure full legal compliance. 

The internal audit function is tasked with monitoring health and 

safety policies and procedures, and compliance thereof. To this 

end, a comprehensive health and safety manual is maintained in 

accordance with current legislation. In addition, health and safety 

committees have been established at each of the group’s 

branches and all health and safety representatives receive 

external training to ensure that they are familiar with the 

legislative requirements and are equipped to discharge their 

responsibilities in this regard. Where risk issues are identified, 

appropriate measures are taken to mitigate them. 

Designated health and safety committee members conduct fire 

drills and evacuation procedures. To test the effectiveness of this 

process, an external consultant (F&I Consulting) was engaged to 

review a test site and this site earned over 95% for its scores, 

validating that the efforts in this regard are cost-efficient. 

The group’s health and safety record for the 2019 financial year 

reflects that 10 injuries on duty occurred (2018: 5). All these 

cases were minor with no fatalities recorded.

During 2019, ARB introduced a fully subsidised primary 

healthcare plan for all employees through a service partner, 

Kaelo Xelus, to provide quality, affordable healthcare. Employees’ 

experience of this benefit has been very positive, with many 

employees opting to include their dependants at their own 

expense. 

In conjunction with the medical insurance plan, ARB employees 

also enjoy access to an employee assistance programme, ‘Ask 

Nelson’. This allows employees to seek confidential guidance 

and assistance with regards to personal, financial, legal and 

domestic matters. Ask Nelson also allows for management 

referrals. Employees who display behaviours that require 

professional attention are formally referred to Ask Nelson.

CraigCor Sales Manager, Timothy Mountjoy, highlights the industry-leading technology in the Allen-Bradley® PowerFlex® 525 variable speed drive.
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B-BBEE 
The group’s main subsidiaries have each completed a gap 

analysis to assess the impact of the revisions to the B-BBEE 

codes. Now that these codes have been finalised, appropriate 

strategies will be implemented. 

A black-owned investment company, Batsomi Power, continues 

to hold a 26% ownership interest in the group’s Electrical 

subsidiary, ARB Electrical Wholesalers. Batsomi also has an 

indirect ownership interest of 26% in CraigCor.

Corporate governance and ethics
The board recognises that good corporate governance is vital to 

support the sustainable growth of ARB. The group’s corporate 

governance structures and procedures can be found on pages 45 

to 50 of the integrated report and the code of conduct and ethics 

is available online (www.arbholdings.co.za). 

Corporate social investment (“CSI”) 
ARB is committed to the socio-economic development and 

empowerment of the local communities in which it operates, with 

at least 80% of all beneficiaries from the group’s identified CSI 

programmes being black (as measured by the broad definition) 

and from previously disadvantaged communities. 

Through the electrical and lighting divisions, ARB actively 

supports several initiatives aimed at improving living conditions, 

which include supporting underprivileged schools, orphanages, 

shelters and feeding programmes such as: 
 n uMgungundlovu TVET College – Northdale Campus is situated 

in the Northdale suburb of Pietermaritzburg. The campus 

specialises in electrical engineering courses, offering both 

NCV and NATED in this field of study, with an emphasis on the 

practical skills that are required for job placement. Around 

99% of the end-beneficiaries who directly benefit from their 

services are black South African citizens. The college is 

passionate about making a difference and ensuring that its 

students meet the appropriate standards that are expected 

ARB’s main trading subsidiaries have achieved the following B-BBEE ratings:
 n ARB Electrical Wholesalers – Level 2 Contributor, 125% recognition level verified by B-BBEE Rated,  

a SANAS B-BBEE Verification Agency on 21 August 2018
 n CraigCor – Level 2 Contributor, 125% recognition level verified by B-BBEE Rated
 n Eurolux – Non-compliant 
 n Radiant – Non-compliant
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within the working environment. Many years ago, ARB was 

approached by the college for the donation of stock and ARB 

has, since then, supported the college by donating various 

contracting materials. These are used in the college 

workshops by teachers and students for teaching and learning 

purposes. The donation is for the development of the industry 

in which ARB operates, as well as to allow previously 

disadvantaged employees the opportunity to succeed in our 

industry. The hope is that this investment will bring future 

sales and employees to the group in the coming years.
 n The Robin Hood Foundation, a non-profit organisation with 

four core outreach programmes to which ARB has continued 

to contribute. The aim of the organisation is to run an estimate 

of at least 50 sub-categorised projects per annum. For further 

information on The Robin Hood Foundation, please visit  

www.robinhoodfoundation.co.za.
 n The Domino Foundation, which seeks to assist and empower 

the neediest in communities to pave the way for a brighter 

tomorrow. Their vision is to equip individuals physically, 

emotionally, socially, cognitively and spiritually to enable 

purpose-filled lives. For further information on The Domino 

Foundation, please visit www.domino.org.za.
 n Joe Slovo sandwich scheme – for the fifth year running, 

Eurolux has provided the ingredients and the Cape Town staff 

come in early each Friday morning, using over 1 000 loaves of 

bread to make sandwiches for those in need. 
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 n BirdLife South Africa, which focuses on conserving South 

Africa’s birds and their habitats through programmes aimed 

at protecting important bird and biodiversity sites and habitats, 

terrestrial and sea bird conservation initiatives, policy and 

advocacy groups that influence law makers and implementers, 

and improving the capacity of bird-orientated conservation 

organisations and environmental education.

In future, the group will decentralise its CSI initiatives on a 

regional basis, with the regions having identified causes that are 

geographically within their business areas. CSI will be focused on 

supporting beneficiaries through educational, environmental or 

economic assistance. This approach has been well received by 

the business and should engender a stronger sense of community 

in the areas in which they conduct business.

In Cape Town, ARB partnered with the Christine Revell Children’s 

Home and Hannah’s Place of Safety. Both homes provide 

sanctuary for abused and/or abandoned babies. Based on their 

needs, ARB purchased cots, chairs and bulk baby products for 

the homes.

In Nelspruit, Mpumalanga, ARB assisted at the Millennium Home 

of Hope, a transitional facility for displaced children. ARB team 

members spent time at the facility and assisted with cleaning 

and gardening. ARB also assisted with the purchase of baby food 

and goods.

In Durban, KwaZulu-Natal, ARB has identified several emerging 

contractors who they will support through professional 

development. This development includes marketing, professional 

business development training, establishment of media and 

marketing channels and assisting with the compilation of 

statutory business documentation.

Handover of goods from our Nelspruit team led by our Branch Manager, Leon Alkers.

Our Cape Town team spent quality time with the children from the home that they supported with cots and chairs.
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Our governance and ethics philosophy
ARB is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate 
governance and ethical leadership. The board is the focal point of 
the group’s corporate governance management system and 
remains ultimately responsible for its implementation and 
performance. The directors of ARB acknowledge the importance 
of good corporate governance and are committed to implementing 
the Code of Governance Principles (“the Code”) as set out in the 
King Code of Governance for South Africa (“King IVTM”) as 
required by the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“the 
JSE”) and all other applicable laws. 

The board is committed to the following governance outcomes to 
provide assurance to all stakeholders that the group’s businesses 
are appropriately managed: 

 n an ethical culture; 
 n good financial performance; 
 n effective management and control; and 
 n legitimacy.

Application of and compliance with King IVTM

The King IVTM Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 
became effective on 1 April 2017. At that time, the board 
conducted a comprehensive review of the 17 applicable principles 
and the summary of this review is set out in our “King IVTM comply 
and explain report”, available on the group’s website at  
www.arbhold.co.za under the “about us” section. The board is 
comfortable that the group is in substantive alignment with the 
principles of King IVTM, in a manner appropriate to a group of our 
size (“fit for purpose”). However, we recognise that this is a 
journey that we are still travelling in order to fully embrace the 
17 principles in this latest King Code. 

The ARB board
The group is led by an effective, unitary board, which is ultimately 
responsible for retaining full and effective control over ARB, 
notwithstanding the delegation by the board of certain powers 
and authorities to executive management and sub-committees, 
via a formal “levels of authority” document to the chief executive 
officer (“CEO”) and clear and effective board sub-committee 
charters, respectively. Decisions on material matters are 
reserved for the board. The board currently comprises five 
directors; two ex-officio executive directors, being the group CEO 
and the group CFO, and three independent non-executive 
directors. As recommended in King IVTM, the board comprises of 
a majority of non-executive directors. The independent non-
executive directors ensure that no individual has unfettered 
powers of decision-making and authority to protect the best 
interests of all stakeholders. 

The non-executive directors have unrestricted access to 
management and all group resources to enable them to properly 
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discharge their responsibilities. Management is tasked to provide 
all relevant material information to the board to enable it to 
discharge these responsibilities and the board agendae are 
structured via a formal work programme to enable the board to 
address all governance items in its charter over a 12-month period.

All directors have the requisite knowledge and experience required 
to properly execute their duties. Directors are encouraged to stay 
abreast of the group’s businesses through independent site visits 
and interactions with executive management. All directors are 
entitled at ARB’s expense, with the approval of the chairman, to 
seek independent professional advice on any matter pertaining to 
the group which they deem necessary. 

Simon Downes and Ralph Patmore have been non-executive 
directors for over nine years. This was extensively discussed at a 
remuneration and nominations committee meeting, in the 
context of the guidelines provided by King IVTM when considering 
the assessment of independence of non-executive directors. 
Members were of the unanimous view that both Mr Downes and 
Mr Patmore remained independent and continued to contribute 
effectively to the board. A brief curriculum vitae for each director 
is set out on pages 26 and 27 of this integrated report.

Scheduled board meetings are held at least quarterly and, if 
required, more frequently. Directors are provided in advance with 
a comprehensive board pack, containing all necessary information 
to enable them to discharge their duties. Any director may 
request that additional matters be added to the agenda. 
Proceedings at board meetings are properly minuted and all 
minutes are circulated to all board members for review prior to 
being approved. In addition, executive and non-executive directors 
meet informally on a regular basis.

Sub-committees
The board has four sub-committees, each with their own formal 
charters, which deal with the more detailed aspects of 
responsibility for governance so that the main board, which 
retains ultimate responsibility for the group, can focus on 
strategic matters more effectively. 

These sub-committees act as workgroups and the three  
non-executive directors sit on all sub-committees [other than  
Mr Patmore, who is not a member of the social and ethics 
committee]. So, while the minutes of these meetings are included 
in the following meeting’s board pack, there is no need for 

extensive feedback at the board meeting, other than for formal 

ratification of certain recommendations. The sub-committee 

chairmen are available at the AGM to respond to any shareholder 

questions regarding each of their committee’s areas of 

responsibility. These sub-committees, whose formal reports are 

detailed later in this report, are as follows.



Attendance at meetings
Details of directors’ attendance at board meetings and board sub-committee meetings held during the year are set out below.  

The second figure indicates the number of meetings that each director was eligible to attend.

Director Board
Audit

 committee
Risk 

committee

Remuneration
 and

 nominations
 committee

Social and
 ethics

 committee

AR Burke (chairman – retired on 30 April 2019)* 4/4 3/3 1/2

ST Downes** 5/5 2/3 4/4 3/3 2/2

JS Dixon** 5/5 3/3 4/4 3/3 2/2

RB Patmore**^ 5/5 3/3 4/4 3/3 1/1#

WR Neasham (CEO) 5/5 3/3# 4/4# 3/3# 2/2#

GM Scrutton (CFO) 5/5 3/3# 4/4# 2/3# 2/2

Other executives

BG Burke (CEO Electrical) 3/4# 4/4# 1/3#

P Willig (CEO Lighting) 3/4# 2/4# 0/3#

J Graves (Div FD Electrical) 1/1# 3/3#

M Jiang (Div FM Eurolux) 1/1#

* Non-executive. ** Independent non-executive. ^ Lead independent director until 30 April 2019 and then appointed chairman on 1 May 2019. # by invitation.
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Chairman
Until 30 April 2019, the board had been chaired by Alan R Burke, 

the founder and the largest shareholder of ARB. Mr Burke has an 

in-depth knowledge and feel for the business and led the group 

with distinction for almost 40 years. The group is extremely grateful 

for his guidance and direction over this period. Following the 

retirement of Mr Burke, Ralph Patmore was elected as chairman. 

The role of chairman is separate from that of group CEO.  

The chairman provides leadership and guidance to the board, 

ensuring he obtains input from the other directors, by encouraging 

debate and proper deliberation, on all matters requiring the 

board’s attention. The chairman provides ethical leadership and 

ensures that the board remains efficient, focused and operates 

as a harmonious unit. He is further responsible for the evaluation 

of the board and its individual members on an annual basis and 

representing the board to shareholders.

NON-EXECUTIVEEXECUTIVE

Remuneration  
and nominations 
committee

Risk committee Audit committee
Social and ethics 
committee

SUB-COMMITTEES

THE BOARD
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Lead independent director
In accordance with King IVTM recommendations, while Mr Burke 

was chairman, Mr Patmore fulfilled the role of lead independent 

director. As the current chairman is independent, this role is 

not required.

Group chief executive officer and executive directors
The group CEO, together with the group CFO, are responsible for 

implementing the group’s strategic plan, operational succession 

planning and operational decisions in respect of the day-to-day 

running of the business, while the non-executive directors review 

and provide oversight and guidance in this regard. The collective 

responsibility for executing strategy and executive management 

vests with the CEO.

The group financial director is the group CFO, Grant Scrutton. 

The audit committee reviews his experience and competence 

annually and is satisfied that he has the appropriate expertise 

and experience for the position.

The group CEO and Group CFO meet each month with each of the 

group’s operating entities’ managing directors and/or CEOs to 

discuss financial, operational and strategic matters. 

Each operating entity within ARB has its own executive 

management committee that meets regularly to discuss and 

attend to the day-to-day management of their respective 

businesses. The group CEO is invited to these review meetings.

Company secretary 
The company secretary, Mario Louw (IAC), is a full-time employee 

of the group, but reports to the chair of the audit committee, and 

advises the board on the appropriate procedures for the 

management of meetings and implementation of governance.  

He is further responsible for providing the board collectively,  

and each director individually, with technical updates and  

guidance on the discharge of their responsibilities in terms of the  

legislative and regulatory requirements applicable to the group.  

The company secretary is also responsible for ensuring regulatory 

and legislative compliance by ARB. All directors have unrestricted 

access to the company secretary.

Mr Louw has been involved in company secretarial work for more 

than 11 years. He is not a director of the group nor any of its 

subsidiary companies, and he is not related nor connected to any 

of the directors, thereby ensuring an independent arm’s length 

relationship between the company secretary and the board.  

On an annual basis, the board considers and confirms that it is 

satisfied with the competence, qualifications and experience of 

the company secretary. The board specifically reviewed  

Mr Louw’s compliance with JSE regulations and communications; 

board charter updates; advice to directors on ethics and good 

governance; ensuring the board’s policies and instructions are 

communicated to the directors; meeting agendae; preparation of 

packs and minutes are complete and timeously distributed; 

secretarial and administrative procedures are performed 

promptly and efficiently; conflict of interest registers maintained 

and updated and the like. This review was successfully completed 

in June 2019.

The certificate required to be signed by the company secretary in 

terms of section 88(2) of the Companies Act, appears on page 65 

of this integrated report.

Appointment of new directors
The board constantly assesses its composition to ensure that it 

comprises the appropriate balance of skills, experience and 

competency levels required to effectively discharge its duties. 

The remuneration and nominations committee is responsible for 

succession planning at CEO level and all critical positions 

reporting to the CEO, to ensure that competence and balance is 

enhanced and maintained. Due cognisance has been taken of the 

JSE directive for gender and racial equality and thus is part of the 

selection criteria in the nomination process to fill future 

vacancies. No specific deadline has been set for compliance with 

these JSE directives as they are dependent on vacancies and 

acceptable candidates being available.

In terms of the memorandum of incorporation, one-third of the 

non-executive directors are required to retire by rotation at the 

next AGM and, if available and eligible, are recommended by the 

remuneration and nominations committee for re-election at  

the AGM.

Board charter
The board is regulated by a formal charter, which is reviewed  

bi-annually, that codifies the role of the board and the 

responsibilities of the directors. This comprehensive charter 

addresses matters relating to board composition, leadership, 

remuneration, evaluation, group processes and procedures, key 

operational risks and corporate governance. The charter provides 

the board with a mandate to exercise leadership, to determine 

the group’s vision and strategy, and to monitor operational 

performance.

The specific duties and responsibilities of the board as codified by 

the charter include:
 n reviewing and approving the strategic plans of the group and 

its operations;
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 n reviewing regular feedback on the implementation of these 

strategic plans;

 n reviewing new business proposals and measuring their 

performance against plan;

 n reviewing and approving the annual budgets;

 n defining of the required competencies as well as the number 

and profile of board members, which includes reviewing the 

performance of the group CEO, non-executive directors and 

the company secretary;

 n succession planning at the senior executive level;

 n remuneration of executive directors and recommendation to 

shareholders for the remuneration of non-executive directors;

 n development of effective short and long-term incentive 

schemes for executives;

 n control of capital management and allocation;

 n performance monitoring and review;

 n setting of policies dealing with conflicts of interests and codes 

of conduct including related-party transactions, share 

dealings by directors, and insider trading;

 n corporate governance compliance and review;

 n risk management overview;

 n audit and compliance overview, including the appointment of 

the external auditors and definition and scope of internal audit 

functions; and

 n overview of the internal control environment and compliance.

Evaluation of the board and directors
The chairman leads a self-evaluation process every second year 

reviewing the board’s role, processes, sub-committees and 

performance in accordance with the board charter and assesses 

each director’s performance. The remuneration and nominations 

committee annually reviews and reports to the board on the 

composition of the board and the respective committees to 

ensure their compliance with the Companies Act, King IVTM and 

the JSE Listings Requirements. The performance and attendance 

of directors is taken into consideration by the remuneration and 

nominations committee prior to supporting them for re-election 

to the board.

Board sub-committees
The following sub-committees that have been established to 

assist the board in discharging its responsibilities and their 

reports are set out later in this report:

 n Audit committee  (pages 52 and 66)

 n Risk committee  (page 51)

 n Remuneration and nominations committee (page 55)

 n Social and ethics committee (page 62)

Beneficial shareholdings
The beneficial shareholdings of the directors of the group and its 

subsidiaries are set out in the directors’ report of the annual 

financial statements on page 69 of this integrated report.

Share dealings and insider trading
Directors are required to disclose their shareholdings and any 

dealings in shares of the group to the chairman and group CEO, 

who together with the group’s sponsor ensure that any such 

dealings are published on SENS in compliance with the JSE 

Listings Requirements. In addition, all main board and subsidiary 

directors as well as the company secretary, are prohibited from 

dealing in the shares of the group during closed periods or at any 

time when they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive 

information in relation to those shares. The consent of the 

chairman is required before any director or member of senior 

management, including the company secretary, can deal in the 

group’s shares. The chairman informs the CEO before transacting 

in group shares. 

ARB has a formal policy on the release of price-sensitive 

information. No employee may deal, directly or indirectly, in ARB 

shares based on unpublished price-sensitive information 

regarding the business or the affairs of the group. In addition, 

comprehensive confidentiality agreements are in place with the 

group’s sponsor, advisors, printers and investor relations agency.

Interests in contracts
A formal register of directors’ Interests is maintained by the 

company secretary and is available at each board meeting. 

Directors are required to inform the board timeously of conflicts 

or potential conflicts of interest they may have in relation to the 

group and any of its businesses and this is specifically reviewed, 

on an exception basis, at each formal board meeting. Directors 

are obliged to recuse themselves from discussions or decisions 

on matters in which they have a conflict of interest. Every 

employee is required to obtain prior written approval from the 

CEO and, on an annual basis to disclose in writing, for any 

outside business interests or any other potential conflicts 

of interests.

IT governance 
Information Technology (“IT”) at ARB is a valuable tool that 

facilitates the successful implementation of the group’s strategy 

and sustainable business performance. IT governance is based 

on the principles as described in King IVTM and guides the board 

in discharging its responsibilities. The board is responsible for IT 

governance and is ultimately responsible for ensuring information 
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and IT strategies are aligned with business strategies. The audit 

and risk committees assist the board in carrying out these 

responsibilities. The board is satisfied that, based on reports 

received from these committees, an appropriate IT governance 

framework exists and is effectively monitored and functioning. 

Code of conduct, ethics and tip-off line
Every employee within the ARB Group is required to subscribe to 

a formal code of ethics, which stipulates the group’s commitment 

to the highest standards of corporate governance and compliance 

with the laws of South Africa. The code sets out standards of 

integrity and ethics in dealings with suppliers, customers, 

business partners, stakeholders, government and society at 

large. It requires all employees to act with honesty and integrity 

in all dealings with stakeholders and to interact with fairness, 

dignity and respect to create and protect a credible business 

reputation and a working environment free from harassment and 

discrimination. The group does not support any political party or 

politically exposed individual.

In line with the code, ARB recruits and promotes employees 

based on their suitability for the job without any discrimination on 

the basis of race, religion, national origin, colour, gender, age, 

marital status, sexual orientation or disability unrelated to the 

task at hand.

Employees have been educated about the responsibility of 

reporting any actual, perceived or potential violation of the code to 

management. Management bears the overall responsibility of 

monitoring compliance with the code. ARB takes the code seriously 

and, where appropriate, employs disciplinary procedures and/or 

legal proceedings to address any transgression.

The group has a formal tip-off policy and a tip-off line, which is 

managed by the internal auditor. There is a formal protocol and 

policy regarding these tip-offs approved by all CEOs. A register is 

submitted to the audit committee and reviewed to ensure tip-offs 

are being appropriately addressed. During the year, only two 

(2018: two) tip-off calls were received, and all were investigated 

and resolved. Ethics issues (such as being involved in outside 

businesses) were all timeously addressed.

Stakeholder communication
ARB is committed to timely, consistent, honest and transparent 

communication with all stakeholders and encourages an open 

communication culture throughout the group. This is carried 

through to all means of communication including advertising 

where all untruths, concealment or misleading descriptions 

are prohibited.

Group announcements are released on SENS and, if required, 

published in the press. Regular presentations and meetings are 

held with investors and analysts to communicate the strategy 

and performance of the group. Furthermore, the group CEO is 

available to answer any queries from stakeholders, including 

institutional shareholders and industry analysts, and wherever 

possible, he engages with the financial media to ensure accurate 

reporting. Shareholders are also afforded the opportunity to put 

questions to the board at the AGM.

The group’s website provides information on the group and 

contains the latest and historical financial information.

The group engages the services of Keyter Rech Investor  

Solutions CC (“KRIS”) to assist and advise it with all shareholder 

communications.

A table of the results of this stakeholder engagement can be 

found on page 8.

Illegal acts 
The board has set the direction for governance and compliance 

with applicable laws and regulations and has adopted rules, 

codes and standards in a way that supports the organisation to 

be an ethical and a good corporate citizen. The monitoring of 

governance and compliance has been delegated to both the audit 

committee and the risk committee. There have been no material 

or repeated regulatory penalties, sanctions or fines imposed on 

the organisation, the board, its members or officers for any 

contravention of, or non-compliance with, statutory obligations. 

ARB does not engage in, or condone any form of fraud, bribery, 

corruption or any other illegal acts in the conduct of its business. 

Furthermore, employees are discouraged from accepting gifts or 

favours from suppliers that obligate them in any way to 

reciprocate. The group’s policy is to actively pursue and prosecute 

the perpetrators of any fraudulent or other illegal activities 

should they become aware of any such acts. All executive 

directors, divisional directors and regional, branch and sales 

managers have signed an annual representation confirming they 

have performed their duties in an ethical manner within the 

confines of the appropriate laws and regulations and disclose all 

potential conflicts of interests, family members employed in the 

group and all gifts over R500. The operational and group CEOs 

review all these declarations.

Anti-competitive behaviour
The group supports and encourages free external and internal 

competition in all business units and subsidiaries. All executive 



directors, divisional directors and regional, branch and sales 

managers have signed the annual representation letter confirming 

that they have not participated in any anti-competitive behaviour.

Political contributions
ARB does not contribute to any political parties or politicians.

Legal matters and litigation
The services of external legal advisors are engaged by the group 

when deemed necessary. Other than as set out in Note 25.1 of the 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

attached annual financial statements, the board is not aware of 

any legal or arbitration proceedings that may have, or have had 

the previous 12 months, a material effect on the financial 

position of the group or any of its subsidiaries.

Sponsor
Grindrod Bank Limited is the group’s sponsor and advises the 

board on the interpretation of and compliance with the JSE 

Listings Requirements and with the review of all announcements 

and documentation required in terms thereof.
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I have pleasure in presenting the risk committee report for the 

year ended 30 June 2019. The ARB risk committee is an 

independent committee which operates under a formal term of 

reference that was reviewed during the year and approved by  

the board. It also complies with the recommendations of the 

King IVTMreport. The scope of the committee extends to all the 

activities of ARB and its subsidiaries.

The risk committee has prepared its report which covers:
 n how the committee carried out its functions;
 n whether the committee is satisfied that the executive 

management has identified potential risks in those areas 

which may affect the group or its operations; and
 n the appropriateness of the effective policies and plans to 

mitigate any risks and enhance ARB’s ability to achieve its 

strategic objectives and to support the group in being ethical 

and a good corporate citizen.

Appointment
In compliance with King IVTM, which requires that the majority of 

the risk committee comprises independent non-executive 

directors, each member of the committee is an Independent non-

executive director. They are considered to have the experience 

and qualifications required to discharge the responsibilities of a 

risk committee.

Members
The risk committee comprises the following independent members: 

 n James Dixon (chairman); 
 n Ralph Patmore; and 
 n Simon Downes. 

In addition to the above members, the group CEO, Group CFO and 

the CEOs of each of the electrical and lighting divisions attend 

risk committee meetings by invitation. The group company 

secretary acts as the secretary to this committee.

Duties of the risk committee
A formal charter tasks the risk committee with providing 

independent and objective oversight of the information presented 

by executive management and to review the risk philosophy, 

strategy and policies recommended by executive management. 

Overall responsibility for the identification, evaluation, monitoring 

and management of risk areas with the executive management.

The specific responsibilities of the risk committee include:
 n assisting the board in discharging its duties relating to 

corporate accountability and the associated risks – risk in the 

widest sense includes, but is not necessarily limited to, 

strategic risk, financial risk, operational risk, reputational 

risk and environmental risk; and
 n assisting the board in discharging its duties relating to IT 

governance.

Activities of the risk committee
During the year, the risk committee met four times, which the 

directors believe is sufficient for the purpose of discharging the 

committee’s responsibilities. Additional meetings are convened 

as required. Details of directors’ attendance at the meetings  

are set out in the corporate governance report on page 46.  

The individual operational risk registers were reviewed with the 

group CEO and the CEOs of the major operating subsidiaries. 

Future areas of focus
The committee will continue to keep its focus on monitoring and 

managing the risks as identified in the risk management 

processes, and the risk register, with specific attention on the 

five risks set out on pages 16 to 17 of this integrated report. 

In addition, the committee intends to identify and capitalise on 

opportunities arising from the identified risk areas that can be 

profitably monetised.

Opinion
The committee carries out a self-evaluation every second year 

and is of the opinion that it has adequately discharged its 

obligations during the course of the year. Furthermore, the 

committee believes that all material risks facing the group have 

been identified, quantified and, where possible, mitigated as 

prescribed by the risk committee charter.

James Dixon

Risk committee chairman

RISK COMMITTEE REPORT



I have pleasure in presenting the audit committee report for the 

year ended 30 June 2019. The ARB audit committee is an 

independent statutory committee. This report sets out the 

corporate governance disclosure for the audit committee as 

required by the Companies Act. 

The committee operates under a formal term of reference that 

was reviewed during the year and approved by the board, and 

which complies with the Companies Act, the JSE Listings 

Requirements and the recommendations of the King IVTM report. 

The scope of the committee extends to all the activities of ARB 

and its subsidiaries and the committee also acts as the statutory 

audit committee of ARB Electrical Wholesalers (Pty) Limited and 

Eurolux (Pty) Limited, including its wholly-owned subsidiary, The 

Radiant Group (Pty) Limited. 

Appointment
Each member of the audit committee is an Independent non-

executive director and is individually appointed at each AGM as 

required by the Companies Act (Part D, section 94). The members 

are considered to have the experience and qualifications required 

to discharge the responsibilities of an audit committee.

Members
The audit committee comprises the following independent 

members, who were appointed by the shareholders at the AGM 

held on 6 November 2018:
 n James Dixon (chairman); 
 n Ralph Patmore; and 
 n Simon Downes. 

In addition to the above members, the group CEO, Group CFO, 

group internal audit manager and the external auditors attend 

audit committee meetings by invitation.

The audit committee report
In terms of the Act, the audit committee has prepared their 

report which covers:
 n how the audit committee carried out its functions;
 n whether the committee is satisfied that the internal and 

external auditors were independent of the group; and
 n the appropriateness of the accounting practices and the 

internal financial controls of the group.

Duties of the audit committee
A formal charter tasks the audit committee with reviewing the 

interim results; the annual financial statements and associated 

announcements, as well as understanding management’s 

accounting processes and policies and the internal and external 

auditor’s involvement in these processes. 

The specific responsibilities of the audit committee include:

 n Statutory duties – these functions that the audit committee 

have discharged during the year are fully set out in the 

statutory audit committee report contained in the annual 

financial statements section on page 66 of this integrated 

report, which specifically cover the requirements of 

section 94(7)(f) of the Companies Act

 n Internal controls – considering confirmations, information 

and explanations from management, the internal auditors and 

discussions held with the external auditors that there are 

sufficient internal controls developed and implemented and 

that these controls have operated for the full year under 

review. During the first six months of 2019 following the 

takeover of Radiant, there was a significant turnover of 

finance managers and staff and with the retrenchment of 

other staff, there was evidence that routine internal controls 

operated by Radiant were less than group standard. 

Supplementary controls such as the Eurolux executive taking 

personal control of all payments to mitigate this were 

implemented. No other material findings have come to the 

attention of the committee to indicate any other material 

breakdown in internal controls has occurred during the year 

under review. This is corroborated by the absence of conflicting 

information provided to the board, the tip-off line and reports 

from external regularity bodies.

 n Financial reporting – reviewing the accounting policies 

adopted or any changes made, and the measures introduced 

by management to enhance the accuracy and fair presentation 

of all matters proposed for inclusion in the annual financial 

statements and any other reports prepared with reference to 

the affairs of the group for external distribution or publication, 

including those required by any regulatory or supervisory 

authority. To evaluate significant judgements and reporting 

decisions made, including changes in accounting policies and 

decisions involving a significant element of judgement. 

 n External audit – confirming that PKF were independent of the 

company, approving the engagement letter and terms of 

reference, audit plan, budgeted audit fees and management 

representation letter for the year ending June 2019.  

To recommend the appointment of external auditors for 

approval by the shareholders, reviewing their performance 

and monitoring their independence. The audit committee also 

sets the principles which allow the external auditors to 

perform non-audit services. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
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 n Financial director – evaluating and satisfying itself as to the 

experience, expertise and performance of the group  

CFO/financial director and the adequacy of staffing and the 

effectiveness of the finance function and experience of the 

senior members of financial management during the year 

under review and providing feedback in this regard to the 

remuneration and nominations committee.
 n Sustainability and integrated reporting – overseeing the 

group’s sustainability and integrated reporting; reviewing and 

approving the integrated report and advising the board on the 

need to engage external assurance providers to review the 

completeness, accuracy and validity of such reporting.
 n Risk management and IT governance – although a separate 

risk committee exists, the audit committee liaises with the 

risk committee insofar as financial reporting risks, internal 

controls, fraud, IT governance and in respect of any areas of 

overlap. In accordance with the recommendations of King IVTM. 

IT governance is addressed as a separate agenda item at risk 

committee meetings and reported at board meetings. 
 n Going concern – evaluating the documented assessment by 

management of the going concern premise of the company 

and the group before recommending to the board whether the 

group will be a going concern in the foreseeable future. 
 n Whistle blowing – ensuring that appropriate interventions 

have been put in place to properly deal with whistle blowing 

throughout the group and that tip-offs are adequately followed 

up and dealt with.
 n Internal audit – oversight and direction of the group internal 

audit function. The internal audit team reports directly to this 

committee through the chair, and the independence, 

performance and suitability of the members is assessed 

annually by the committee.

Activities of the audit committee
Each year the audit committee is scheduled to meet three times, 

which the directors believe is sufficient for discharging the 

committee’s responsibilities. Additional meetings are convened 

as required. The committee had three formal meetings during 

the year and met on an ad hoc basis to perform a detailed review 

of the budget process and the resulting budgets. Attendance at 

these meetings is reported on in the corporate governance 

report. The committee members also had a number of discussions 

during the year to adequately prepare for matters formally 

addressed by the committee in line with its mandate and terms 

of reference. 

Internal control framework
The ARB board has adopted specific levels of authority for the 

CEOs of the group and of its major subsidiaries. The CEOs have 

formally delegated some of these authorities to their managers 

covering the required approvals needed for all major decisions. 

Through this framework, operational and financial responsibility 

is formally and clearly delegated to executives of the group.  

This is designed to maintain the appropriate control environment 

within the board-approved budgets and strategies, while 

providing the necessary local autonomy for day-to-day operations.

Internal audit 
The group internal audit department, which functions under a 

formal written charter, provides the roles and functions as 

envisaged in the Standards of Professional Practice of Internal 

Auditing issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors. This is an 

independent, small, cost-efficient team of two internal auditors 

who report directly to the audit committee chairman. In terms of 

their approved annual plan, they visit all sites at least once a year 

and the larger sites twice a year. The checks and procedures 

conducted by them cover both basic internal controls and the 

safety, health and environmental aspects of the business and 

provide reasonable assurance that the assets are safeguarded; 

that no material loss or unauthorised use have occurred; that the 

financial records may be relied on for preparing the financial 

statements, as well as maintaining accountability for assets 

and liabilities. 

The chief audit executive reports on its activities for the period at 

each committee meeting. The committee is satisfied that the 

internal audit is independent and has the necessary resources, 

budgets, standing and authority to discharge its duties. Details of 

the internal auditors’ function are also set out in the King IVTM 

report (Principle 15) on the group’s website.

Combined assurance model
The committee further ensures that a combined assurance 

model is applied which enables a cost-effective internal control 

environment oversight, supports the efficacy of the information 

used in decision making and supports the integrity of related 

external reports. During the year the combined assurance model 

was reviewed, and the committee was satisfied that the financial 

and administrative risks and financial reporting risks were 

appropriately reflected therein.

External auditor independence and rotation
The committee satisfied itself that the auditors, PKF and the 

nominated audit partner, Mr Rob Boulle were independent of the 

group. The portfolio of evidence of the firm’s internal, technical 

and IRBA investigations was reviewed and the committee is 

satisfied that the auditors, and the nominated partner, are 



technically and practically capable of providing the services to 

the group. The committee has taken cognisance of the 

introduction of mandatory audit firm rotation, which dictates that 

ARB will be compelled to appoint new auditors by 2023 at the 

latest, notwithstanding the fact that PKF have provided exemplary 

service over the last 19 years. 

Any non-audit services provided by the external auditors requires 

the pre-approval of the audit committee on a case-by-case basis 

to ensure that the independence of the internal auditors should 

not be impaired through such services. The committee has an 

internal cap on other services of 25% of the external audit fee 

and should services in excess of this ever be required, this 

decision will be referred to the main board for review and 

approval. During the period under review, the only external 

services comprised a review of the interim report published 

on SENS.

The external auditors’ June 2019 audit plan, terms of engagement, 

Key Audit Matters (KAMs) and the fee budget were reviewed, 

discussed and approved. The external auditors had unrestricted 

access to all information, documents, records, management and 

staff and no limitations were placed on their audit. The final 

KAMs as presented in the external auditors’ report were 

considered in committee and are noted.

Future areas of focus
The audit committee is committed to continued improvement of 

accounting practices and internal controls, including IT 

governance, more significantly:
 n A review of the internal audit programmes to cover more 

financial controls; 

 n Monitor the outstanding agenda items of the IT steering 

committees; and
 n Post the integration of Radiant, that the effective systems and 

controls have been implemented by Radiant and Eurolux.

Opinion
The duties and activities noted above assist in ensuring that the 

group’s internal control environment, disciplines and procedures 

are adequate and were implemented for the full year under 

review to comply with the Companies Act, to minimise the 

financial risks of the group and to provide adequate information 

in a timeous manner to enable management and the audit 

committee to fulfil their responsibilities.

The audit committee is of the opinion that, in respect of the 

financial year ended 30 June 2019, it has performed all of its 

functions required to be performed by an audit committee.

The committee has reviewed the separate and consolidated 

financial statements of ARB Holdings Limited for the year ended 

30 June 2019 and has recommended the financial statements to 

the board for approval. The board has subsequently approved 

these financial statements which are open for discussion at the 

forthcoming AGM.

James Dixon

Audit committee chairman

14 August 2019
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I have pleasure in presenting the committee’s report for the year 

ended 30 June 2019.

Members
The committee currently comprises the following members:

 n Simon Downes (chairman);
 n Ralph Patmore; and
 n James Dixon. 

In addition to the above members, the group CEO and the group 

CFO attend committee meetings by invitation but may not be in 

attendance in any discussions regarding their own remuneration.

Role of the committee
The committee operates under terms of a formal charter which 

requires it to meet twice a year to fulfil the functions assigned to 

it. In compliance with King IVTM, the chairman of the board is not 

eligible for appointment as chairman of the committee but does 

preside as the chairman when the committee fulfils its oversight 

responsibilities on nomination matters and board/director 

interactions. 

Key areas of focus and key decisions
During the year the committee focused on:

 n providing general salary increase guidelines;
 n conducting performance appraisals of the CEO;
 n reviewing the guaranteed remuneration packages of the 

senior executives;
 n approval of short-term incentive performance targets for the 

forthcoming year for senior executives;
 n proposing non-executive directors’ fees; and 
 n reviewing the remuneration report for publication in the 2019 

integrated report to ensure that it has complied with King IVTM 

principles on remuneration and the JSE Listings Requirements.

In May 2019, the committee approved average annual salary 

increases of 5.5% for the main body of employees and a 

maximum of 4.5% for the senior executives. This is fully explained 

in the implementation policy section on page 59.

No bonuses were awarded to the senior executives for the 

current financial year (2018: Rnil; 2017: Rnil) being  

formula-driven on criteria set at the beginning of the financial 

year. The committee did not exercise its discretion to award any 

short-term bonuses.

The implementation section of this remuneration report sets out 

in the required detail the remuneration of the CEO, the CFO and 

the three next most senior executives in the group. 

Future area of focus
The remuneration committee is committed to continued 

improvement and forward-looking principles, more specifically:

 n the board will again put its remuneration policy, as well as the 

associated implementation report contained in the 

remuneration report, to two separate non-binding advisory 

votes at the AGM in November 2019 and will engage with 

shareholders as necessary in the event of any significant 

dissenting votes on either;

 n the remuneration policy and framework will be reviewed 

against market best practice and governance principles;

 n the committee will assess the variable pay performance 

conditions; and

 n the principle of fair and responsible remuneration, and the 

pay gap in particular, will be considered in more detail 

in 2019.

Remuneration consultants
In order to ensure remuneration is fair and market-related, all 

elements of remuneration are subject to regular benchmarking 

exercises. At least every two years, the committee engages 

remuneration consultants to benchmark the remuneration of the 

top four most senior executives and to provide input on recent 

trends. This was done in January 2018 by PE Corporate Services 

SA (Pty) Ltd and the committee satisfied itself that the consultants 

were independent and objective. The exercise will be repeated 

in 2020.

Achievement of stated objectives
ARB is of the firm view that pay, working conditions and  

well-considered performance measures linked to variable pay 

are strong drivers of behaviour and performance.

The committee remains confident that ARB’s remuneration 

policy is generally well-aligned to its strategy and the interests of 

its stakeholders and has contributed to ARB’s growth and 

resilience in a challenging economic climate. Accordingly, we are 

satisfied that the remuneration objectives for the 2019 financial 

year were achieved.

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT



Remuneration report
Section 1: Background statement
Remuneration in context of the group and the workforce

Over many years, ARB has refined its remuneration policy and 

practices in support of its aim to be a thriving, growing company, 

which is highly dependent for its success on the quality and 

motivation of its people. The group’s remuneration practices are 

in line with the King IVTM remuneration governance principles, 

and these principles underpin the achievement of its business 

objectives, its ethical culture and the fair reward of its employees.

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT (continued)

Employee compensation is the single largest component of the group’s operating expenses. During the 2019 financial year, employees 

received approximately 53% (2018: 46%) of the total wealth created by the group (see the value-added statement on page 35 of this 

integrated report). The table below provides further context to the significance to ARB of employee remuneration: 

2019 2018 2017

Total number of employees 1 079 961 947

Total compensation to employees (Rm) 257 585 225 070 206 529

Total compensation as a percentage of revenue 9.5% 8.7% 8.3%

For the general body of employees, ARB’s remuneration policies 

are designed to attract and retain high-calibre people and reward 

them fairly for their skills and performance in a happy and 

challenging work environment. Wherever possible, employees 

have the opportunity to receive short-term bonus awards. 

At executive director, executive committee and top senior 

management level, the remuneration policy is designed to more 

accurately:
 n reflect group and the relevant business unit performance; and 
 n incentivise these employees to act in the best long-term 

interest of shareholders via performance measures that 

stress earnings growth and the returns earned by the business 

for which they are responsible. These measures are described 

in more detail further on in this report.

While there are union members in the group, there are no 

bargaining agreements in place. Staff increases are set by 

management based on an average level referenced to CPI and 

set by the remuneration committee, in such a way that the 

average of those receiving increases in excess of this level are 

offset by others receiving less. ARB endeavours to maintain 

positive day-to-day working relationships with unionised 

employees and to balance their right to industrial action with the 

right of the group to conduct its activities.

Internal and external factors that influence remuneration

In discharging its duties, the committee considers various 

factors, including general economic and business conditions; 

past and expected performance of the group together with the 

business unit concerned; the inflation outlook; the employment 

market conditions; the business sector generally; and 

importantly, the pay gap that exists in the group.

When considered necessary, the committee seeks the advice of 

experts regarding these factors, particularly concerning 

conditions of employment, fair pay and trends.

Over the past few years, the group’s response to the pay gap 

issue has been to grant higher average salary increases to lower 

paid employees and lower increases to their higher paid 

colleagues. During the forthcoming year, the committee will 

focus on this issue and the options available to deal with it.

Section 2: The remuneration policy
ARB has an integrated approach to remuneration strategy, in 

which remuneration components are aligned to strategic 

direction and financial returns. The group’s remuneration 

philosophy is to ensure that employees are rewarded appropriately 

for their contribution to the execution of the strategy of ARB.

The remuneration policy had been designed to continue to 

attract, engage, retain and motivate the appropriate diverse 

talent required to deliver sustainable growth and acceptable 

returns. The policy recognises and rewards individual 

responsibility, performance and behaviour in the achievement of 

ARB’s goals. The policy is applicable to all group employees, but 

participation in the executive incentive scheme is dependent on 

an individual’s role and level within the group.

The remuneration policies, and the implementation thereof, are 

focused on achieving a fair and sustainable balance between 

fixed guaranteed remuneration, incentives with delayed  

pay-outs, having regard for the person’s responsibilities.
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Some of the principles adopted by ARB to drive fair and 

responsible remuneration include:

 n equal pay for work of equal value specifically designed to 

address any income disparities based on gender or race;

 n where possible, employees enjoy the opportunity to receive 

short-term bonus awards;

 n no long-term bonus structure;

 n annual reviews of base salary determined after consideration 

of market conditions:

 n upskilling of lower paid employees;

 n ensuring that the lowest paid staff are remunerated well 

above the minimum legislated wage requirements; and

 n all permanent employees having the opportunity to participate 

in benefits such as retirement funding, risk benefits and 

medical aid.

The board is keenly aware of the wage gap within the group, and 

therefore ensures that the percentage increases in base salary 

awarded to lower level employees are generally greater than 

those awarded to other employees.

During the 2020 financial year, these principles will be further 

reviewed with processes to measure fair and responsible 

remuneration implemented relevant to ARB’s business model.

Determination of performance incentives

ARB has various formal and informal frameworks for performance 

management that are directly linked to increases of fixed 

guaranteed remuneration and, at a general staff level, annual 

short-term incentive bonuses. Performance management and 

assessment sessions are held at least twice annually throughout 

the group, where business performance, personal achievement 

of key performance indicators and delivery on key strategic 

imperatives are discussed.

Overview of remuneration

ARB’s employees are critical to the achievement of the group’s 

strategic objectives. Many of the business-critical skills that we 

require are in short supply and ARB recognises the importance 

of attracting, developing and retaining the best people to deliver 

on the group’s business goals. 

Employee remuneration, particularly guaranteed remuneration, 

is a significant component of the group’s total operating cost. 

Remuneration is structured to be competitive and relevant in the 

sectors in which the group operates. Variable remuneration, 

which pertains primarily to more senior tiers, has the advantage 

of serving as an automatic cost reduction mechanism when 

returns are under pressure.

General employees’ remuneration

The total remuneration for general employees consists of 

guaranteed pay and benefits (fixed guaranteed remuneration) as 

well as a short-term bonus award. Sales staff are rewarded by 

commission based on a percentage of the gross margin they 

achieve, less a multiple of their salary to cover their fixed costs.

Fixed guaranteed remuneration is monitored and benchmarked 

by management on an “as required” basis. Remuneration levels 

consider industries, sectors and geographies from which skills 

are acquired or to which skills are likely to be lost, the general 

market and the market in which each business operates.  

The remuneration structures are designed to meet each business’ 

requirements and operational needs as well as their strategic 

objectives. General adjustments to guaranteed pay are affected 

on 1 July each year. Annual increase parameters are set using 

guidance from group budgeting processes; market movements; 

individual performance; the performance of the business and any 

other relevant factors. Increases above inflation depend on the 

factors set out above.

ARB pays short-term bonuses to staff members who are not on 

a commission scheme or a profit-sharing scheme, comprising an 

annual bonus (if the company is profitable) equal to one month’s 

salary, split equally into three components: increased profitability 

of the business over target; individual performance and individual 

attendance. 

Other benefits include pension and provident fund membership, 

medical aid and an optional medical expense gap cover, death 

and disability insurance, funeral cover and in some cases travel 

allowances or the use of company-owned vehicles. ARB considers 

the provision of these benefits to be a socially-responsible 

employment practice.

Executive and senior management remuneration

Executives are responsible for leading others and for taking 

significant decisions regarding the short and long-term operation 

of the business, its assets, funders and employees. They require 

specific skills and experience, longer working hours and are held 

to a higher level of accountability. ARB’s remuneration policy is 

formulated to attract and retain high-calibre executives and to 

motivate them to develop and implement the group’s strategy to 

optimise long-term shareholder value. It also seeks to align the 

entrepreneurial ethos and long-term interests of the executive 

directors and senior management with those of the shareholders, 

while not diluting the equity stake of existing shareholders. 

Senior management remuneration policy places a significant 

portion of total remuneration at risk whilst not encouraging 

behaviour contrary to the group’s approach to risk management.



The executive remuneration policy is structured around the following key principles:

Guaranteed pay Short-term incentives Retention structure Long-term incentive schemes

Set at levels that are 

responsible and competitive 

within the 25th to 50th 

percentiles of the relevant 

market.

Capped and earned through 

the achievement of 

demanding growth and return 

targets consistent with 

shareholder interests over  

the year. 

Portions of the short-term 

bonus earned are held over to 

later dates to retain staff 

within the business.

There are no long-term 

incentive schemes in place.

The group’s general philosophy for executive remuneration is 

that the performance-based pay of executive directors and senior 

managers should form a significant portion of their expected 

total compensation. There should also be an appropriate balance 

between rewarding operational performance (through annual 

incentive bonuses) and the guaranteed remuneration. 

The total remuneration mix consists of guaranteed pay and 

benefits (fixed guaranteed remuneration) and short-term 

incentives. The ratios within the remuneration mix differ 

depending on seniority levels and responsibilities. 

The group’s remuneration structure for senior management, 

including the executive directors, has two elements:

 n fixed guaranteed remuneration on a cost-to-company basis, and

 n short-term performance-related remuneration, based on 

annual results, 80% for the achievement of financial and 20% 

for the achievement of non-financial objectives. A portion of 

this is subject to delayed payment to facilitate retention.

To ensure remuneration is market-related, both elements of 

remuneration are subject to the benchmarking exercise 

conducted every second year. 

The remuneration policy is intended to ensure that fixed 

guaranteed remuneration falls between the 25th and 50th 

percentile of comparable positions as a general guideline. The 

committee then exercises discretion to place individuals above or 

below this position.

Generally, similar benefits are offered to all permanent 

employees, but defendable differentiation is applied having 

regard to the size and complexity of each position; the need to 

attract and retain certain skills, and individual performance.

The committee believes that the remuneration policy aligns senior 

management’s interests with those of the stakeholders by promoting 

and measuring performance that drives shareholder wealth.

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT (continued)

Fixed guaranteed remuneration

Past and expected future performance of each executive as well 

as inflation and benchmarking against salary trends are used as 

a basis for remuneration reviews. Other benefits funded from the 

total cost-to-company fixed remuneration package include a 

provident fund with group life and disability insurance, funeral 

cover, medical aid membership, medical expense gap cover and 

travel allowance or, in some cases, the use of a company-owned 

vehicle. Providing these benefits is considered to be market 

competitive.

Short-term performance-based remuneration

All executives and senior managers are eligible to receive a 

performance-related annual bonus. The bonus is non-contractual 

and not pensionable. The remuneration committee reviews bonuses 

annually and determines the level of each bonus based on 

performance criteria set at the beginning of the performance period.

Short-term performance-related remuneration for the chief 

executive, the financial director and board members of operating 

subsidiaries is currently based primarily on a pre-determined 

level of operational profit before internal rentals received, 

interest, tax and IFRS-related items (wherever appropriate), and 

is capped at 100% of guaranteed package. 

The board is of the opinion that the group is currently subjected 

to existential forces beyond the control of executive management 

which have resulted in a period of reduced general economic 

profitability which is likely to prevail for some time. The board 

believes that the interests of shareholders are best served by 

motivating executive management and encouraging their 

retention even though profitability is not at levels that necessarily 

reward shareholders for the risks inherent in their investment at 

present. For this reason, in 2020, and until profitability returns to 

acceptable levels, targets for executives to achieve incentive 

payments will begin at a level of 10% above the 2020 budgets, 

with the following caveats:
 n No bonuses will be paid if this level is not achieved.
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 n  If the operational profit target is exceeded by 10%, a bonus of 

20% of annual package will be paid.
 n If the operational profit target is exceeded by 15%, a bonus of 

30% of package will be paid.
 n If the operational profit target is exceeded by 30%, a bonus of 

100% of annual package will be paid. 
 n 70% of the bonus earned is paid in the month the results are 

published and 30% evenly over the next three years.

For top senior managers, performance-based remuneration is 

linked to a combination of the achievement of appropriate annual 

targets in adjusted profit before IFRS adjustments in the 

businesses under their direction, limited to 100% of guaranteed 

pay. A portion (20%) of top senior managers’ potential 

performance-related earnings is based on the achievement of 

non-financial objectives, determined from time to time, but at 

least annually. 

For 2019, in respect of the chief executive and the financial 

director, the existing target growth rates were not met so they did 

not qualify for a bonus payment (2018: Nil; 2017: Rnil).

Where considered appropriate, the committee may pay 

discretionary bonuses based on an assessment of personal 

performance up to 20% of guaranteed pay. During the year under 

review, no discretionary bonuses were paid (2018: Rnil). 

Long-term remuneration

No long-term incentive schemes are in place (2018: Nil) 

Service contracts of executives

Executives are appointed for an unspecified open-ended period, 

subject to ARB’s standard terms and conditions of employment, 

which provide for retirement at age of 60. The notice period for 

executives is between one and six months. No contractual 

payments are due to any of the executives on termination of 

employment. No contractual payments are due in the event of a 

change of control of the company. 

The senior CEOs – Billy Neasham (Holdings), Bayne Burke 

(Electrical), Peter Willig (Eurolux) and John Lingenfelder 

(CraigCor) have restraints of trade agreement that apply for 

12 months after termination of employment.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration

Non-executive directors are appointed to the ARB Holdings Limited 

board based on their specific skills and their ability to contribute 

competence, insight and experience appropriate to assisting the 

group to achieve its objectives. Non-executive directors are paid  

a retainer for their membership of the board and of board  

sub-committees. They understand their duties and responsibilities 

and what is expected from them as Non-executive directors.

The non-executive directors are paid an annual retainer (between 

45% and 60% of total possible income) and an attendance fee for 

meetings attended.

Non-executive directors do not participate in any of ARB’s 

incentive arrangements.

The remuneration and nominations committee recommends the 

fees of the non-executive directors to the board for approval by 

the shareholders. Consideration has been given to the significant 

responsibility placed on non-executive directors due to the 

progressively burdensome legal and regulatory requirements 

and the commensurate risks assumed. Benchmarking 

information of companies of similar size and complexity are 

factors considered when reviewing the annual fees. 

Non-binding advisory vote

In line with King IVTM, ARB will table its remuneration policy and 

implementation report for two separate non-binding advisory 

votes at the upcoming AGM. If 25% or more of the shareholders 

vote against either resolution at the AGM, the board will engage 

with the dissenting shareholders to understand the objections 

and attempt to find solutions acceptable to all parties.

Most recent results of voting

At the last AGM held on 6 November 2018, the group’s 

remuneration policy received the support of 99.37% of 

shareholders who voted.

Section 3: Implementation of the remuneration policy
The group had no prescribed officers for the financial year. 

Prescribed officers are persons, not being directors, who either 

alone or with others exercise executive control and management 

over the whole or a significant portion of the business of 

the Company.

During the year under review, no executive director’s employment 

or office was terminated, and no payments were made in this 

regard. No ex gratia payment was made to any director or 

other executive.

There was no deviation from the remuneration policy and the 

committee is satisfied that the remuneration policy achieved its 

objectives in the 2019 financial year.

Fair and responsible remuneration

The executive directors and members of senior management 

were generally granted 4.5% increases on fixed guaranteed 

remuneration. Increases on fixed guaranteed remuneration 

averaging 5.5% were granted to the general employees within 

the group, with differentiation based both on performance and 

level of pay.



executive directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2019

Billy Neasham – group CEO

Fixed
 remuneration

R000

Retirement fund
 contributions

R000

Other 
benefits

R000

Short-term
 incentive bonus

R000

Total
 remuneration

R000

2019 3 178 318 242 – 3 738

2018 3 021 302 237 – 3 560

Fixed remuneration
Mr Neasham’s guaranteed remuneration was increased by 4.5% with effect from 1 July 2019 from R3,73m to R3,91m. His position was 
externally benchmarked in January 2018.

Annual short-term bonus
The following short-term incentive performance criteria and weightings, as determined by the remuneration committee, were used to 
calculate Mr Neasham’s annual bonus which amounted to Rnil (2018: Nil; 2017: Nil):

2019 measure

Measure
% achieved

2019

Maximum 
bonus

% available
Bonus

% achieved

Measurement Target – 10.0 – –

Growth Primary – 10.1

Stretch – 30.0 100 –

Personal non-financial objectives penalty  – (20) –

Total percentage of guaranteed fixed remuneration  – 100 –

Senior Executives’ remuneration for the period ended 30 June 2019
Grant Scrutton – Group financial director

Fixed
 remuneration

R000

Retirement fund
 contributions

R000

Other 
benefits

R000

Short-term
 incentive bonus

R000

Total
 remuneration

R000

2019 1 930 364 138 – 2 432

2018 1 836 302 237 – 2 337

Fixed remuneration
Mr Scrutton’s total fixed cost-to-company package increased by 4.5% on 1 July 2019 to R2,56m (2018: R2,42m). His position was 
externally benchmarked in January 2018.

Annual short-term bonus
The following short-term incentive performance criteria and weighing, as determined by the remuneration committee were used to 
calculate Mr Scrutton’s annual bonus which amounted to Rnil (2018: Nil; 2017: Nil).

Non-executive directors’ remuneration for 2019 and proposed for 2020
Non-executive directors are appointed in terms of written letters of appointment. In accordance with the recommendations of King IV™ 

and international best practice, non-executive directors’ fees comprise a combination of a fixed annual retainer and meeting attendance 

fees. Non-executive directors do not receive short-term incentives, nor do they participate in any long-term incentive schemes.

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT (continued)
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The non-executive directors’ fees for the period ended 30 June 2019 were as follows: 

R000s A Burke R Patmore S Downes J Dixon Total

2019 498 467 419 424 1 808

2018 507 404 416 398 1 725

At ARB’s AGM, to be held on 5 November 2019, shareholders will be requested to approve the non-executive directors’ fees for the 

period commencing on 1 July 2019. Subject to rounding, these fees will increase by 4.5% over the base fee for the 2019 financial year. 

These fees are, in terms of a SARS ruling, subject to VAT. The proposed special resolution for the approval of the fees considers  

market-related fee increases as set out in the PWC survey on non-executive fee increases on industrial sector listed small 

cap companies.

Rand A Burke* R Patmore** S Downes J Dixon

Effective from 1 July 2019

Retainer – 353 600 197 000 197 000

Meeting chair – 32 500 19 500 19 500

Meeting attend – 13 000 13 000 13 000

Effective from 1 July 2018  

Retainer 388 330 213 400 188 475 188 475

Meeting chair 31 130 18 667 18 667 18 667

Meeting attend 12 450 12 450 12 450 12 450

* Retired 30 April 2019, 
** Took over 1 May 2019 and paid full chairman fees from that date.

Incentives of next three highest executives
The total remuneration for the year of the three highest paid employees who are not directors of the group for the year ending  

30 June 2019 are set out below:

R000s Basic Bonuses Total % increase

Employee 1 3 589 – 3 589 4.5

Employee 2 2 954 – 2 954 5.0

Employee 3 2 588 – 2 588 4.5

Total 9 131 – 9 131 4.7

Simon Downes

Remuneration and nominations committee chairman



I have pleasure in presenting the social and ethics committee 

report for the year ended 30 June 2019.

Members
The social and ethics committee currently comprises the 

following members:
 n Simon Downes (chairman);
 n James Dixon; and 
 n Grant Scrutton. 

In addition to the above members, the group and senior 

operational CEOs, or their alternates, attend the social and 

ethics committee meetings by invitation. 

Role of the social and ethics committee
The committee is governed by a formal charter and its primary 

objective is to provide oversight on the impact which the group’s 

activities have on the environment, consumers, employees, 

communities, stakeholders and all other members of the public 

by recognising that the ultimate objective of managing 

organisational integrity is to build an ethical corporate culture. 

The committee’s terms of reference have been updated with the 

requirements of King IVTM.

The specific responsibilities of the social and ethics committee 

include, inter alia:
 n to build and sustain an ethical corporate culture in the group;
 n to promote good corporate citizenship;
 n to care for the environment, health and public safety, including 

the impact of ARB’s activities and of its products;
 n to monitor the group’s labour services and employment 

services;
 n to ensure that ARB’s code of conduct and ethics-related 

policies are complied with; and
 n to ensure compliance with the Employment Equity Amendment 

Act, 47 of 2013 and the Broad-Based Black Economic 

Empowerment Act, 53 of 2003, and associated codes of good 

practice.

Activities and meetings of the social  
and ethics committee
During the year, the social and ethics committee considered or 

reviewed the following aspects:
 n health and safety compliance levels (refer to page 41 of the 

sustainability report);

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT

 n stakeholder engagement (refer to page 7);
 n the B-BBEE scorecards and transformation strategies (refer 

to pages 37 and 38);
 n the generation of a B-BBEE gap analysis, and the development 

of strategies to mitigate the gaps identified (refer to pages 38 

and 42);
 n ARB Electricals’ bursary scheme (refer to page 39);
 n donations and CSI initiatives (refer to page 42);
 n ARB Electricals’ learnership programme (refer to page 39); and
 n environmental impacts (refer to page 36).

ARB’s tip-off line was reviewed during the year and confirmed to 

be relevant and effective, providing an appropriate balance 

between encouraging reporting and discouraging malicious and 

frivolous reporting. Feedback in terms of calls received, via the 

tip-offs line or directly with the internal auditor or human 

resources department, are reported on at each meeting. 

During the year, the social and ethics committee met twice, 

which the directors believe is sufficient to discharge the 

committee’s responsibilities. Additional meetings are convened 

as required. Details of directors’ attendance at the meetings held 

during the year are set out on page 46.

In line with King IVTM, the board and sub-committees are 

evaluated every second year. An evaluation was conducted for 

the reporting period. The board is satisfied from the results  

of the evaluation that the committee has discharged its 

responsibilities.

Future area of focus
The social and ethics committee is committed to continually 

improving the ARB workplace and the environment in which the 

group operates. Specific focus areas for the next year are:
 n Emphasis on the development of black employees to increase 

the level of black management in the group.
 n Improvement in the B-BBEE scorecard of the lighting division.
 n Enhanced health and safety training at every branch.
 n Attention to the geographic concentration of social equity and 

social upliftment expenditure.

Simon Downes

Social and ethics committee chairman
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

The	directors	are	required	by	the	Companies	Act	of	South	Africa	to	maintain	adequate	accounting	records	and	are	responsible	for	the	

content	and	 integrity	of	 the	consolidated	 financial	statements	 included	 in	 this	 report.	 It	 is	 their	 responsibility	 to	ensure	 that	 these	

consolidated	financial	statements	comply	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(“IFRS”)	as	to	form	and	content	and	present	

fairly	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position,	results	of	operations	and	business	of	the	group,	and	explain	the	transactions	

and	financial	position	of	the	business	of	the	group	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year.	The	consolidated	financial	statements	are	based	

upon	appropriate	accounting	policies	consistently	applied	throughout	the	group	and	supported	by	reasonable	and	prudent	judgements	

and	estimates.

The	directors	acknowledge	that	they	are	ultimately	responsible	for	the	system	of	internal	financial	control	established	by	the	group	and	

place	considerable	importance	on	maintaining	a	strong	control	environment.	To	enable	the	directors	to	meet	these	responsibilities,	the	

board	sets	standards	for	internal	control	aimed	at	reducing	the	risk	of	error	or	loss	in	a	cost-effective	manner.	The	standards	include	

the	proper	delegation	of	responsibilities	within	a	clearly	defined	framework,	effective	accounting	procedures	and	adequate	segregation	

of	duties	to	ensure	an	acceptable	level	of	risk.	These	controls	are	monitored	throughout	the	group	and	all	employees	are	required	to	

maintain	the	highest	ethical	standards	in	ensuring	the	group’s	business	is	conducted	in	a	manner	that	in	all	reasonable	circumstances	

is	above	reproach.

The	focus	of	risk	management	in	the	group	is	on	identifying,	assessing,	managing	and	monitoring	all	known	forms	of	risk	across	the	

group.	While	operating	risk	cannot	be	fully	eliminated,	the	group	endeavours	to	minimise	it	by	ensuring	that	appropriate	infrastructure,	

controls,	systems	and	ethical	behaviour	are	applied	and	managed	within	predetermined	procedures	and	constraints.

The	directors	are	of	the	opinion,	based	on	the	information	and	explanations	given	by	management	and	the	internal	auditors,	that	the	

system	 of	 internal	 control	 provides	 reasonable	 assurance	 that	 the	 financial	 records	 may	 be	 relied	 on	 for	 the	 preparation	 of	 the	

consolidated	financial	statements.	However,	any	system	of	 internal	financial	control	can	provide	only	reasonable,	and	not	absolute,	

assurance	against	material	misstatement	or	loss.	The	going	concern	basis	has	been	adopted	in	preparing	the	financial	statements.	

Based	on	forecasts	and	available	cash	resources,	the	directors	have	no	reason	to	believe	that	the	group	will	not	be	a	going	concern	in	

the	foreseeable	future.	The	consolidated	financial	statements	support	the	viability	of	the	group.

The	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 have	 been	 audited	 by	 the	 independent	 auditing	 firm,	 PKF	 Durban,	 who	 have	 been	 given	

unrestricted	access	to	all	financial	records	and	related	data,	including	minutes	of	all	meetings	of	shareholders,	the	board	of	directors	

and	committees	of	the	board.	The	directors	believe	that	all	representations	made	to	the	independent	auditor	during	the	audit	were	valid	

and	appropriate.	The	independent	auditor’s	unqualified	audit	report	is	presented	on	page	71.

These	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	under	the	supervision	of	the	group’s	chief	financial	officer,	GM	Scrutton	

CA(SA).

The	consolidated	financial	statements	as	set	out	on	pages	66	to	111	were	approved	by	the	board	on	14	August	2019	and	were	signed	

on	their	behalf	by:

 

Ralph Patmore Billy Neasham

Non-executive	chairman	 Group	chief	executive	officer

Annual financial statements
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CEO AND CFO RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The	directors,	whose	names	appear	below,	hereby	confirm	that:

1.	 The	annual	financial	statements	set	out	on	pages	66	to	111,	fairly	present	in	all	material	respects	the	financial	position,	financial	

performance	and	cash	flow	of	the	group	in	terms	of	IFRS;

2.	 No	facts	have	been	omitted	or	untrue	statements	made	that	would	make	these	financial	statements	false	or	misleading;

3.	 Internal	financial	controls	have	been	put	in	place	to	ensure	that	the	material	information	relating	to	the	group	have	been	provided	

to	effectively	prepare	the	financial	statements	for	the	group;	and

4.	 The	internal	controls	have	been	evaluated	and	that	we	are	satisfied	with	the	effectiveness	of	the	internal	controls	or,	where	we	were	

not	satisfied,	that	we	have	disclosed	to	the	group’s	audit	committee	and	external	auditors	all	significant	deficiencies	in	the	design	or	

the	operation	of	the	internal	financial	controls	and	any	fraud	that	involves	directors	and	have	taken	the	necessary	remedial	action.

 

Billy Neasham Grant Scrutton

Group	chief	executive	officer	 Group	chief	financial	officer

14	August	2019

CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY SECRETARY

I	certify	that,	to	the	best	of	my	knowledge	and	belief,	the	requirements	as	stated	in	section	88(2)	of	the	Companies	Act	of	South	Africa,	

have	been	met	and	that	all	returns,	as	required	of	a	public	company	in	terms	of	the	aforementioned	Act,	have	been	submitted	to	the	

Companies	and	Intellectual	Properties	Commission	and	that	such	returns	are	true,	correct	and	up	to	date.

Mario Louw

Company	secretary

11	Larch	Close

Zwartkop	X4

Centurion,	0046

14	August	2019
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The	 audit	 committee	 is	 pleased	 to	 submit	 its	 report	 for	 the	 financial	 year	 ended	 30	 June	 2019	 in	 terms	 of	 section	 94(7)(f)	 of	 the	
Companies	Act,	2008.

The	audit	committee	has	adopted	formal	terms	of	reference,	delegated	to	it	by	the	board	of	directors,	as	its	audit	committee	charter.	
This	charter	is	in	line	with	the	Companies	Act,	the	King	Report	on	Governance	for	South	Africa	2009	(“King	IVTM”)	and	the	JSE	Listings	
Requirements.	The	committee	has	discharged	the	functions	delegated	to	it	in	terms	of	its	charter.	This	process	is	supported	by	the	risk	
committee	which	monitors	risk	management	and	compliance	activities.

During	the	year	under	review	the	committee	performed	the	following	statutorily	required	duties:
1.	 Reviewed	and	recommended,	for	adoption	by	the	board,	such	financial	information	that	is	required	to	be	publicly	disclosed,	which	

included	the	interim	results	for	the	six	months	ended	31	December	2018	and	the	consolidated	financial	statements	for	the	year	
ended	30	June	2019.

2.	 Considered	and	satisfied	itself	that	the	independent	auditors,	PKF	Durban,	and	the	nominated	audit	partner	Mr	RC	Boulle	are	independent.
3.	 Reviewed	the	scope,	independence	and	objectivity	of	the	internal	and	independent	auditors’	audits.
4.	 Reviewed	and	approved	the	independent	auditor’s	budgeted	fees	and	terms	of	engagement	for	the	2019	financial	year.
5.	 Determined	the	nature	and	extent	of	non-audit-related	services	which	the	independent	auditor	was	permitted	to	provide	to	the	

group	and	reviewed	the	policy	 for	 the	use	of	 the	 independent	auditor	 for	non-audited-related	services.	All	non-audited-related	
service	agreements	between	the	group	and	the	independent	auditor	were	pre-approved.

6.	 Reviewed	and	amended	the	audit	committee	charter	in	line	with	King	IVTM	recommendations.
7.	 Reviewed	the	internal	combined	assurance	plan	for	the	2019	financial	year.
8.	 Reviewed	the	IT	governance	structure	for	the	group.
9.	 Confirmed	adequate	whistle-blowing	facilities	were	in	place	throughout	the	group	and	reviewed	and	considered	action	taken	with	

regard	to	incident	reports.
10.	Held	separate	meetings	with	management,	the	independent	auditor	and	internal	audit	to	discuss	any	problems	and	reservations	

arising	from	the	year-end	audit,	and	other	matters,	that	they	wished	to	discuss.
11.	Noted	that	it	had	not	received	any	complaints,	either	from	within	or	outside	the	group,	relating	either	to	the	accounting	practices,	

the	content	or	auditing	of	the	financial	statements,	the	internal	financial	controls	or	any	other	related	matter.
12.	Reviewed	the	effectiveness	of	the	audit	committee	and	its	members.
13.	Recommended	 to	 the	 board	 the	 reappointment	 of	 PKF	 Durban	 as	 the	 group’s	 independent	 auditor	 and	 Mr	 RC	 Boulle	 as	 the	

registered	auditor	responsible	for	the	audit	for	the	year	ending	30	June	2020,	which	will	be	considered	at	the	forthcoming	annual	
general	meeting.

14.	Evaluated	and	satisfied	itself	as	to	the	appropriateness	of	the	expertise	and	experience	of	the	group’s	chief	financial	officer	and	the	
company	secretary.

15.	Satisfied	itself	with	the	expertise,	resources	and	experience	of	the	group’s	finance	function.
16.	Considered	the	group	sustainability	information	as	disclosed	in	the	integrated	annual	report.
17.	Reviewed	management’s	statement	regarding	the	liquidity	and	solvency	status	of	the	company	following	the	dividend	declaration.

Based	 on	 the	 information	 produced	 to	 the	 audit	 committee	 by	 the	 independent	 auditors,	 internal	 auditors	 and	 management,	 the	
committee	 is	of	 the	opinion	that	nothing	has	come	to	 its	attention	that	would	suggest	 that	 the	group’s	system	of	 internal	 financial	
controls	are	not	adequate	or	effective	and	do	not	form	a	basis	for	the	presentation	of	reliable	financial	statements.	The	audit	committee	
has	evaluated	the	group	annual	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019	and	considered	that	they	comply,	in	all	material	
respects,	with	the	requirements	of	the	Companies	Act	and	IFRS.	This	committee	recommended	these	annual	financial	statements	for	
approval	by	the	board.	The	board	subsequently	approved	these	financial	statements	which	will	be	presented	at	the	forthcoming	annual	
general	meeting.	

For	further	details	regarding	the	audit	committee,	shareholders	are	referred	to	the	corporate	governance	report	on	page	45	of	this	
integrated	annual	report.

On	behalf	of	the	audit	committee

James Dixon
Audit	committee	chairman

14	August	2019
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

1. Nature of business and operations
ARB	 Holdings	 Ltd	 is	 a	 holding	 and	 investment	 company	 which	 owns	 investments	 in	 closely	 related	 trading	 and	 distribution	

businesses,	as	well	as	fixed	property	for	letting.	The	various	operations	of	the	group	are	summarised	below	with	the	expanded	

explanation	 of	 the	 various	 businesses	 detailed	 in	 the	 operating	 divisions’	 reviews	 in	 the	 integrated	 report.	 ARB’s	 operations	

comprise	three	main	business	segments,	namely:
	� Electrical	division;
	� Lighting	division;	and
	� Corporate	division.

Electrical division

ARB	 Electrical	 Wholesalers	 (Pty)	 Ltd,	 together	 with	 its	 subsidiaries,	 is	 a	 majority	 owned	 subsidiary	 (74%),	 and	 is	 the	 group’s	

largest	operating	division.	It	is	a	black-empowered	electrical	wholesaler	operating	in	southern	and	South	Africa	offering	a	wide	

range	of	locally	manufactured	and	imported	products	including	power	and	instrumentation	cabling;	overhead	line	hardware	and	

conductors;	insulators;	transformers	and	general	electrical	contracting	materials.	Clients	range	across	large	and	heavy	industry,	

parastatals,	major	construction	groups,	mining	houses	and	electrical	contractors.	The	subsidiary	continues	to	expand	its	footprint	

by	marketing	through	its	Connect	stores.	

CraigCor	Distribution	Co	(Pty)	Ltd,	a	majority	owned	subsidiary	(60%)	of	ARB	Electrical	Wholesalers,	is	the	exclusive	Rockwell	

automation	 distribution	 agent	 in	 Gauteng,	 Western	 Cape,	 Namibia	 and	 Zambia	 and	 Honeywell	 in	 South	 Africa,	 Namibia	

and	Zambia.	

ARB	Global	(Pty)	Ltd,	a	wholly	owned	subsidiary,	sells	a	range	of	locally	manufactured	and	imported	electrical	products	across	

South	Africa’s	borders.	During	the	year,	this	division	acquired	the	stock	and	fixed	assets	of	GMC	Powerlines	(Pty)	Ltd,	a	distributor	

of	Eskom	LAP	listed	overhead	line	products	sourced	internationally.

CED	–	Consolidated	Electrical	Distributor	(Pty)	Ltd	(“CED”),	a	wholly	owned	subsidiary,	is	the	sole	distributor	of	CHINT	low	voltage	

products	and	the	Horizon	plugs	and	socket	range	in	South	Africa.

Lighting division

Eurolux	 (Pty)	 Ltd,	 a	 majority	 owned	 subsidiary	 (60%),	 together	 with	 its	 wholly	 owned	 subsidiaries,	 imports	 and	 distributes	

electrical	 light	 fittings,	 lamps	 and	 related	 electrical	 accessories	 mainly	 to	 retail	 and	 wholesale	 stores	 and	 principally	 in	

South	Africa.

As	disclosed	last	year,	this	division	acquired	all	the	shares	in	The	Radiant	Group	(Pty)	Ltd	(“Radiant”)	for	R96,4m	effective	from	

1	January	2019	and	is	in	processes	of	executing	the	purchase	of	the	properties	that	Radiant	operates	out	of	in	Wynberg	in	Sandton.	

Radiant	is	a	household	brand	name	and	has	distributed	a	well-known	range	of	luminaires	and	fittings	for	35	years,	principally	

through	the	electrical	wholesale	channel	to	market	where	Eurolux	has	not	been	as	strong.	A	gain	from	a	bargain	purchase	arose	

as	the	business	was	incurring	losses	and	this	discount	was	negotiated	to	compensate	the	group	for	the	costs	and	losses	required	

to	rationalise	the	business	and	integrate	it	into	the	existing	Eurolux	Group.

The	Radiant	properties	are	located	next	to	the	M1	at	the	Grayston	Drive	offramp	with	prominent	road	front	exposure.	This	has	

been	purchased	from	internally	generated	funds,	but	a	property	loan	of	approximately	R80m	will	be	raised	to	finance	the	property	

acquisition.	More	detail	of	the	Radiant	acquisition	is	set	out	in	Note	27	below.	

Corporate division

Xact	ERP	Solutions	(Pty)	Ltd,	a	wholly	owned	subsidiary,	services	the	majority	of	the	electrical	division’s	IT	requirements	and	sells	

computer	hardware	and	software	support.	

ARB	Holdings	Ltd	also	owns	a	property	portfolio	and	rents	these	properties	to	certain	of	the	group’s	electrical	branch	operations.	

During	the	year,	the	company	completed	its	development	of	its	distribution	centre	in	Lords	View,	Gauteng	at	a	total	cost	of	R145m,	

of	which	R69,6m	was	incurred	in	the	current	year.	This	development	was	financed	from	internally	generated	funds.
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2. Management philosophy
ARB	adopts	a	hands-on	approach	to	managing	its	subsidiaries.	Each	subsidiary	is	self-contained	and	has	its	own	chief	executive	

officer	or	managing	director	and	a	complement	of	financial	and	administration	infrastructure.	The	ARB	group	CEO	is,	however,	

actively	 involved	 in	 the	 executive	 committees	 of	 all	 operations,	 with	 executive	 directors	 of	 the	 group	 actively	 controlling	 and	

participating	on	the	boards	of	subsidiaries.	The	working	capital	and	cash	flow	management	is	always	a	major	focus	of	the	group	

and	is	managed	at	the	ARB	group	CEO	level	with	formal	monthly	reviews.

3. Financial results
The	group	recognised	a	R21,2m	fair	value	gain	through	profit	and	 loss	on	the	put	option	granted	to	 the	NCIs	of	CraigCor	and	

Eurolux.	This	primarily	arose	because	the	estimated	strike	price	of	the	put	option	decreased	in	the	year	due	to	the	combined	effect	

of	the	decrease	in	the	ARB	share	price.	It	is	probable	that	this	fair	value	adjustment	will	reverse	in	the	near	future.	During	the	

year,	 the	 group	 also	 impaired	 the	 goodwill	 in	 Eurolux	 (R18,4m)	 as	 the	 cash	 flow	 projections	 in	 this	 CGU	 did	 not	 support	 the	

valuation.	This	goodwill	write	off	was	offset	by	the	R18,8m	gain	from	a	bargain	purchase	in	the	Radiant	acquisition.	The	remainder	

of	operating	results	and	statement	of	financial	position	of	the	group	are	fully	set	out	in	the	attached	financial	statements.	In	our	

opinion,	the	financial	statements	do	not	require	further	comment.	

A	seven-year	summary	of	the	group’s	earnings	is	presented	on	page	29.	

4. Share capital
Authorised share capital
The	authorised	share	capital	amounts	to	R100	000,	being	1	000	000	000	ordinary	shares	of	0.01	cents	each.	There	were	no	changes	

to	the	authorised	share	capital	during	the	year	under	review.

Issued share capital
The	issued	share	capital	amounts	to	R23	500,	being	235	000	000	ordinary	shares	of	0.01	cents	each.	There	were	no	changes	to	

the	issued	share	capital	during	the	year	under	review.	The	unissued	ordinary	shares	are	the	subject	of	a	general	authority	granted	

to	the	directors	in	terms	of	the	Companies	Act	(2008)	and	the	JSE	Listings	Requirements.	In	terms	of	the	company’s	memorandum	

of	incorporation	(“MOI”)	this	general	authority	remains	valid	only	until	the	next	AGM,	which	is	to	be	held	on	5	November	2019.	

Members	will	not	be	 requested	at	 the	meeting	 to	consider	an	ordinary	 resolution	placing	 the	said	ordinary	shares	under	 the	

control	of	the	directors.

5. Dividend
The	board	has	approved	as	a	minimum,	a	2.5	times	dividend	cover	ratio,	subject	to	any	future	funding	requirements	(such	as	capex)	

and	an	informal	policy	to	return	excess	cash	to	shareholders.	A	final	dividend	was	declared	for	the	2018	year	and	paid	to	shareholders	

during	the	year	under	review	of	R82,25m	(35.0	cents	per	share,	comprising	an	ordinary	dividend	of	25.0	cents	per	share	and	a	special	

dividend	of	10.0	cents	per	share)	[2017:	R82,25m	(25.0	cents	ordinary	dividend	and	10.0	cents	special	dividend	per	share)].

Subsequent	to	year-end,	the	board	has	again	declared	a	 final	dividend	to	shareholders	of	25.0	cents	per	share	representing	a		

2.30	times	dividend	cover	(2018:	2.86	times).	

6. Directors
The	directors	of	the	company	during	the	year	under	review	and	to	the	date	of	this	report	are	as	follows:	

AR	Burke Non-executive	chairman	(retired	30	April	2019)
RB	Patmore Non-executive	chairman,	previously	the	lead	Independent	non-executive	director	and	as	chairman	on:	1	May	2019
WR	Neasham Managing	director	and	group	CEO	
JS	Dixon Independent	non-executive	director	
ST	Downes Independent	non-executive	director
GM	Scrutton Financial	director	and	chief	financial	officer

Directors’	remuneration	is	reported	in	Note	23	(related	parties).
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7. Directors’ interest in contracts
No	material	contracts	in	which	directors	have	an	interest	were	entered	into	during	the	year.	All	transactions	with	related	parties	

are	detailed	in	Note	23	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements.

8. Directors’ shareholding in the issued share capital of the company

Shares (000s)

Direct
 beneficially

Indirect
 beneficially

% 
held

2019

Alan	R	Burke	(chairman)*^ – 128 661 54.75

Simon	Downes#* – 600 0.26

James	Dixon#* 20 – 0.01

William	Neasham	(CEO) 4 862 75 2.10

Blayne	Burke** 77 – 0.03

Jason	Burke** 68 – 0.03

5 027 129 336 57.18

2018

Alan	R	Burke	(chairman)* 18	523 110	138 54.75

Simon	Downes#* – 600 0.26

James	Dixon#* 20 – 0.01

William	Neasham	(CEO) 4	862 75 2.10

Blayne	Burke** 77 – 0.03

Jason	Burke** 68 – 0.03

23	550 110	813 57.18

*	 Non-executive.
**	 Director	of	subsidiary,	ARB	Electrical	Wholesalers	(Pty)	Ltd.
#	 Independent.
^	 Retired	30	April	2019.	

There	have	been	no	changes	in	the	directors’	shareholdings	between	the	year-end	and	the	date	of	this	report.

9. Borrowings
The	board	have	set	the	acceptable	gearing	level	at	interest-bearing	debt	of	30%	of	equity.	The	directors	have	established	credit	

facilities	with	various	financial	institutions	for	use	by	the	company	and	its	subsidiary	companies.	The	directors	did	not	exceed	any	

authorised	levels	of	borrowings	during	the	year	under	review.

10. Special resolutions
The	only	special	resolutions	passed	during	the	period	were	those	passed	at	the	AGM,	and	included	in	the	2018	integrated	report,	

giving	directors	general	authority	to	repurchase	up	to	10%	of	the	shares	in	the	company;	approving	the	non-executive	directors’	

remuneration	and	financial	assistance	of	subsidiaries	(in	terms	of	s44	and	s45	of	the	Companies	Act).	No	shares	were	repurchased	

during	the	year.	These	resolutions	will	again	be	proposed	at	the	forthcoming	AGM.
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11. Acquisitions
As	noted	above	the	group,	through	its	60%	interest	in	Eurolux	(Pty)	Ltd,	acquired	100%	of	The	Radiant	Group	(Pty)	Ltd	with	effect	

from	1	January	2019	 for	R96,4m.	Agreement	has	also	been	reached	 to	purchase	 the	Radiant	properties	 for	R88m,	and	 these	

properties	are	in	the	process	of	being	transferred	into	Eurolux’s	name.	Full	details	of	these	transactions	are	set	out	in	Note	27.	

The	group	also	acquired	all	the	business	of	GMC	Powerlines	during	the	year	for	R36,0m,	representing	a	10%	premium	over	the	

asset’s	book	values,	but	below	the	cost	at	which	ARB	could	source	these	products	in	the	market.

12. Ultimate holding company
The	group’s	ultimate	holding	company	is	Burke	Consolidated	Holdings	(Pty)	Ltd.

13. Commitments and subsequent events
The	group	has	entered	into	an	agreement	to	acquire	the	Radiant	properties	for	R88m,	which	will	be	funded	by	raising	R80,0m	of	

debt	and	the	balance	out	of	internal	cash	flows.

Subsequent	 to	 the	year-end,	Eurolux	continued	 the	 integration	of	Radiant	 into	 the	Eurolux	Group,	 including	 the	conversion	of	

Radiant	onto	the	Eurolux	Kerridge	system	and	the	transfer	of	all	 the	Eurolux	Johannesburg	operations	to	Radiant	properties.		

The	 total	 cost	 of	 this	 is	 estimated	 to	 be	 R14,1m	 of	 capital	 expenditure	 to	 refurbish	 the	 buildings	 and	 R2,2m	 of	 operating	

expenditure.	

The	only	other	material	subsequent	event	is	the	declaration	of	the	dividend	for	the	2019	financial	year	(referred	to	in	5.	above).

14	August	2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of ARB Holdings Ltd

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Opinion 
We	have	audited	 the	consolidated	 financial	statements	of	ARB	Holdings	Ltd	and	 its	subsidiaries	 (“the	group”)	set	out	on	pages	74		

to	111,	which	comprise	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	30	June	2019,	and	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	

loss	and	other	comprehensive	income,	the	consolidated	statement	of	changes	in	equity	and	the	consolidated	statement	of	cash	flows	

for	the	year	then	ended,	and	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	including	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies.	

In	our	opinion,	the	consolidated	financial	statements	present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects,	the	consolidated	financial	position	of	ARB	

Holdings	Ltd	and	its	subsidiaries	as	at	30	June	2019,	and	its	consolidated	financial	performance	and	consolidated	cash	flows	for	the	

year	 then	 ended	 in	 accordance	 with	 International	 Financial	 Reporting	 Standards	 and	 the	 requirements	 of	 the	 Companies	 Act	 of	

South	Africa.

Basis for opinion
We	conducted	our	audit	in	accordance	with	International	Standards	on	Auditing	(“ISAs”).	Our	responsibilities	under	those	standards	

are	 further	 described	 in	 the	 Auditor’s	 responsibilities	 for	 the	 audit	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 section	 of	 our	 report.		

We	are	independent	of	the	group	in	accordance	with	sections	290	and	291	of	the	Independent	Regulatory	Board	for	Auditors’	Code	of	

Professional	Conduct	for	Registered	Auditors	(revised	January	2018),	parts	1	and	3	of	the	Independent	Regulatory	Board	for	Auditors’	

Code	of	Professional	Conduct	for	Registered	Auditors	(Revised	November	2018)	(together	the	IRBA	Codes)	and	other	independence	

requirements	applicable	to	performing	audits	of	financial	statements	in	South	Africa.	We	have	fulfilled	our	other	ethical	responsibilities,	

as	applicable,	in	accordance	with	the	IRBA	Codes	and	in	accordance	with	other	ethical	requirements	applicable	to	performing	audits	

in	 South	 Africa.	 The	 IRBA	 Codes	 are	 consistent	 with	 the	 corresponding	 sections	 of	 the	 International	 Ethics	 Standards	 Board	 for	

Accountants’	Code	of	Ethics	for	Professional	Accountants	and	the	International	Ethics	Standards	Board	for	Accountants’	International	

Code	of	Ethics	for	Professional	Accountants	(including	International	Independence	Standards)	respectively.	We	believe	that	the	audit	

evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	our	opinion.

Key audit matters
Key	audit	matters	are	those	matters	that,	 in	our	professional	judgement,	were	of	most	significance	in	our	audit	of	the	consolidated	

financial	statements	of	 the	current	period.	These	matters	were	addressed	 in	 the	context	of	our	audit	of	 the	consolidated	 financial	

statements	as	a	whole,	and	in	forming	our	opinion	thereon,	and	we	do	not	provide	a	separate	opinion	on	these	matters.	

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Valuation of goodwill and indefinite useful life trademarks

As	disclosed	in	Note	12,	the	consolidated	financial	statements	

include	goodwill	and	indefinite	useful	life	trademarks.

As	required	by	IAS	36	Impairment	of	Assets,	the	directors	

conduct	annual	impairment	tests	to	assess	recoverability	of	the	

carrying	value	of	goodwill	and	indefinite	useful	life	trademarks.	

This	is	performed	using	discounted	cash	flow	models	which	

involve	a	number	of	key	assumptions	which	are	presented	in	

Note	12	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements.	These	include:
	� The	growth	rate	and	terminal	growth	rate	is	considered	to	be	

highly	subjective	since	it	is	based	on	management’s	experience	

and	expectations	rather	than	observable	market	data.
	� The	discount	rate	is	based	on	a	weighted	average	cost		

of	capital	calculation	which	is	complex.

Our	audit	procedures	included:
	� We	assessed	whether	the	approach	adopted	by	

management	in	the	discounted	cash	flow	model	was	in	line	

with	market	practice	and	the	applicable	requirements	of	

IAS	36	Impairment	of	Assets;
	� We	have	tested	the	mathematical	accuracy	of	the	discounted	

cash	flow	model	through	re-performing	the	calculations;
	� We	analysed	the	future	projected	cash	flows	used	in	the	model	

to	determine	whether	they	were	reasonable	and	supportable;
	� We	subjected	the	key	assumptions	to	sensitivity	analyses;	and
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Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

The	impairment	tests	of	these	assets	are	considered	to	be	a	key	

audit	matter	due	to	the	value	of	the	assets	and	the	extent	of	

judgement	and	estimate	required.

	� We	assessed	the	appropriateness	of	the	growth	and	

terminal	growth	rates	and	tested	the	weighted	average	cost	

of	capital	calculation	and	the	variables	used	therein.

Valuation of put option liabilities

As	disclosed	in	Note	22,	there	are	put	option	liabilities	relating	to	

the	rights	the	non-controlling	interests	of	subsidiaries	have	to	

put	their	remaining	shareholding	to	the	group.	The	valuation	of	

these	financial	instruments	required	the	directors	to	make	

assumptions	about	future	operating	performance	including:
	� Revenue	growth;
	� Operating	margins;	and
	� The	discount	rates	applied	to	the	projected	future	cash	flows.	

The	fair	value	calculation	is	considered	to	be	a	key	audit	matter	

due	to	the	extent	of	judgement	and	estimate	required.

Our	audit	work	involved	the	following:	
	� We	analysed	the	future	projected	cash	flows	used	in	the	

model	to	determine	whether	they	were	reasonable	and	

supportable;
	� We	subjected	the	key	assumptions	to	sensitivity	analyses;	and
	� We	checked	that	the	calculation	of	the	liabilities	was	in	line	

with	the	put	option	contract.

Other information
The	directors	are	responsible	for	the	other	information.	The	other	information	comprises	the	other	information	in	the	ARB	Holdings	
Ltd	separate	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019	and	the	ARB	Holdings	Ltd	integrated	report	2019,	which	includes	
the	CEO	and	CFO’s	responsibility	statement,	directors’	report,	the	audit	committee’s	Report	and	the	company	secretary’s	certificate	as	
required	 by	 the	 Companies	 Act	 of	 South	 Africa.	 Other	 information	 does	 not	 include	 the	 consolidated	 or	 the	 separate	 financial	
statements	and	our	auditor’s	report	thereon.

Our	opinion	on	the	consolidated	financial	statements	does	not	cover	the	other	information	and	we	do	not	express	an	audit	opinion	or	
any	form	of	assurance	conclusion	thereon.	

In	connection	with	our	audit	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	our	responsibility	is	to	read	the	other	information	and,	in	doing	
so,	consider	whether	 the	other	 information	 is	materially	 inconsistent	with	 the	consolidated	 financial	statements	or	our	knowledge	
obtained	 in	 the	audit,	or	otherwise	appears	 to	be	materially	misstated.	 If,	based	on	the	work	we	have,	we	conclude	that	 there	 is	a	
material	misstatement	of	this	other	information,	we	are	required	to	report	that	fact.	We	have	nothing	to	report	in	this	regard.	

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements
The	directors	are	responsible	 for	 the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	 the	consolidated	financial	statements	 in	accordance	with	
International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	and	the	requirements	of	the	Companies	Act	of	South	Africa,	and	for	such	internal	control	
as	 the	directors	determine	 is	necessary	 to	enable	 the	preparation	of	consolidated	 financial	statements	 that	are	 free	 from	material	
misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	

In	preparing	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	the	directors	are	responsible	for	assessing	the	group’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	
concern,	 disclosing,	 as	 applicable,	 matters	 related	 to	 going	 concern	 and	 using	 the	 going	 concern	 basis	 of	 accounting	 unless	 the	
directors	either	intend	to	liquidate	the	group	or	to	cease	operations,	or	have	no	realistic	alternative	but	to	do	so.	

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our	 objectives	 are	 to	 obtain	 reasonable	 assurance	 about	 whether	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 as	 a	 whole	 are	 free	 from	
material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error,	and	to	issue	an	auditor’s	report	that	includes	our	opinion.	Reasonable	assurance	
is	a	high	 level	of	assurance,	but	 is	not	a	guarantee	 that	an	audit	 conducted	 in	accordance	with	 ISAs	will	 always	detect	a	material	
misstatement	 when	 it	 exists.	 Misstatements	 can	 arise	 from	 fraud	 or	 error	 and	 are	 considered	 material	 if,	 individually	 or	 in	 the	
aggregate,	they	could	reasonably	be	expected	to	influence	the	economic	decisions	of	users	taken	on	the	basis	of	these	consolidated	

financial	statements.	

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
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As	part	of	an	audit	in	accordance	with	ISAs,	we	exercise	professional	judgement	and	maintain	professional	scepticism	throughout	the	

audit.	We	also:	
	� Identify	and	assess	 the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	 the	consolidated	 financial	statements,	whether	due	 to	 fraud	or	error,	

design	 and	 perform	 audit	 procedures	 responsive	 to	 those	 risks,	 and	 obtain	 audit	 evidence	 that	 is	 sufficient	 and	 appropriate	 to	

provide	 a	 basis	 for	 our	 opinion.	 The	 risk	 of	 not	 detecting	 a	 material	 misstatement	 resulting	 from	 fraud	 is	 higher	 than	 for	 one	

resulting	from	error,	as	fraud	may	involve	collusion,	forgery,	intentional	omissions,	misrepresentations,	or	the	override	of	internal	

control.	
	� Obtain	an	understanding	of	 internal	control	relevant	 to	 the	audit	 in	order	 to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	 in	 the	

circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	group’s	internal	control.	
	� Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	related	disclosures	

made	by	the	directors.	
	� Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	directors’	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and	based	on	the	audit	evidence	

obtained,	whether	a	material	uncertainty	exists	related	to	events	or	conditions	that	may	cast	significant	doubt	on	the	group’s	ability	

to	continue	as	a	going	concern.	If	we	conclude	that	a	material	uncertainty	exists,	we	are	required	to	draw	attention	in	our	auditor’s	

report	 to	 the	 related	 disclosures	 in	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 or,	 if	 such	 disclosures	 are	 inadequate,	 to	 modify	 our	

opinion.	Our	conclusions	are	based	on	the	audit	evidence	obtained	up	to	the	date	of	our	auditor’s	report.	However,	future	events	or	

conditions	may	cause	the	group	to	cease	to	continue	as	a	going	concern.	
	� Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	 the	consolidated	financial	statements,	 including	the	disclosures,	and	

whether	 the	consolidated	 financial	statements	 represent	 the	underlying	 transactions	and	events	 in	a	manner	 that	achieves	 fair	

presentation.	
	� Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	information	of	the	entities	or	business	activities	within	the	group	

to	express	an	opinion	on	the	consolidated	financial	statements.	We	are	responsible	for	the	direction,	supervision	and	performance	

of	the	group	audit.	We	remain	solely	responsible	for	our	audit	opinion.	

We	communicate	with	the	directors	regarding,	among	other	matters,	the	planned	scope	and	timing	of	the	audit	and	significant	audit	

findings,	including	any	significant	deficiencies	in	internal	control	that	we	identify	during	our	audit.	

We	also	provide	the	directors	with	a	statement	that	we	have	complied	with	relevant	ethical	requirements	regarding	independence,	and	

to	communicate	with	them	all	relationships	and	other	matters	that	may	reasonably	be	thought	to	bear	on	our	independence,	and	where	

applicable,	related	safeguards.	

From	the	matters	communicated	with	the	directors,	we	determine	those	matters	that	were	of	most	significance	 in	the	audit	of	 the	

consolidated	 financial	statements	of	 the	current	period	and	are	 therefore	 the	key	audit	matters.	We	describe	 these	matters	 in	our	

auditor’s	report	unless	law	or	regulation	precludes	public	disclosure	about	the	matter	or	when,	in	extremely	rare	circumstances,	we	

determine	that	a	matter	should	not	be	communicated	in	our	report	because	the	adverse	consequences	of	doing	so	would	reasonably	

be	expected	to	outweigh	the	public	interest	benefits	of	such	communication.	

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In	terms	of	the	IRBA	Rule	published	in	Government	Gazette	Number	39475	dated	4	December	2015,	we	report	that	PKF	Durban	has	

been	the	auditor	of	ARB	Holdings	Ltd	for	19	years.

PKF Durban

Partner:	RC	Boulle

Registered	Auditor

14	August	2019

Durban
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Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

Revenue	–	comprising	sales	of	merchandise 3 2 706 186 2	590	150

Cost	of	sales (2 055 831) (1	974	965)

Gross profit 650 355 615	185

Other	income 2 236 5	987

Selling,	administration	and	distribution	costs (497 224) (416	847)	

Operating	profit	before	put	option	and	goodwill	adjustments 155 367 204	326

Gain	from	a	bargain	purchase 27 18 779 –

Goodwill	impaired 12 (18 410) –

Change	in	put	option	liability	assumptions 22 21 248 26	000	

Profit before interest and tax 4 176 984 230	326

Interest	received 6 21 221 26	099

Interest	paid 7 (3 851) (1	558)

Profit before tax 194 354 254	867

Tax 8 (49 189) (63	220)

Profit for the year 145 165 191	647

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified into profit or loss

Revaluation	of	property 11 2 739 2	812

Tax	of	other	comprehensive	income (470) (383)

Total other comprehensive income 9 2 269 2	429

Total comprehensive income 147 434 194	076

Profit for the year attributable to:

Non-controlling	interests 10 188 23	151

ARB	ordinary	shareholders 134 977 168	496

145 165 191	647

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Non-controlling	interests 10 188 23	151

ARB	ordinary	shareholders 137 246 170	925

147 434 194	076

Earnings per share

Basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share	(cents) 10.1 57.44 71.70

Headline	and	diluted	headline	earnings	per	share	(cents) 10.2 58.20 71.70

Dividends	per	share	(cents) 10.3 35.00 35.00

	� Ordinary	dividend 10.3 25.00 25.00

	� Special	dividend 10.3 10.00 10.00

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
at	30	June	2019

Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

Assets

Non-current	assets

Property,	plant	and	equipment 11 412 882 331	323

Goodwill	and	intangible	assets 12 76 447 95	638

Deferred	tax 13 7 037 8	218

496 366 435	179

Current assets

Inventory 14 607 370 508	174

Trade	and	other	receivables 15 412 802 393	907

Cash	and	cash	equivalents 16 180 890 259	420

1 201 062 1	161	501

Total assets 1 697 428 1	596	680

Equity and liabilities

Equity and reserves

Share	capital	and	premium 17 116 174 116	174

Revaluation	reserve 18 75 178 72	909

Accumulated	profits 831 120 778	393

Attributable	to	ARB	ordinary	shareholders 1 022 472 967	476

Non-controlling	interests 133 691 150	543	

1 156 163 1	118	019

Non-current liabilities

Deferred	lease	liability	 20 1 598 631

Put	option	liability 22 19 000 33	475

Deferred	tax 13 42 937 41	922

63 535 76	028

Current liabilities

Trade	and	other	payables 21 374 571 332	011

Short-term	loans 19 38 851 –

Tax	payable 4 308 5	615

Put	option	liability 22 60 000 65	007

477 730 402	633

Total equity and liabilities 1 697 428 1	596	680
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019

Note(s)

Share	
capital	and

	premium
(R000s)

Revaluation
	reserve

(R000s)

Accu-
mulated

	profits
(R000s)

Equity
	attributable	

to	ARB	
ordinary

	shareholders
(R000s)

Non-
controlling

	interests
(R000s)

Total
(R000s)

Balance at 30 June 2017 116	174 70	480 712	286 898	940 170	868 1	069	808

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – 2	429 168	496 170	925 23	151 194	076

Profit	for	the	year – – 168	496 168	496 23	151 191	647

Other	comprehensive	income 9 – 2	429 – 2	429 – 2	429

Derecognition	of	NCI – – (20	139) (20	139) (7	076) (27	215)

Dividends – – (82	250) (82	250) (36	400) (118	650)

Balance at 30 June 2018 116	174 72	909 778	393 967	476 150	543 1	118	019

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – 2	269 134	977 137	246 10	188 147	434

Profit	for	the	year – – 134	977 134	977 10	188 145	165

Other	comprehensive	income 9 – 2	269 2	269 – 2	269

Dividends – – (82	250) (82	250) (27	040) (109	290)

Balance at 30 June 2019 116 174 75 178 831 120 1 022 472 133 691 1 156 163
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019

Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

Operating cash flow before working capital changes 28.1 167 676 217	053

Working	capital	changes

Decrease/(increase)	in	inventories	 49 042 (26	298)

Decrease	in	trade	and	other	receivables 21 017 41	090

Increase	in	trade	and	other	payables (11 935) (6	506)

Cash generated by operating activities 225 800 225	339

Interest	received 6 21 221 26	098

Interest	paid 7 (2 085)

Dividends	paid (109 290) (118	650)

Income	tax	paid 28.2 (48 770) (65	039)

Net cash generated by operating activities 86 876 67	749

Cash flows from investing activities

Loan	receivable	repaid – 2	956

Property,	plant	and	equipment	acquired 11 (93 093) (106	298)

Proceeds	on	disposals	of	property,	plant	and	equipment 28.3 3 554 3	762

Proceeds	on	winding	up	of	JV – 4	278

Cash	paid	for	business	acquisitions	(net	of	cash) 27 (114 718) (19	669)

Net cash utilised in investing activities (204 257) (114	971)

Net cash from financing activities

Proceeds	from	demand	loans	from	NCI	shareholders 19 38 851 –

Decrease	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents (78 530) (47	222)

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	beginning	of	the	year	 16 259 420 306	642

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 16 180 890 259	420
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019

1. Statement of compliance
The	consolidated	financial	statements	of	ARB	Holdings	Ltd	(“the	group”)	are	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	

Reporting	Standards	(“IFRS”)	and	its	interpretations	issued	by	the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(“IASB”)	in	issue	and	

effective	for	the	group	at	30	June	2019,	the	SAICA	Financial	Reporting	Guides	as	issued	by	the	Accounting	Practices	Committee,	

the	Financial	Reporting	Pronouncements	as	issued	by	the	Financial	Reporting	Standards	Council,	the	JSE	Listings	Requirements	

and	the	Companies	Act	of	South	Africa.	Other	than	as	set	out	in	Note	2.18	below,	these	policies	have	been	applied	consistently	to	

all	years	presented.	Comparative	information	has	not	been	restated	in	accordance	with	the	transitional	arrangements	of	IFRS	9	

and	IFRS	15	as	the	effects	of	these	changes	were	not	material,	but	have	been	expanded	to	provide	comparative	information	for	

new	disclosure	requirements.	

2. Basis of preparation
The	consolidated	financial	statements	are	prepared	on	the	historical	cost	basis,	except	for	land	and	buildings	and	certain	financial	

instruments	which	are	measured	at	fair	value	and	incorporate	the	principal	accounting	policies	listed	below.

The	 preparation	 of	 financial	 statements	 in	 conformity	 with	 IFRS	 requires	 management	 to	 make	 judgements,	 estimates	 and	

assumptions	 that	 may	 affect	 the	 application	 of	 policies	 and	 reported	 amounts	 of	 assets,	 liabilities,	 income	 and	 expenses.		

The	estimates	and	associated	assumptions	are	based	on	historical	experience	and	various	other	factors	that	are	believed	to	be	

reasonable	under	 the	circumstances,	 the	results	of	which	 form	the	basis	of	making	 the	 judgements	about	carrying	values	of	

assets	and	liabilities	that	are	not	readily	apparent	from	other	sources.	Actual	results	may	differ	from	these	estimates.

The	estimates	and	underlying	assumptions	are	reviewed	on	an	ongoing	basis.	Revisions	to	accounting	estimates	are	recognised	

in	the	period	in	which	the	estimate	is	revised	if	the	revision	only	affects	that	period,	or	in	the	period	of	the	revision	and	future	

periods	if	the	revision	affects	both	current	and	future	periods.	The	areas	involving	a	higher	degree	of	judgement	or	complexity,	or	

areas	where	assumptions	and	estimates	are	significant	to	the	financial	statements,	are	disclosed	in	Note	2.1.

2.1 Accounting estimates and judgements

The	estimates	and	judgements	that	have	a	significant	risk	of	causing	a	material	adjustment	to	the	carrying	amounts	of	

assets	and	liabilities	within	the	next	financial	year	are	as	follows:

Revaluation of land and buildings 

The	 group	 values	 the	 land	 and	 buildings	 with	 the	 assistance	 of	 an	 independent	 valuer	 with	 reference	 to	 the	 valuer’s	

judgement	of	current	market	conditions,	recent	sales	transactions	of	similar	geographical	locations	and	the	present	value	

of	future	rental	income.

Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill

In	estimating	the	recoverable	amounts	of	cash-generating	units	used	in	the	impairment	assessment,	discounted	cash	flow	

models	are	used	which	involve	a	number	of	assumptions	which	include	the	subjective	CGUs’	growth	and	terminal	growth	

rate	and	the	calculated	discount	rate	which	involves	a	high	degree	of	judgement	given	the	calculation’s	complexity.

Impairment of inventory

In	 assessing	 the	 impairment	 of	 inventory,	 management	 has	 identified	 inventory	 that	 did	 not	 show	 any	 movement	 for	

12	months	based	on	sales	and	evaluated	the	extent	to	which	this	inventory	will	not	be	sold.	While	this	evaluation	was	done	

by	management	who	are	experienced	and	knowledgeable,	there	is	still	a	significant	amount	of	estimation	and	judgement	

involved	in	arriving	at	the	amount	to	be	provided.	

Impairment of gross trade receivables

In	 developing	 the	 provision	 matrix	 used	 to	 estimate	 the	 expected	 credit	 loss	 allowance,	 judgement	 had	 to	 be	 used	 in	

identifying	the	appropriate	customer	credit	loss	and	payment	history	to	use,	assess	which	factors	to	take	into	account	that	

are	 specific	 to	 the	 customers	 and	 what	 indicators	 to	 use	 to	 adjust	 the	 historic	 credit	 losses	 for	 both	 the	 current	 and	

forecast	conditions.
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Put option liability

Significant	judgement	had	to	be	used	in	arriving	at	the	assumptions	about	future	operating	performance	which	included	

revenue	growth,	operating	margins	and	the	discount	rates	applied	to	the	projected	future	cash	flows.

2.2 Basis of consolidation
These	financial	statements	are	the	consolidated	financial	statements	of	ARB	Holdings	Ltd	and	entities	controlled	by	it	and	

its	subsidiaries.	Control	is	achieved	when	the	group	has	powers	over	the	investee,	has	control	of	the	voting	rights	of	the	

entity,	is	exposed	to	or	has	rights	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	entity	and	has	the	ability	to	use	its	voting	

rights	to	affect	its	returns.

Investment in subsidiaries

Consolidation	of	a	subsidiary	begins	from	the	date	the	investor	gains	control	of	an	investee	and	ceases	when	the	investor	

loses	control	of	an	investee.

The	acquisition	method	of	accounting	is	used	to	account	for	the	acquisition	of	subsidiaries	by	the	group.	The	cost	of	the	

acquisition	is	measured	as	the	fair	value	of	assets	transferred,	equity	 instruments	issued	and	liabilities	incurred	at	the	

date	 of	 exchange.	 Intra-group	 transactions,	 balances	 and	 unrealised	 gains	 and	 losses	 on	 transactions	 between	 group	

companies	are	eliminated.

Non-controlling	interests	in	subsidiaries	are	presented	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	separately	from	

the	 equity	 attributable	 to	 equity	 owners	 of	 the	 parent	 company.	 Non-controlling	 shareholders’	 interest	 may	 initially	 be	

measured	either	at	fair	value	or	at	the	non-controlling	shareholders’	interests’	proportionate	share	of	the	fair	value	of	the	

acquiree’s	identifiable	net	assets.	The	choice	of	measurement	basis	is	made	on	each	acquisition	individually.	Subsequent	

to	acquisition,	the	carrying	amount	of	non-controlling	interests	is	the	amount	of	those	interests	at	initial	recognition	plus	

the	non-controlling	 interests’	share	of	subsequent	changes	 in	equity.	Total	comprehensive	 income	is	attributed	to	non-

controlling	interests	even	if	this	results	in	the	non-controlling	interests	having	a	deficit	balance.

Goodwill

Goodwill	on	acquisitions	comprises	the	excess	of	the	aggregate	of	the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	transferred,	the	fair	

value	of	any	previously	held	interests	and	the	recognised	value	of	the	non-controlling	interest	in	the	acquiree	over	the	net	

amounts	of	the	identifiable	assets	acquired	and	liabilities	assumed	at	the	acquisition	date.

Goodwill	is	carried	at	cost	less	accumulated	impairment	losses.	Goodwill	is	tested	for	impairment	annually.	In	assessing	

value-in-use,	the	expected	future	cash	flows	from	the	budgets	for	the	next	year	prepared	by	management	are	increased	

by	 the	 growth	 rate	 for	 the	 following	 four	 years.	 Capex	 and	 net	 working	 capital	 are	 calculated	 based	 on	 prior	 history.		

The	resulting	future	cash	flows	are	discounted	to	their	present	value	using	a	pre-tax	discount	rate	that	reflects	current	

market	 assessments	 of	 the	 time	 value	 of	 money	 and	 the	 risk	 specific	 to	 the	 asset.	 An	 impairment	 loss	 is	 recognised	

whenever	the	carrying	amount	exceeds	the	recoverable	amount.	Impairment	losses	and	reversals	of	impairment	losses	

are	recognised	in	profit	and	loss.	Gains	and	losses	on	the	disposal	of	an	entity	 include	the	carrying	amount	of	goodwill	

relating	to	the	entity	sold.

2.3 Property, plant and equipment
Property,	plant	and	equipment	are	initially	recorded	at	cost.	Thereafter	this	is	reduced	by	any	accumulated	depreciation	

and	any	accumulated	impairment	losses.	Depreciation	is	computed	by	allocating	the	depreciable	amount	of	an	asset	on	a	

systematic	basis	over	its	useful	life.	Residual	values	and	useful	lives	are	assessed	at	the	end	of	every	financial	year	and	

the	year’s	depreciation	determined.

Land	and	buildings	held	for	use	in	the	production	or	supply	of	goods	or	services	or	for	administrative	purposes	are	stated	

in	the	statement	of	financial	position	at	their	revalued	amounts,	being	the	fair	value	at	the	date	of	revaluation.	Revaluations	

are	performed	with	sufficient	regularity	such	that	the	carrying	amounts	do	not	differ	materially	from	those	that	would	be	

determined	using	fair	values	at	the	reporting	date.
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2. Basis of preparation	(continued)
2.3 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Any	revaluation	increase	arising	on	revaluation	of	such	land	and	buildings	is	credited	in	equity	to	the	revaluation	reserve	

except	to	the	extent	that	it	reverses	a	revaluation	decrease	for	the	same	asset	previously	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	

which	case	the	increase	is	credited	to	profit	or	loss	to	the	extent	of	the	decrease	previously	charged.	A	decrease	in	the	

carrying	 amount	 arising	 on	 the	 revaluation	 of	 such	 land	 and	 buildings	 is	 charged	 to	 profit	 or	 loss	 to	 the	 extent	 that	 it	

exceeds	the	balance,	if	any,	held	in	the	properties’	revaluation	reserve	relating	to	a	previous	revaluation	of	that	asset.	On	

disposal	the	difference	between	the	proceeds	and	the	carrying	value	are	charged	to	profit	and	loss	and,	if	a	revalued	asset,	

the	related	revaluation	reserve	is	transferred	in	equity	to	accumulated	profits.	

Property,	plant	and	equipment	is	depreciated	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	their	useful	lives	as	follows:

Plant	and	equipment	 5	to	15	years

Office	furniture	and	fittings	 6	years

Office	equipment	 5	to	6	years

Computer	equipment	 3	years

Leasehold	improvements	 over	the	shorter	of	useful	life	or	the	term	of	the	lease

Buildings	 50	years

Vehicles	 4	to	5	years

Land	is	not	depreciated.

2.4 Intangible assets
Intangible	assets	acquired	separately	are	shown	at	historical	cost	less	accumulated	amortisation	and	impairment	losses.	

Intangible	assets	are	initially	recognised	at	cost.	Indefinite	period	trademarks	that	do	not	have	a	foreseeable	limit	to	the	

period	over	which	it	is	expected	to	generate	cash	flows	is	not	amortised.	Software	costs	are	amortised	over	10	years.	

The	carrying	value	of	intangible	assets	is	reviewed	for	impairment	annually	or	more	frequently	if	there	are	indicators	that	

the	 intangible	 assets	 may	 be	 impaired.	 Amortisation	 periods	 and	 methods	 are	 reviewed	 annually	 and	 are	 adjusted	 if	

appropriate.

2.5 Impairment of non-financial assets
The	carrying	amounts	of	the	non-financial	assets	are	reviewed	at	each	reporting	date	to	determine	whether	there	is	any	

indication	 of	 impairment.	 If	 any	 such	 indication	 exists,	 the	 recoverable	 amount	 of	 the	 asset	 is	 estimated	 in	 order	 to	

determine	the	extent	of	the	impairment	loss,	and	the	impairment	loss	is	recognised	in	profit	and	loss.	

Intangible	assets	with	indefinite	useful	lives	and	intangible	assets	not	yet	available	for	use	are	tested	for	impairment	at	

least	annually,	and	whenever	there	is	an	indication	that	the	asset	may	be	impaired.

The	recoverable	amount	is	the	higher	of	the	fair	value	less	costs	of	disposal	and	value	in	use.	In	assessing	value	in	use,	

the	estimated	future	cash	flows	are	discounted	to	their	present	value	using	a	pre-tax	discount	rate	which	reflects	current	

market	assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	specific	to	the	asset	for	which	the	estimates	of	future	cash	

flows	have	not	been	adjusted.

2.6 Inventory
Inventory	 consists	 of	 power	 and	 instrumentation	 cable,	 overhead	 line	 conductor	 and	 equipment,	 general	 electrical	

contracting	materials	and	lamps	and	light	fittings	purchased	for	resale	and	is	valued	at	the	lower	of	cost	or	net	realisable	

value.	Cost	is	determined	using	the	weighted	average	cost	basis.	Adequate	provision	is	made	for	obsolete,	redundant	and	

slow-moving	inventory.
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2.7 Financial instruments
The	group	classifies	financial	instruments,	or	their	component	parts,	on	initial	recognition	as	a	financial	asset,	a	financial	

liability	or	an	equity	instrument	in	accordance	with	the	substance	of	the	contractual	arrangement.	Financial	instruments	

are	recognised	when	the	group	becomes	a	party	to	the	contractual	provisions	of	the	instrument.

Financial	instruments	are	recognised	initially	at	their	transaction	price	plus	transaction	costs	that	are	directly	attributable	

to	 the	 acquisition	 or	 issue	 of	 the	 financial	 instrument,	 except	 for	 financial	 assets	 and	 financial	 liabilities	 at	 “fair	 value	

through	profit	or	loss”,	which	are	initially	measured	at	fair	value,	excluding	transaction	costs	which	are	recognised	in	profit	

or	loss.

Financial	assets	are	derecognised	when	the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	investments	have	expired	or	have	been	

transferred	and	the	group	has	transferred	substantially	all	 the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership.	Financial	 liabilities	are	

derecognised	when	the	obligation	specified	in	the	contract	is	discharged,	cancelled	or	expires.

Loans receivable and payable

Loans	receivable	and	payable	are	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method	and	

are	stated	at	amortised	cost.	

Put option liability 

Written	put	options	on	the	shares	of	a	subsidiary	held	by	non-controlling	interests	entitle	the	non-controlling	interests	to	

sell	their	interest	in	the	subsidiary	to	the	group.	The	group	records	a	financial	liability	for	its	contractual	obligation	to	pay	

the	put	option	at	the	present	value	of	the	estimated	option	price	discounted	from	the	date	the	option	is	first	exercisable	to	

the	reporting	date.	In	recognising	this	liability,	the	non-controlling	interest	is	derecognised	and	any	excess	or	shortfall	is	

charged	or	realised	directly	in	accumulated	profits	in	the	statement	of	changes	in	equity.	Dividends	paid	to	the	derecognised	

non-controlling	interests	are	charged	to	profit	or	loss.

The	unwinding	of	the	present	value	discount	on	this	financial	liability	is	recorded	in	finance	charges.	The	financial	liability	

is	fair	valued	at	the	end	of	each	financial	year	and	any	changes	in	the	fair	value	of	the	liability	as	a	result	of	changes	in	

assumptions	used	to	estimate	the	future	option	price	are	also	recognised	in	profit	and	loss.

Once	the	put	option	is	exercisable,	the	option	price	variables	are	known	and	calculated	in	terms	of	the	contract.	Refer	to	Note	22.

Trade and other receivables

Trade	 receivables	 are	 recognised	 initially	 at	 the	 amount	 of	 the	 consideration	 that	 is	 unconditional.	 Trade	 and	 other	

receivables	are	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost	less	loss	allowances.	

The	group	has	adopted	the	simplified	credit	loss	model	which	recognises	a	loss	allowance	for	expected	credit	losses	on	

trade	and	other	receivables,	excluding	VAT	and	prepayments.	This	amount	of	expected	credit	 losses	 is	updated	at	each	

reporting	date.	The	group	measures	this	 loss	allowance	at	an	amount	equal	 to	 lifetime	expected	credit	 losses	(lifetime	

ECL),	which	represents	the	expected	credit	losses	that	will	result	from	all	possible	default	events	over	the	expected	life	of	

the	receivable.	

Measurement	and	recognition	of	expected	credit	losses

The	group	makes	use	of	a	provision	matrix	as	a	practical	expedient	to	the	determination	of	expected	credit	losses	on	trade	

and	other	receivables.	The	provision	matrix	is	based	on	historic	credit	loss	experience,	adjusted	for	factors	that	are	specific	

to	 the	 receivables,	 general	 economic	 conditions	 such	 as	 GDP	 growth,	 number	 of	 liquidations,	 business	 and	 consumer	

confidence	and	an	assessment	of	both	the	current	and	forecast	direction	of	conditions	at	the	reporting	date,	including	the	

time	value	of	money,	where	these	are	expected	to	be	significantly	different	in	the	future.

An	impairment	gain	or	loss	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	with	a	corresponding	adjustment	to	the	carrying	amount	of	trade	

and	other	receivables,	through	use	of	a	loss	allowance	account.	The	impairment	loss	is	included	in	operating	expenses	in	

profit	or	loss	as	a	movement	in	credit	loss	allowance	(Note	4).	
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2. Basis of preparation	(continued)
2.7 Financial instruments (continued)

Write off policy

The	group	writes	off	a	receivable	when	there	is	information	indicating	that	the	counterparty	is	in	severe	financial	difficulty	

and	there	is	no	realistic	prospect	of	recovery,	e.g.	when	the	counterparty	has	been	placed	under	liquidation	or	has	entered	

into	 bankruptcy	 proceedings.	 Receivables	 written	 off	 may	 still	 be	 subject	 to	 enforcement	 activities	 under	 the	 group	

recovery,	taking	into	account	legal	advice	where	appropriate.	Any	recoveries	made	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade	payables	are	subsequently	remeasured	at	amortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash	 and	 cash	 equivalents	 comprise	 bank	 balances,	 money	 market	 instruments	 and	 call	 deposits.	 Cash	 and	 cash	

equivalents	are	measured	at	amortised	cost.

Forward exchange contracts (“FECs”) 

The	 group	 enters	 into	 forward	 contracts	 in	 order	 to	 economically	 hedge	 its	 exposure	 to	 foreign	 exchange	 risk.		

Derivatives	are	initially	recognised	at	fair	value	at	the	date	a	derivative	contract	is	entered	into	and	subsequently	held	at	

fair	value	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	within	“other	receivables”	or	“other	payables”	(as	applicable).	Changes	in	

the	fair	value	of	any	derivative	instruments	are	recognised	immediately	in	profit	and	loss.

Impairment of financial assets

From	1	July	2018,	the	group	calculates	an	allowance	for	expected	credit	losses	(“ECLs”)	on	a	forward-looking	basis	for	

financial	assets	measured	at	amortised	cost.	Credit	losses	are	measured	based	on	ECLs,	being	the	present	value	of	all	

cash	shortfalls	over	its	lifetime.	

Before	July	2018,	all	financial	assets	were	measured	at	amortised	cost	and	assessed	for	indicators	of	impairment	at	each	

reporting	date.	The	amount	of	 the	 impairment	 is	 the	difference	between	the	asset’s	carrying	amount	and	 its	estimated	

future	cash	flows.	Impairment	losses	and	loss	reversals	were	recognised	in	profit	and	loss.

2.8 Revenue recognition
The	group	recognises	revenue	when	it	satisfies	a	performance	obligation	and	when	control	is	transferred	to	a	customer.	

Revenue	 is	 measured	 based	 on	 the	 transaction	 price	 specified	 in	 the	 contract	 with	 the	 customer	 and	 is	 shown	 net	 of		

value	added	taxes,	estimated	returns,	rebates	and	discounts	after	eliminating	sales	within	the	group.	All	revenue	is	from	

the	sale	of	merchandise	and	 is	recognised	at	 the	point	 in	time	when	the	customer	accepts	delivery	and	the	transfer	of	

control	of	the	merchandise.	Payment	is	typically	due	within	60	to	120	days	from	date	of	invoice.	The	contracts	do	not	provide	

for	a	significant	benefit	of	financing	the	transfer	of	merchandise	to	the	customer.	

Sales-related	 warranties	 are	 not	 separate	 performance	 obligations	 as	 they	 serve	 as	 assurance	 that	 the	 products	 sold	

comply	with	agreed	upon	specifications	and	cannot	be	purchased	separately.

The	group	recognises	revenue	from	the	sale	of	merchandise	to	the	following	types	of	customers:	wholesale;	retail;	cash;	

mining	and	industry;	exports	and	other.	

2.9 Employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefits

The	cost	of	all	short-term	benefits	are	recognised	during	the	period	in	which	the	employee	renders	the	related	service.	

The	accruals	for	employee	entitlements	to	salaries,	bonus	and	annual	leave	represent	the	amount	which	the	group	has	a	

present	 obligation	 to	 pay	 as	 a	 result	 of	 employees’	 services	 provided	 to	 the	 reporting	 date.	 These	 accruals	 have	 been	

calculated	at	undiscounted	amounts	based	on	current	salary	rates.
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Retirement benefits

The	 group	 contributes	 to	 defined	 contribution	 funds.	 Contributions	 to	 defined	 contribution	 funds	 are	 recognised	 as	 an	

expense	as	incurred.

2.10 Operating leases
Leases	of	assets	under	which	all	the	risks	and	benefits	of	ownership	are	effectively	retained	by	the	lessor	are	classified	as	

operating	leases.	Payments	made	under	operating	leases	are	charged	to	profit	or	loss	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	

period	of	the	lease.	The	difference	between	the	amounts	expensed	and	paid	gives	rise	to	an	asset	or	a	liability.

2.11 Income tax
Current tax

The	charge	 for	current	 tax	 is	based	on	 the	results	 for	 the	year	adjusted	 for	 items	which	are	 tax	exempt	or	are	not	 tax	

deductible.	Tax	is	calculated	using	rates	that	have	been	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	at	the	reporting	date.

Deferred tax

Deferred	 tax	 is	 recognised	 on	 the	 temporary	 differences	 between	 the	 carrying	 amounts	 and	 tax	 bases	 of	 assets	 and	

liabilities	shown	on	the	statement	of	financial	position.	

Deferred	tax	liabilities	are	generally	recognised	for	all	taxable	temporary	differences.	Deferred	tax	assets	are	generally	

recognised	for	all	deductible	temporary	differences	to	the	extent	that	it	 is	probable	that	taxable	profits	will	be	available	

against	which	those	deductible	temporary	differences	can	be	utilised.

Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	measured	at	the	tax	rates	that	are	expected	to	apply	to	the	period	when	the	asset	is	

realised	or	the	liability	is	settled,	based	on	tax	rates	(and	tax	laws)	that	have	been	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	by	the	

reporting	date.

2.12 Dividends
Dividend	distributions	to	the	company’s	shareholders	are	recognised	as	a	liability	in	the	group’s	financial	statements	in	the	

period	in	which	the	dividends	are	approved	by	the	company’s	directors.

2.13 Contingencies 
Contingent	liabilities	are	a	possible	obligation	whose	existence	will	be	confirmed	by	a	future	event	or	a	present	obligation	

which	cannot	be	recognised	because	the	probability	of	an	outflow	is	remote	or	the	amount	cannot	be	measured	reliably.

2.14 Foreign currency transactions
Foreign	currency	transactions	are	converted	to	the	respective	functional	currency	at	the	rate	of	exchange	ruling	at	the	date	

of	the	transaction.	Gains	or	losses	on	translation	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	At	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	foreign	

currency	monetary	items	are	translated	using	the	closing	rate.	Exchange	differences	arising	on	settlement	of	monetary	

items	or	on	translating	monetary	items	at	rates	different	from	those	at	which	they	were	translated	on	initial	recognition	

during	the	period,	or	in	previous	consolidated	financial	statements,	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	period	in	which	

they	arise.

2.15 Interest income
Interest	income	is	recognised	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.

2.16 Earnings per share and headline earnings per share
Earnings	per	share	is	based	on	earnings	attributable	to	ordinary	shareholders	divided	by	the	weighted	average	number	of	

ordinary	shares	in	issue	during	the	year.	Headline	earnings	per	share	is	based	on	the	same	calculation	as	earnings	per	

share	 except	 that	 attributable	 earnings	 specifically	 excludes	 items	 as	 set	 out	 in	 Circular	 4/2018:	 “Headline	 Earnings”	

issued	by	the	South	African	Institute	of	Chartered	Accountants.
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2.17 Operating segments

Operating	 segments	 are	 reported	 in	 a	 manner	 consistent	 with	 the	 internal	 reporting	 provided	 to	 the	 chief	 operating	

decision-maker.	 The	 chief	 operating	 decision	 making	 body	 who	 is	 responsible	 for	 allocating	 resources	 and	 assessing	

operating	segments	has	been	identified	as	the	group	CEO.	

Segment	 operating	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 are	 only	 those	 that	 can	 be	 specifically	 identified	 within	 a	 particular	 segment.		

Sales	 between	 segments	 are	 carried	 out	 on	 an	 arm’s	 length	 basis	 at	 competitive	 market-related	 prices	 based	 on	 the	

volumes	involved.

2.18 New and amended standards adopted by the group
The	group	has	adopted	all	new	accounting	standards	that	became	effective	in	the	current	reporting	period.	The	following	

standards	have	an	impact	on	the	group:
	� IFRS	9	Financial	instruments;
	� IFRS	15	Revenue	from	contracts	with	customers;	and
	� Interpretation	22	foreign	currency	transactions	and	advance	consideration.

2.18.1 Application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In	the	current	year,	the	group	has	applied	IFRS	9	Financial	Instruments	(as	revised	in	July	2014)	and	the	related	

consequential	 amendments	 to	 other	 IFRSs.	 The	 group	 has	 applied	 IFRS	 9	 in	 accordance	 with	 the	 transition	

provisions	set	out	in	IFRS	9.	Comparative	information	has	not	been	restated.

The	directors	reviewed	and	assessed	the	group	existing	financial	assets	as	at	1	July	2018	based	on	the	facts	and	

circumstances	that	existed	at	the	date	and	concluded	that	the	initial	application	of	IFRS	has	not	had	a	material	

impact	on	the	group’s	financial	assets	as	regards	to	their	classification	and	measurement.

Measurement category Carrying amount

IAS	39 IFRS	9

30	June
	2018

(R000s)

1	July	
2018

(R000s) Difference

Current financial assets

Cash	and	cash		
equivalents	(Note	16)

Loans	and
	receivables	 Amortised	cost 259	420 259	420 –

Trade	and	other		
receivables	(Note	15)

Loans	and
	receivables Amortised	cost 387	934 387	934 –

Non-current  
financial liabilities

Put	option		
liabilities	(Note	22) FVTPL FVTPL 33	475 33	475 –

Current financial liabilities 

Put	option		
liabilities	(Note	22) FVTPL FVTPL 65	007 65	007

Loans	–	contingent		
consideration	(Note	21) FVTPL FVTPL 5	751 5	751 –

Trade	and	other		
payables	(Note	21) Amortised	cost Amortised	cost 306	624 306	624 –
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On	the	date	of	initial	application	on	1	July	2018,	the	only	reclassifications	were	financial	assets	which	have	been	

reclassified	from	loans	and	receivables	to	amortised	cost.	However	the	measurement	principles	are	still	the	same	

as	they	are	measured	at	amortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	method.	The	group’s	business	model	is	to	hold	

these	 for	 collection	 of	 contractual	 cash	 flows	 and	 the	 cash	 flows	 represent	 solely	 payments	 of	 principal	 and	

interest	of	the	principal	amount.

Impairments

Before	the	adoption	of	IFRS	9,	the	group	calculated	the	allowance	for	credit	losses	using	the	incurred	loss	model.	

Under	the	incurred	loss	model,	the	group	assessed	whether	there	was	any	objective	evidence	of	impairment	at	

the	end	of	each	reporting	period.	If	such	evidence	existed	the	allowance	for	credit	losses	in	respect	of	financial	

assets	 at	 amortised	 cost	 were	 calculated	 as	 the	 difference	 between	 the	 asset’s	 carrying	 amount	 and	 its	

recoverable	amount,	being	its	present	value	of	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	discounted	at	the	original	effective	

interest	rate	(“EIR”).

Under	IFRS	9,	the	group	calculates	the	allowance	for	credit	losses	based	on	the	expected	credit	losses	(“ECLs”)	

for	 financial	 assets	 measured	 at	 amortised	 cost.	 ECLs	 are	 a	 probability	 weighted	 estimate	 of	 credit	 losses.		

Credit	losses	measured	as	the	present	value	of	all	cash	shortfalls,	being	the	difference	between	the	cash	flows	

to	 the	 group	 in	 accordance	 with	 the	 contract	 and	 the	 cash	 flows	 that	 the	 group	 expects	 to	 receive.	 ECLs	 are	

discounted	off	the	original	EIR	of	the	financial	asset.

2.18.2 Application of IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 

In	 the	 current	 year,	 the	 group	 has	 also	 applied	 IFRS	 15	 Revenue	 from	 contracts	 with	 customers	 which	 was	

effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	after	1	July	2018.	The	group’s	accounting	policies	are	set	out	in	Note	2.8.	

The	group	applied	the	standard	retrospectively,	but	there	was	no	material	impact	on	the	results	other	than	the	

additional	disclosure	required.	

2.19 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been 
adopted early by the group
The	group	has	chosen	not	to	early	adopt	the	following	standards	and	interpretations,	which	have	been	published	and	are	

mandatory	for	the	group’s	accounting	periods	beginning	on	1	July	2019:

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS	 16	 Leases	 is	 a	 new	 standard	 which	 replaces	 IAS	 17	 Leases,	 and	 introduces	 a	 single	 lessee	 accounting	 model.		

The	main	changes	arising	from	the	issue	of	IFRS	16	which	are	likely	to	impact	the	group	are	as	follows:

Group as lessee:
	� Lessees	are	required	to	recognise	a	right-of-use	asset	and	a	lease	liability	for	all	leases,	except	short-term	leases	or	

leases	where	the	underlying	asset	has	a	low	value,	which	are	expensed	on	a	straight-line	or	other	systematic	basis.
	� The	cost	of	the	right-of-use	asset	includes,	where	appropriate,	the	initial	amount	of	the	lease	liability;	lease	payments	

made	prior	to	commencement	of	the	lease	less	incentives	received;	initial	direct	costs	of	the	lessee;	and	an	estimate	

for	any	provision	for	dismantling,	restoration	and	removal	related	to	the	underlying	asset.
	� The	lease	liability	takes	into	consideration,	where	appropriate,	fixed	and	variable	lease	payments;	residual	value	guarantee	

to	be	made	by	the	lessee;	exercise	price	of	purchase	options;	and	payments	of	penalties	for	terminating	the	lease.
	� The	 right-of-use	 asset	 is	 subsequently	 measured	 on	 the	 cost	 model	 at	 cost	 less	 accumulated	 depreciation	 and	

impairment	 and	 adjusted	 for	 any	 remeasurement	 of	 the	 lease	 liability.	 If	 a	 right-of-use	 asset	 relates	 to	 a	 class	 of	

property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 which	 is	 measured	 on	 the	 revaluation	 model,	 then	 that	 right-of-use	 asset	 may	 be	

measured	on	the	revaluation	model.
	� The	lease	liability	is	subsequently	increased	by	interest,	reduced	by	lease	payments	and	re-measured	for	reassessments	

or	modifications.
	� Remeasurements	of	lease	liabilities	are	affected	against	right-of-use	assets,	unless	the	assets	have	been	reduced	to	

nil,	in	which	case	further	adjustments	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.
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2. Basis of preparation	(continued)
2.19 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been 

adopted early by the group (continued)
	� The	lease	liability	is	remeasured	by	discounting	revised	payments	at	a	revised	rate	when	there	is	a	change	in	the	lease	

term	or	a	change	in	the	assessment	of	an	option	to	purchase	the	underlying	asset.
	� The	lease	liability	is	remeasured	by	discounting	revised	lease	payments	at	the	original	discount	rate	when	there	is	a	

change	in	the	amounts	expected	to	be	paid	in	a	residual	value	guarantee	or	when	there	is	a	change	in	future	payments	

because	of	a	change	in	index	or	rate	used	to	determine	those	payments.
	� Certain	lease	modifications	are	accounted	for	as	separate	leases.	When	lease	modifications	which	decrease	the	scope	

of	the	lease	are	not	required	to	be	accounted	for	as	separate	leases,	then	the	lessee	remeasures	the	lease	liability	by	

decreasing	the	carrying	amount	of	the	right	of	lease	asset	to	reflect	the	full	or	partial	termination	of	the	lease.	Any	gain	

or	 loss	 relating	 to	 the	 full	 or	 partial	 termination	 of	 the	 lease	 is	 recognised	 in	 profit	 or	 loss.	 For	 all	 other	 lease	

modifications	which	are	not	required	to	be	accounted	for	as	separate	leases,	the	lessee	remeasures	the	lease	liability	

by	making	a	corresponding	adjustment	to	the	right-of-use	asset.	
	� Right-of-use	assets	and	lease	liabilities	should	be	presented	separately	from	other	assets	and	liabilities.	If	not,	then	

the	 line	 item	 in	 which	 they	 are	 included	 must	 be	 disclosed.	 This	 does	 not	 apply	 to	 right-of-use	 assets	 meeting	 the	

definition	 of	 investment	 property	 which	 must	 be	 presented	 within	 investment	 property.	 IFRS	 16	 contains	 different	

disclosure	requirements	compared	to	IAS	17	leases.	

The	effective	date	of	the	standard	for	the	group	is	for	years	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2019.	The	expected	impact	of	this	

standard	on	the	2020	financial	results	is	set	out	below:

The	group	will	use	 the	 ”modified	 retrospective	approach”	and	 raise	a	 “right-of-use	asset”	equivalent	 to	 the	amortised	

“right-of-use	liability”	of	R84,53m	on	1	July	2019.	The	effect	on	net	profits	before	tax	for	the	year	to	30	June	2020	will	be	

R3,40m,	and	after	a	deferred	tax	adjustment	of	R0,95m,	the	effect	on	equity	at	30	June	2020	is	expected	to	be	R2,45m.	

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019

Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

3. Revenue

Revenue	from	contracts	with	customers

	� Sale	of	merchandise 2 706 186 2	590	150

Electrical 2 096 520 2	117	590

Lighting 605 258 465	577

Corporate	 4 408 6	983

Disaggregated revenue by operation 2 706 186 2	590	150

Disaggregation of revenue from customers

The	group	disaggregation	revenue	from	customers	is	as	follows:

Wholesale 413 173 314	056

Retail 329 999 285	026

Cash 490 909 433	524

Mining	and	industry 1 011 648 1	135	298

Exports 172 614 198	381

Other 287 843 223	865

Disaggregated revenue by customer type 2 706 186 2	590	150

There	are	no	remaining	performance	obligations	at	year-end.	

4. Profit before interest and tax

Profit	before	interest	and	tax	is	arrived	at	after	taking	into	account	the	following	items:

Income

Exchange	rate	profits	on	foreign	exchange – 1	505

Put	option	fair	value	adjustment 22 21 248 26	000

Expenditure

Depreciation	and	amortisation 11/12 15 760 13	695

Exchange	rate	losses	on	foreign	exchange 185 579

Auditors’	remuneration 2 074 1	685

Operating	lease	charges	–	premises 69 509 51	127

Allowance	for	impairment	–	inventory 14 (6 911) 4	749

Credit	loss	allowance	–	accounts	receivable 15 (509) 119

Impairment	of	land 11 2 500 –

Loss	on	disposal	of	property,	plant	and	equipment 502 26

Dividends	paid	to	derecognised	NCI	now	expensed 4 060 4	800
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019

2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

5. Staff costs

Short-term	employee	benefits 208 012 178	627

Contributions	to	retirement	funds 17 005 15	885

Other	employment	benefits 13 054 12	173

Retrenchment	cost 2 235 –

Other	staff	costs 9 322 10	753

249 628 217	438

Staff	costs	include	key	management	personnel	(as	defined	in	Note	23)	and	exclude	directors’	remuneration	(Note	23).

Short-term	employee	benefits	comprise	salaries,	commissions	and	bonuses	paid.

Other	 employment	 benefits	 comprise	 travel	 allowances,	 fringe	 benefits	 on	 the	 use	 of	 company	 vehicles	 and	 contributions	 to	

medical	aid	funds.	Other	staff	costs	comprise	accruals	raised	but	not	paid	in	respect	of	the	future	liability	for	bonuses,	as	well	as	

staff	training	and	related	expenditure.

Employee benefits
Defined contribution plan

It	is	the	policy	of	the	group	to	provide	retirement	benefits	to	all	its	employees.	A	number	of	defined	contribution	provident	and	

pension	funds,	all	of	which	are	governed	by	the	Pension	Funds	Act	of	1956,	exist	for	this	purpose.	These	include	the	Alexander	

Forbes	 Retirement	 Fund,	 Investment	 Solutions,	 Liberty	 Corporate	 Provident	 Fund	 and	 Momentum	 Funds	 at	 Work.	 All	 the	

schemes	are	funded	by	group	contributions,	which	are	charged	to	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income	as	they	are	incurred.	

Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

6. Interest received
Financial	institutions 14 198 20	381

Trade	receivables 7 023 5	718

21 221 26	099

7. Interest paid
Unwinding	of	put	option	liability	discount	to	present	value	 22 (1 766) (1	558)

Related	parties (2 085) –

(3 851) (1	558)
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Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

8. Tax
SA	normal	tax

	� Current	tax 28.2 (47 463) (64	586)

	� Prior	years 28.2 – 609

Deferred	tax

	� Current	year	temporary	differences (1 726) 757

Tax	for	the	year (49 189) (63	220)

% %

SA	normal	tax	rate 28.00 28.00

Adjusted	for:

Exempt	income

	� Change	in	put	option	liability	carrying	value (3.06) (2.57)	

	� Gain	from	a	bargain	purchase	of	Radiant (2.71) –

	� Other (0.69) –

Expenses	not	deductible

	� Goodwill	write	off	not	deductible 2.65 –

	� NCI	dividends	expensed 0.61 –

Tax	loss	utilised 0.51 –

Special	allowances – (0.62)

Effective	rate	of	tax 25.31 24.81

The	group	has	estimated	income	tax	losses	of	R112,3m	(2018:	Rnil)	and	capital	losses	of	R10,1m	available	for	offset	against	future	

taxable	income	and	capital	gains	in	the	specific	companies.

Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

9. Total other comprehensive income
Revaluation	of	land 5 300 7	220

Revaluation	of	buildings (2 561) (4	408)

11 2 739 2	812

Tax	on	revaluation	of	land (1 187) (1	617)

Tax	on	revaluation	of	buildings 717 1	234

Total	deferred	tax 13 (470) (383)

Total	other	comprehensive	income 2 269 2	429

The	tax	charge	in	respect	of	land	is	calculated	at	the	effective	capital	gains	tax	(“CGT”)	rate.
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10. Earnings and dividends per share
There	are	no	instruments	that	have	a	dilutive	impact	on	the	shares	in	issue.

2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

10.1 Basic and diluted earnings per share
Basic	earnings	as	disclosed 134 977 168	496
Weighted	number	of	shares 235 000 235	000
Basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share	(cents) 57.44 71.70

10.2 Headline and diluted headline earnings per share
Basic	earnings	as	disclosed 134 977 168	496
Impairment	of	land:	gross	R2	500	(2018:	Rnil) Net 1 800 –
Gain	from	a	bargain	purchase:	gross	(R18	779)	(2018:	Rnil) Net (18 779) –
Impairment	of	goodwill:	gross	R18	410	(2018:	Rnil) Net 18 410 –
Loss	on	disposal	of	property,	plant	and	equipment:	Gross	R502	(2018:	R26) Net 370 3

Headline	earnings 136 778 168	499

Headline	and	diluted	earnings	per	share	(cents) 58.20 71.70

10.3 Dividends per share
Dividends	declared	and	paid	during	the	year 82 250 82	250
Number	of	shares 235 000 235	000

Dividends	per	share	(cents) 35.00 35.0

Ordinary	dividend	per	share	(cents) 25.00 25.0
Special	dividend	per	share	(cents) 10.00 10.0

The	final	dividend	for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019	which	has	only	been	declared	after	year	end	has	not	been	included	as	

a	liability	in	the	financial	statements.

2019 2018

Cost/
 valuation

(R000s)

Accu-
mulated

 depreciation
 and

 impairment
(R000s)

Carrying
 value

(R000s)

Cost/
	valuation

(R000s)

Accu-
mulated

	depreciation
(R000s)

Carrying
	value

(R000s)

11. Property, plant and equipment
Group
Land 154 449 2 500 151 949 149	149 – 149	149
Buildings 199 137 2 649 196 488 127	736 1	721 126	015
Plant	and	equipment 32 551 13 866 18 685 24	341 10	665 13	676
Vehicles 47 319 19 327 27 992 43	453 18	928 24	525
Office	furniture	and	fittings 13 097 5 683 7 414 15	387 5	986 9	401
Leasehold	improvements 3 389 1 939 1 450 3	227 1	479 1	748
Office	equipment 5 167 1 703 3 464 4	090 1	459 2	631
Computer	equipment 11 219 5 779 5 440 8	885 4	707 4	178

466 328 53 446 412 882 376	268 44	945 331	323

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019
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The	carrying	amounts	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	can	be	reconciled	as	follows:

Carrying
 value at

 beginning
 of year
(R000s)

Additions
(R000s)

Business
 combination

(R000s)

Reva-
luation
(R000s) 

Disposals
(R000s)

Depreciation
 and

 impairment
(R000s)

Carrying 
value at

end of year
(R000s)

2019

Land 149 149 – – 5 300 – (2 500) 151 949

Buildings 126 015 73 962 – (2 561) – (928) 196 488

Plant	and	equipment 13 676 5 007 3 731 – (340) (3 389) 18 685

Vehicles 24 525 9 264 1 541 – (2 671) (4 667) 27 992

Office	furniture	and	fittings 9 401 879 531 – (826) (2 571) 7 414

Leasehold	improvements 1 748 118 43 – – (459) 1 450

Office	equipment 2 631 649 845 – (115) (546) 3 464

Computer	equipment 4 178 3 213 573 – (104) (2 419) 5 440

331 323 93 092 7 263 2 739 (4 056) (17 479) 412 882

2018

Land 104	336 37	593 – 7	220 – – 149	149

Buildings 83	798 47	112 – (4	408) – (487) 126	015

Plant	and	equipment 11	593 4	959 – – – (2	876) 13	676

Vehicles 22	435 10	157 – – (3	164) (4	903) 24	525

Office	furniture	and	fittings 7	318 4	303 – – (13) (2	207) 9	401

Leasehold	improvements 2	182 29 – – – (463) 1	748

Office	equipment 1	884 2	002 – – (576) (679) 2	631

Computer	equipment 3	834 2	302 – – (35) (1	923) 4	178

237	380 108	457 – 2	812 (3	788) (13	538) 331	323

A	 register	 of	 land	 and	 buildings	 is	 available	 to	 shareholders	 at	 the	 registered	 office	 of	 the	 company.	 No	 property,	 plant	 and	

equipment	has	been	provided	as	security.	 If	 the	cost	model	had	been	applied,	the	carrying	value	of	the	land	would	have	been	

R75,9m	(2018:	R78,4m)	and	the	buildings	would	have	been	R209,4m	(2018:	R102,6m).	The	company	has	a	“call	option”	to	acquire	

the	property	held	by	a	company	controlled	by	certain	key	management	of	one	of	the	subsidiary	companies	(Eurolux)	for	cash	at	

externally	appraised	market	value	at	date	of	exercise	of	the	option.	

The	fair	value	of	properties	is	determined	every	three	years	and,	in	the	intervening	years,	are	updated	annually	by	an	independent	

professionally	qualified	valuator,	Glen	MacMillan	(M.I.V.S.A.;	S.A.C.V.	No.	2964)	who	has	30	years’	valuation	experience	and	has	

recent	experience	in	the	locations	and	categories	of	properties	being	valued.	These	full	fair	value	valuations	were	determined	at	

30	June	2017	using	the	income	method	based	on	market-related	rentals	for	the	combined	valuation	and	the	comparable	method	

for	land	valuation.	This	involved	estimating	the	future	net	annual	income	of	the	properties	and	capitalising	this	at	an	appropriate	

discount	 rate.	 In	 updating	 the	 valuations	 at	 30	 June	 2019,	 the	 valuer	 referred	 to	 the	 current	 market	 conditions,	 recent	 sales	

transactions	of	similar	properties	in	similar	geographical	locations	and	the	present	value	of	future	rental	income	to	be	earned	in	

respect	of	the	properties	in	their	current	condition.	In	estimating	the	fair	value	of	the	land	and	buildings,	the	highest	and	best	use	

is	their	current	use.	There	has	been	no	change	in	the	valuation	technique	used	during	the	prior	full	valuation	or	two	previous	year’	

interim	valuations.	The	fair	value	measurement	of	land	and	buildings	has	been	classified	at	a	level	3	(2018:	level	3).	There	were	

no	transfers	between	fair	value	levels	1,	2	or	3	during	the	year.	
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11. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The	only	significant	key	assumptions	used	in	the	fair	value	measurement	are	as	follows:

Material assumptions
2019

%
2018

%

Average	capitalisation	rate 11.58 11.50
Average	cost	ratio 27.05 24.88

If	the	average	capitalisation	rate	changed	by	0.50%	upwards	or	downwards	then	the	fair	value	adjustment	to	the	portfolio	carrying	

value	would	have	decreased	by	R8,4m	(2018:	R8,2m)	and	increased	by	R9,1m	(2018:	R8,2m)	respectively.

If	the	average	cost	ratio	changed	by	2.00%	upwards	or	downwards	then	the	fair	value	adjustment	to	the	portfolio	carrying	value	

would	have	decreased	by	R5,4m	(2018:	R4,0m)	and	increased	by	R5,4m	(2018:	R4,6m)	respectively.

12. Goodwill and intangible assets
2019 2018

Cost
(R000s) 

Accumulated
 impairment/
amortisation

(R000s)

Carrying
 value

(R000s)
Cost

(R000s)	

Accumulated
	impairment/
	amortisation

(R000s)

Carrying	
value

(R000s)

Group

Goodwill 36 357 (18 410) 17 947 36	357 – 36	357

Trademarks	 58 500 – 58 500 58	500 – 58	500

Software	costs 1 561 (1 561) – 1	561 (780) 781

96 418 (19 971) 76 447 96	418 (780) 95	638

None	of	these	intangibles	have	been	pledged,	have	contractual	commitments	or	whose	title	is	restricted.	Goodwill	is	allocated	to	

the	 cash-generating	 units	 (“CGU”)	 being	 the	 business	 operations	 of	 the	 operating	 companies	 Eurolux	 (Pty)	 Ltd	 and	 CraigCor	

Distribution	Co	(Pty)	Ltd.	The	carrying	amounts	of	goodwill	and	intangible	assets	can	be	reconciled	as	follows:

Carrying 
value at the

 beginning of
 the year

(R000s)

Arising on
 acquisition of

 CraigCor
(R000s)

Impairment/
amortisation

(R000s)

Carrying
 value at 
the end 

of the year
(R000s)

2019
Goodwill	–	Eurolux 18 410 – (18 410) –
Trademark	–	Eurolux	brand 58 500 – – 58 500
Goodwill	–	CraigCor 17 947 – – 17 947
Software	costs	 781 – (781) –

95 638 – (19 191) 76 447

2018
Goodwill	–	Eurolux	 18	410 – – 18	410
Trademark	–	Eurolux	brand 58	500 – – 58	500
Goodwill	–	CraigCor – 17	947 – 17	947
Software	costs 938 – (157) 781

77	848 17	947 (157) 95	638

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019
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12. Goodwill and intangible assets (continued)
Intangible	assets	have	been	valued	on	a	value-in-use	basis	as	stated	in	Note	2.4.	Impairment	tests	relating	to	the	Eurolux	trademark	
and	goodwill	was	conducted	as	a	single	CGU.	The	Eurolux	goodwill	has	been	impaired	as	the	carrying	amount	of	the	CGU	including	
goodwill	is	greater	that	the	recoverable	amount	of	the	CGU	to	the	extent	of	the	goodwill.	The	impairment	loss	was	recognised	due	
to	the	recoverable	amount	being	adversely	impacted	by	pressure	on	the	projected	future	gross	margins	resulting	from	the	anticipated	
tougher	retail	market	conditions	ahead.	The	Eurolux	trademark	is	currently	believed	to	have	an	indefinite	useful	life	as	the	brand	is	
increasing	its	market	share	and	there	is	no	foreseeable	limit	to	the	period	that	this	brand	will	be	generating	net	cash	inflows	for	the	
group.	 Amortisation	 is	 included	 in	 the	 “selling	 and	 administration	 costs”	 line	 item	 in	 the	 statement	 of	 comprehensive	 income.	
Impairments	are	presented	as	a	separate	line	on	the	face	of	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income.	

As	set	out	in	the	accounting	policies,	impairments	are	assessed	using	the	discounted	cash	flow	basis.	Cash	flows	are	estimated	
over	five	years,	whereafter	an	inperpetuity	growth	is	estimated.	In	performing	the	cash	flow	projections,	management	has	based	
its	key	assumptions	on	past	experience	and	external	sources	of	information,	such	as	industry	sector	reports,	economic	indicators	
and	 market	 expectations.	 In	 the	 absence	 of	 specific	 strategies,	 assumptions	 are	 generally	 consistent	 with	 past	 turnover	 and	
operating	margins.	Key	assumptions	used	in	the	projections	are:	

Subsidiary
Discount 

rate
Growth 

rate
Terminal

 growth rate

Discount rate
 required for
 impairment#

2019
Eurolux 12.16% 7.0% 4.0% 12.16%
CraigCor 15.1% 12.0% 4.0% 19.80%

2018
Eurolux 12.6% 8.0% 4.0% 15.12%
CraigCor 15.6% (*) 4.0% 27.20%

*	 Various	annual	growth	rates	used	in	the	acquisition	plan	averaging	at	35%.	
#	 	The	discounted	cash	flows	are	most	sensitive	to	changes	in	the	discount	rate.	In	the	prior	year,	Eurolux	was	most	sensitive	to	a	change	in	the	discount	

rate	and	CraigCor	the	growth	rate.

Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

13. Deferred tax
Carrying	value	at	the	beginning	of	the	year (33 704) (34	674)
Movements	during	the	year	attributable	to:
Revaluation	of	land	and	buildings (470) (246)

	� Adjustment	to	prior	year (2 047) –
Intangible	assets 219 44
Property,	plant	and	equipment (2 382) (271)

	� Adjustment	to	prior	year 2 047 –
Arising	on	acquisition	of	CraigCor 26.1 – 596
Impairments	and	staff	accruals 438 847

Carrying value at the end of the year (35 900) (33	704)

The	carrying	value	comprises:
Revaluation	of	land	and	buildings (23 127) (20	610)
Intangible	assets (16 380) (16	599)
Property,	plant	and	equipment (6 762) (6	426)
Impairments	and	staff	accruals 10 369 9	931

(35 900) (33	704)
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Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

13. Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred	tax	liability (42 937) (41	922)

Deferred	tax	asset 7 037 8	218

(35 900) (33	704)

Balance	at	1	July	 (33 704) (34	674)

Current	year	charge	

	� Current	year	timing	differences 8 (1 726) 757

Included	in	other	comprehensive	income	 9 (470) (383)

Arising	on	acquisition	of	CraigCor	 – 596

Balance at year-end (35 900) (33	704)

Subsidiaries	of	the	group	have	estimated	deferred	tax	assets	of	R31,4m	(2018:	Rnil)	which	have	not	been	recognised	in	the	current	

year	due	to	the	uncertainty	regarding	the	probability	that	future	taxable	profit	will	be	available	to	utilise	these	losses.

2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

14. Inventory
Merchandise	for	resale 666 736 536	584

Allowance	for	impairment	 (59 366) (28	410)

607 370 508	174

Inventory	has	been	valued	as	stated	in	Note	2.6.	Inventory	has	not	been	pledged	as	security.

Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

Impairment allowance

Allowance	for	impairment	in	respect	of	inventory	can	be	reconciled	as	follows:

Opening	carrying	value	 (28 410) (22	480)

Decrease/(increase)	in	impairment	allowance	recognised	in	cost	of	sales 	4 6 911 (4	749)

Utilised	to	write	off	stock – 176

Arising	on	acquisition	of	Radiant	and	GMC	(2018:	CraigCor) (37 867) (1	357)

Closing	carrying	value (59 366) (28	410)

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019
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Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

15. Trade and other receivables
Gross trade receivables 406 391 362	902

Expected	credit	loss	allowance (2 720) (2	528)

Provision	for	credit	notes (10 219) –

Net	trade	and	other	receivables 393 452 360	374

Deposits 6 066 –

Other	receivables	 8 476 27	560

Financial	instruments 407 944 387	934

VAT	refundable 4 808 5	973

412 802 393	907

The	carrying	value	of	trade	and	other	receivables	approximated	their	fair	value	due	to	the	short-term	nature	of	these	instruments.

2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

Expected credit loss allowance

The	allowance	can	be	reconciled	as	follows:

Opening	carrying	value (2 528) (3	746)

Provisions	in	businesses	acquired (1 450) –

Provision	utilised 749 1	337

Reversal	of	allowance 2 321 1	955

New	allowance	raised (1 812) (2	074)

Closing	carrying	value (2 720) (2	528)

The	following	table	illustrates	the	relationship	between	aged	gross	trade	receivables	and	the	impairment	allowance:

2019 2018

Estimated
 gross 

carrying
 amount at

 default
(R000s)

Loss 
allowance
 (lifetime

 expected 
credit loss)

(R000s)
Net

(R000s)

Gross	trade
	receivable

(R000s)

Impairment
	allowance

(R000s)
Net

(R000s)

Not	past	due 347 400 (681) 346 719 337	725 (943) 336	782

Past	due	1	to	30	days 40 982 (238) 40 744 16	595 (598) 15	997

Past	due	31	to	60	days 9 352 (112) 9 240 2	816 (279) 2	537

Past	due	61	to	90	days 345 (49) 296 – – –

Past	due	91	days	plus 8 312 (1 640) 6 672 5	766 (708) 5	058

406 391 (2 720) 403 671 362	902 (2	528) 360	374
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15. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Estimated	aggregated	credit	loss	rates	as	follows:

Electrical Lighting

Insured
%

Uninsured
%

Eurolux
%

Radiant
%

2019

Not	past	due	 0.04 0.48 0.02 0.29

Less	than	30	days	past	due 0.18 1.99 0.05 0.74

31	–	60	days	past	due 0.53 2.41 0.24 3.33

61	–	90	days	past	due 0.79 2.62 83.45 12.15

91+	days	past	due 0.79 2.62 83.45 100.00

Trade	receivables	inherently	expose	the	group	to	credit	risk,	being	the	risk	that	the	group	will	incur	financial	loss	if	customers	fail	

to	make	payments	as	they	fall	due.	The	ECL	allowance	was	calculated	based	on	amounts	as	per	age	analysis.	The	ECL	allowance	

is	therefore	based	on	past	due	status.	In	the	electrical	division	the	customers	are	disaggregated	between	those	insured	and	those	

not	insured.

The	estimation	techniques	explained	have	been	applied	for	the	first	time	in	the	current	financial	period,	as	a	result	of	the	adoption	

of	 IFRS	 9.	 Trade	 receivables	 were	 previously	 impaired	 only	 when	 there	 was	 objective	 evidence	 that	 the	 asset	 was	 impaired.		

The	 impairment	 was	 calculated	 as	 the	 difference	 between	 the	 carrying	 amount	 and	 the	 present	 value	 of	 the	 expected	 future	

cash	flows.

The	 gross	 trade	 receivables	 at	 the	 reporting	 date	 by	 type	 of	 customer	 was	 spread	 across	 the	 following	 categories:		

government/parastatals/municipalities;	large	industry/mining	sector;	large	contractors;	small	contractors;	wholesalers;	export	

customers;	and	retail	and	hardware	chains.	The	group’s	diverse	trade	receivable	balances	reduces	the	group’s	exposure	to	credit	

risk.	Interest	is	charged	on	some	of	the	overdue	accounts.	The	last	three	years	have	been	an	adverse	risk	period	and	insurers	

have	experienced	adverse	loss	ratios.

Credit	 risk	 in	 respect	 of	 group	 customers	 is	 reduced	 through	 the	 use	 of	 credit	 insurance.	 All	 receivables	 are	 insured	 except	

government,	parastatals,	group	accounts	and	accounts	less	than	R100	000	(2018:	R250	000).	R1,8m	(2018:	R3,1m)	of	insurance	

recoveries	 have	 been	 netted	 off	 the	 ECL	 of	 the	 insured	 debtors	 book.	 As	 at	 the	 year-end	 R149,7m	 (2018	 R219,8m)	 of	 trade	

receivables	were	not	covered	by	credit	insurance.	Credit	evaluations	are	performed,	using	the	reports	and	tools	of	credit	vetting	

agencies	 amongst	 other	 things,	 on	 new	 customers	 and	 existing	 customers	 requiring	 credit	 above	 their	 previously	 authorised	

levels.	 Listings	 of	 overdue	 customer	 balances	 are	 reviewed	 daily	 and	 any	 customers	 exceeding	 their	 credit	 must	 settle	 their	

overdue	balances	before	any	further	credit	is	extended.	Overdue	trade	receivables	are	handed	over	to	insurers	or	attorneys	for	

collection	 as	 soon	 as	 it	 becomes	 apparent	 that	 recovery	 may	 be	 uncertain.	 The	 credit	 risk	 in	 respect	 of	 other	 receivables	 is	

considered	by	the	directors	to	be	minimal	as	it	relates	to	transactions	with	major	corporations	within	the	Republic	of	South	Africa.	

As	at	the	year-end	R19,0m	(2018	R17,1m)	of	contractual	trade	receivables	were	written	off	during	the	year,	but	are	still	subject	

to	enforcement	activity.	Interest	is	levied	on	overdue	accounts.	While	some	personal	securities	are	held	for	accounts	receivable,	

reliance	is	placed	on	credit	insurance	as	the	primary	credit	protection	basis.

The	group	has	a	banking	facility	in	terms	of	which	certain	subsidiaries	have	ceded	their	book	debts	in	favour	of	Nedbank	Ltd	as	

security	for	this	facility.	R44,5m	of	this	facility	has	been	utilised	(2018:	R63,5m),	refer	to	Note	16	on	the	next	page.
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2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

16. Cash and cash equivalents
Money	market	instruments 125 779 207	643

Bank	balances	and	call	deposits 55 111 51	777

180 890 259	420

Money	market	instruments	are	collective	investments	in	various	cash	and	cash	equivalent	investments	with	a	24	hour	liquidity,	

mainly	 the	 NedGroup	 Core	 Income	 Fund	 R107,9m	 (2018:	 R185,5m)	 and	 Nedbank	 Deposit	 Notes	 R11,5m	 (2018:	 R21,8m)	 and	

Investec	money	market	funds	R6,4m	(2018:	Rnil).	Fair	value	approximates	the	carrying	amount	due	to	the	short-term	nature	of	

these	investments

The	 group	 has	 R169,5m	 of	 banking	 facilities	 with	 Nedbank	 Ltd.	 Of	 this	 facility,	 R44,5m	 (2018:	 R63,5m)	 was	 utilised	 at		

30	 June	 2019;	 R7,9m	 for	 overdraft	 facilities	 (2018:	 Rnil);	 R26,0m	 for	 supply	 chain	 finance	 (2018:	 Rnil);	 R3,3m	 for	 guarantees		

(2018:	R3,7m);	R6,6m	for	letters	of	credit	(2018:	R48,5m)	and	R0,7m	for	the	“marked”	percentage	of	forward	exchange	contracts	

(2018:	R3,5m).	Refer	to	Note	24.2	(Liquidity	risk).	

Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

17. Share capital and premium
Authorised

1	000	000	000	ordinary	shares	of	0.01	cents	each 100 100

Issued

235	000	000	ordinary	shares	of	0.01	cents 24 24

Share	premium 116 150 116	150

116 174 116	174

There	are	no	restrictions	attaching	to	these	shares.	There	are	no	limitations	on	the	payment	of	dividends	and	the	repayment	of	

capital.	There	are	no	share	option	schemes	so	no	shares	have	been	reserved	for	share	option	schemes.	There	are	no	treasury	

shares	repurchased	by	the	group.	The	directors	are	authorised,	until	the	forthcoming	annual	general	meeting,	to	issue	and	allot	

5%	of	the	unissued	shares	for	any	purpose	and	upon	such	terms	and	conditions	as	they	deem	fit.

Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

18. Reserves
Revaluation reserve

Balance	at	the	beginning	of	the	year 72 909 70	480

Revaluation	for	the	year 9 2 739 2	812

Less	deferred	tax	thereon 9/13 (470) (383)	

Balance	at	the	end	of	the	year 75 178 72	909

The	revaluation	reserve	is	a	reserve	that	represents	the	amount	by	which	land	and	buildings	have	been	revalued.	There	are	no	

restrictions	on	the	distribution	of	this	reserve.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

19. Short-term loans 38 851 –

Borrowings	represent	loans	made	by	the	NCIs	in	Eurolux	to	fund	their	 investment	in	Radiant,	bear	interest	at	prime	overdraft	

rates	and	are	repayable	on	demand.

Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

20. Deferred lease payments
Long-term	portion 1 598 631

Current	portion	–	included	in	accounts	payable 21 3 210 950

Total	deferred	lease	payments	arising	from	straight	lining	of	operating	leases 4 808 1	581

21. Trade and other payables
Trade	payables	 292 642 283	571

Accruals 38 764 23	053

Amounts	due	to	CraigCor	and	GMC	Powerlines	vendors 20 031 5	751

Financial instruments 24 351 437 312	375

Deferred	lease	payments 20 3 210 950

Leave	pay	and	payroll	accruals 16 301 15	243

VAT	payable 3 623 3	443

374 571 332	011

The	carrying	value	of	trade	and	other	payables	approximated	their	fair	value	due	to	the	short-term	nature	of	these	instruments.	

The	amount	due	 to	GMC	Powerlines	and	CraigCor	vendors	 is	 the	contingent	consideration	relating	 to	business	combinations.		

The	amount	due	to	the	GMC	Powerlines	vendor	is	contingent	on	the	determination	of	the	proceeds	from	the	subsequent	sale	of	

slow	moving	stock	acquired	at	acquisition	date.	The	amount	due	to	the	CraigCor	vendor	is	estimated	using	profit	projections	for	

the	12	month	period	ended	30	September	2019.	These	amounts	are	due	to	be	paid	out	in	the	next	12	months	and	are	not	expected	

to	change	materially.	Changes	in	amounts	due	to	vendors	are	set	out	in	Note	27.

Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

22. Put option liability
CraigCor put option liability

Balance	at	the	end	of	the	previous	year 33 475 –

Arising	on	acquisition – 31	917

Change	in	put	option	assumptions 4 (16 241) –

Unwinding	present	value	discount 7 1 766 1	558

Balance	at	the	end	of	the	year	shown	as	long-term	liability 19 000 33	475
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22. Put option liability (continued)
The	put	option	liability	is	in	respect	of	the	right	of	the	non-controlling	interests	in	a	subsidiary	CraigCor	to	put	their	remaining	
shareholding	to	the	group	at	a	multiple	of	60%	of	the	group’s	120-day	Volume	Weighted	Average	Price	Earnings	Multiple	(with	a	
minimum	 of	 4x	 and	 a	 maximum	 of	 7.5x)	 applied	 to	 the	 annual	 average	 of	 CraigCor’s	 last	 36	 months	 profit	 after	 tax	 prior	 to		
the	 option	 put	 date	 and	 immediately	 preceding	 the	 group’s	 most	 recent	 reporting	 period.	 This	 put	 option	 cannot	 be	 put	 until		
1	March	2023	at	the	earliest.	For	a	maturity	analysis	and	further	disclosures	refer	to	Note	24.2	and	24.6.	

Key	assumptions	used	 in	estimating	 the	CraigCor	put	option	 liability	are:	Average	growth	of	12%	 (2018:	35%),	price	earnings	
multiple	of	6.5x	and	a	discount	rate	at	the	incremental	borrowing	rate	of	10.25%	(2018:	10.0%).	If	the	multiple	had	been	increased	
to	7.5x	(the	cap)	the	liability	would	increase	by	R3,5m.	Correspondingly	if	the	multiple	was	decreased	to	5.5x	the	liability	would	
decrease	by	R2,7m.

Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

Eurolux put option liability

Balance	at	the	beginning	of	the	year 65 007 91	007

Fair	value	adjustment 4 (5 007) (26	000)

Balance	at	the	end	of	the	year	shown	as	short-term	liability 60 000 65	007

The	put	option	liability	is	currently	exercisable.	This	liability	is	in	respect	of	the	right	of	the	non-controlling	interests	in	a	subsidiary	
Eurolux	(Pty)	Ltd	to	put	their	remaining	shareholding	to	the	group	at	a	multiple	of	60%	of	the	group’s	120-day	Volume	Weighted	
Average	Price	Earnings	Multiple	(with	a	minimum	of	4x	and	a	maximum	of	7.5x)	applied	to	the	annual	average	of	Eurolux’s	last	
36	months	profit	after	tax,	immediately	preceding	the	group’s	most	recent	reporting	period.	During	the	year	the	MOI	of	Eurolux	
was	changed	so	that	the	ARB	published	earnings	portion	of	the	price	earnings	multiple	in	the	option	formula	be	amended	and	is	
now	adjusted	to	reverse	the	effects	of	IFRS	as	they	relate	to	the	put	options,	in	that	the	discounting	and	the	change	in	value	of	the	
put	 options	 recognised	 in	 profit	 and	 loss	 are	 adjusted	 for	 and	 likewise,	 the	 NCIs	 share	 of	 profit	 and	 dividend.	 For	 a	 maturity	
analysis	and	 further	disclosures	refer	 to	Note	24.2	and	24.6.	All	 the	variables	 in	 the	 formula	are	 factual	and	no	assumptions	
are	used.

23. Related-party transactions
The	group	has	a	related-party	relationship	with	non-controlling	shareholders	of	subsidiaries,	its	joint	ventures,	directors	and	key	
management	personnel.	The	nature	of	the	business	of	the	subsidiaries	of	the	group	is	set	out	in	Note	29	and	in	the	directors’	
report.	Details	of	material	transactions	with	related	parties	are	disclosed	below.	

Key management personnel
Key	 management	 personnel	 of	 the	 group	 are	 those	 persons	 having	 authority	 and	 responsibility	 for	 planning,	 directing	 and	
controlling	 the	 activities	 of	 the	 group,	 directly	 and	 indirectly,	 and	 include	 directors	 of	 the	 holding	 company	 and	 subsidiaries,	
divisional	directors	and	regional	managers.
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Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

23. Related party transactions (continued)

Key management personnel	(continued)

Statement of financial position

Short-term	borrowings	from	NCIs	of	Eurolux 19 38 851 –

Amounts	due	to	vendors	of	GMC	Powerlines 21 15 986 –

Amounts	due	to	vendors	of	CraigCor 21 4 045 5	751

Statement of comprehensive income

Rentals	paid	to	companies	controlled	by	key	management	in	Eurolux* (14 863) (14	143)

Interest	paid	on	loans	from	Eurolux	NCIs (2 085) –

Procurement	from	companies	controlled	by	Eurolux	NCIs (658) (306)

*	 	The	group	has	a	“call	option”	to	acquire	the	property	held	by	Green	Willows	Properties	(Pty)	Ltd,	a	company	controlled	by	certain	key	management	of	Eurolux	
for	cash	at	an	externally	appraised	market	value	at	date	of	exercise	of	the	option.	The	group	rents	the	Eurolux	Cape	Town	and	Johannesburg	properties	on	
market-related	terms	from	key	management.	The	Johannesburg	lease	will	terminate	in	December	2019	where	the	rental	is	R673	000	(R78,83/m2)	per	month	
on	a	triple	net	basis.	The	Cape	Town	rental	is	R612	000	(R75,43/m2)	per	month	on	a	triple	net	basis,	escalating	at	8%	per	annum	and	runs	to	November	2028	
with	a	reversion	to	market	in	January	2021;	2024;	2027.	Eurolux	has	the	right	at	any	time	after	June	2021,	by	giving	six	months’	notice	to	terminate	the	lease	
in	event	that	the	property	no	longer	meets	the	operational	requirements	of	the	lessee	in	its	reasonable	discretion.

Salary
(R000s)

Performance
 bonus
(R000s)

Directors’ 
fees

(R000s)

Contributions 
to retirement

 funds
(R000s)

Other
 employment

 benefits
(R000s)

Total
(R000s)

Directors’ remuneration
2019

Executive directors

WR	Neasham 3 178 – – 318 242 3 738

GM	Scrutton 1 930 – – 364 138 2 432

Non-executive directors –

AR	Burke – – 498 – – 498

ST	Downs – – 419 – – 419

JS	Dixon – – 424 – – 424

RB	Patmore – – 467 – – 467

5 108 – 1 808 682 380 7 978

2018

Executive directors

WR	Neasham 3	021 – – 302 237 3	560

GM	Scrutton 1	836 – 367 134 2	337

Non-executive directors

AR	Burke – – 507 – – 507

ST	Downs – – 416 – – 416

JS	Dixon – – 398 – – 398

RB	Patmore – – 404 – – 404

4	857 – 1	725 669 371 7	622
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23. Related-party transactions (continued)
Remuneration paid to key management (excluding directors reported on previous page):

2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

Short-term	employment	benefits 29 729 28	673

Contributions	to	retirement	funds 2 306 3	179

13th	cheques	and	bonuses 1 106 1	666

Other	employment	benefits 2 904 3	474

36 045 36	992

At amortised
 cost

(R000s)

At	fair	value
	through	profit

	and	loss
(R000s)

24. Financial risk management
Classification	of	financial	instruments

Assets	

2019

Trade	and	other	receivables	 407 994 –

Cash	and	cash	equivalents 180 890 –

2018

Trade	and	other	receivables	 387	934 –

Cash	and	cash	equivalents 259	420 –

Loans	receivable – –

Liabilities

2019

Put	option	liabilities – 79	000

Trade	and	other	payables 351 437

2018

Put	option	liabilities – 98	482

Trade	and	other	payables 312	375 –

The	 group’s	 operations	 expose	 it	 to	 a	 number	 of	 financial	 instrument	 risks,	 namely	 credit,	 liquidity,	 interest	 rate	 and	 foreign	

exchange	 risks.	 The	 group	 has	 a	 financial	 risk	 management	 process	 in	 place	 to	 protect	 against	 and	 minimise	 the	 potential		

effects	of	these	financial	risks.	This	note	presents	information	regarding	the	exposure	to	each	of	these	risks	and	processes	for	

managing	them.

24.1 Credit risk
Credit	risk	is	the	risk	of	financial	loss	if	a	customer	or	counter-party	to	a	financial	instrument	fails	to	meet	its	contractual	

obligations	and	arises	principally	from	the	group’s	gross	trade	receivables	and	cash	and	cash	equivalents	held	at	banking	

institutions.
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24. Financial risk management (continued)
24.1 Credit risk (continued)

The	group	trades	only	with	recognised,	creditworthy	third	parties	and	it	is	the	group’s	policy	that	all	customers	who	wish	
to	trade	on	credit	terms	are	subject	to	credit	verification	procedures.	In	addition,	trade	receivable	balances	are	monitored	
on	an	ongoing	basis	with	the	result	that	the	group’s	exposure	to	bad	debts	is	not	significant.	The	group	also	believes	that	
it	has	no	significant	exposure	to	credit	risk	due	to	the	large	number	of	customers	comprising	the	group’s	customer	base	
and	 their	 dispersion	 across	 different	 industries	 and	 geographical	 areas.	 Credit	 risk	 in	 respect	 of	 ARB	 Electrical		
Wholesalers	(Pty)	Ltd,	Eurolux	(Pty)	Ltd	and	CED	–	Consolidated	Electrical	Distributor	(Pty)	Ltd	is	reduced	as	they	maintain		
credit	 insurance	 in	 respect	of	all	 their	 customers	except	government,	parastatals	and	small	accounts	under	R100	000		
(2018:	R250	000).	The	maximum	exposure	is	the	carrying	amount	as	disclosed	in	Note	15.

With	respect	to	credit	risk	arising	from	the	other	financial	assets	of	the	group,	the	group’s	exposure	to	credit	risk	arises	
from	default	of	the	counter-party,	with	a	maximum	exposure	equal	to	the	carrying	amount	of	these	instruments.

To	limit	this	exposure,	the	group’s	cash	is	placed	only	with	reputable	financial	institutions	of	high	credit	standing	and	limits	
its	 exposure	 to	 BB	 rated	 (or	 better)	 counter-parties.	 The	 maximum	 exposure	 is	 the	 carrying	 amounts	 as	 disclosed	 in	
Note	16.

24.2 Liquidity risk
Liquidity	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	group	will	not	be	able	to	meet	its	financial	obligations	as	they	fall	due.

The	group	ensures,	as	far	as	possible,	that	it	has	sufficient	liquidity	available	to	meet	its	liabilities	as	and	when	they	fall	
due.	Daily	and	monthly	cash	 flow	requirements	are	monitored	to	ensure	sufficient	cash	 is	available	on	demand	or	 that	
access	 to	 facilities	 is	 available	 to	 meet	 expected	 operational	 expenses.	 Any	 surplus	 cash	 is	 appropriately	 invested.		
The	 group	 maintains	 a	 balance	 between	 continuity	 of	 funding	 and	 flexibility	 through	 the	 use	 of	 bank	 facilities	 and		
inter-company	funding.

In	addition,	the	subsidiaries	have	primary	and	secondary	general	banking	facilities	of	R214,0m	(2018:	R148,0m)	and	Rnil		
(2018:	R80,0m)	respectively	available	to	finance	foreign	trade	requirements.	At	the	year-end	R44,6m	(2018:	R65,3m)	of	the	
general	 banking	 facilities	 had	 been	 used,	 primarily	 for	 trade	 finance.	 The	 group	 has	 complied	 with	 all	 bank	 facility	
covenants	during	the	year,	predominantly	related	to	times	debtors’	cover	(two	times	trade	debtors	less	than	90	days	old	
and	excluding	inter-company	accounts),	negative	pledge	over	assets	and	the	raising	of	new	debt.

In	 terms	 of	 the	 company’s	 memorandum	 of	 incorporation,	 there	 is	 no	 limit	 on	 the	 group’s	 authority	 to	 raise	 interest-
bearing	debt.

Financial liabilities – maturity analysis
The	table	below	summarises	the	maturity	profile	of	the	financial	liabilities	(not	all	liabilities)	based	on	the	directors’	view	
on	the	actual	timing	of	the	contractual	undiscounted	payments	of	the	put	option	liability.

2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

Payable more than five years

Put	option	liability* – 33	475

Payable one to five years

Put	option	liability* 26 543 65	007

Payable in one to 12 months

Put	option	liability** 60 000 –

Short-term	borrowings	 38 851 –

Trade	and	other	payables 351 437 312	375

*	 Relates	to	the	CraigCor	put	options	and	can	only	be	exercised	at	the	earliest	1	March	2023.
**	 	Relates	to	the	Eurolux	put	options	which	are	already	exercisable,	at	the	option	of	the	non-controlling	interests,	and	are	payable	six	months	after	

notice	has	been	given.	
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24. Financial risk management (continued)
24.3 Interest rate risk

Interest	 rate	 risk	 is	 the	 risk	 that	 changes	 in	 the	 interest	 rate	 will	 affect	 the	 group’s	 income	 or	 value	 of	 its	 financial	
instruments,	namely	its	cash	and	cash	equivalents	and	interest-bearing	borrowings.	

The	group’s	exposure	to	the	risk	of	changes	in	market	interest	rates	relate	primarily	to	the	cash	and	cash	equivalents	and	
short-term	loans,	with	a	variable	interest	rate.	As	part	of	the	process	of	managing	the	group’s	interest	rate	risk,	interest	
rate	 characteristics	 of	 surplus	 cash	 investments	 are	 positioned	 according	 to	 expected	 movement	 in	 the	 interest	 rate.		
The	group’s	income	and	operating	cash	flows	are	substantially	independent	of	changes	in	the	interest	rates.

Surplus	 cash	 and	 cash	 equivalents	 exposed	 to	 interest	 rate	 risk	 are	 placed	 with	 institutions	 and	 facilities	 which	 yield		
the	highest	rate	of	return,	but	which	are	still	within	acceptable	risk	parameters.	The	cash	equivalent	balances	vary	during	
the	month	and	during	the	year	in	line	with	business	cycles.	The	sensitivity	analysis	below	is	based	on	the	year-end	cash	
and	loans	receivable	equivalents	and	short-term	loans	balances.

Sensitivity analysis
The	following	table	demonstrates	the	sensitivity	of	profit	before	tax	to	a	possible	change	in	the	interest	rates,	with	all	other	
variables	held	constant.	

2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

Cash and cash equivalents 

Increase	of	100	basis	points	would	result	in	an	improvement	of	profit	before	tax	of	 1 809 2	594

Decrease	of	200	basis	points	would	result	in	a	reduction	of	profit	before	tax	of	 (3 618) (5	188)

Short-term loans

Increase	of	100	basis	points	would	result	in	an	improvement	of	profit	before	tax	of	 (389) –

Decrease	of	200	basis	points	would	result	in	a	reduction	of	profit	before	tax	of	 778 –

24.4 Foreign exchange risk
ARB	 Global,	 CED	 and	 ARB	 Electrical	 counter	 their	 exposure	 to	 foreign	 currency	 risk	 against	 stronger	 currencies	 by	
entering	 into	 forward	 exchange	 contracts	 where	 there	 is	 a	 pre-determined	 selling	 price.	 Such	 exposure	 arises	 from	
purchases	 in	 currencies	 other	 than	 in	 South	 African	 Rands.	 It	 is	 the	 group’s	 policy	 to	 make	 use	 of	 forward	 exchange	
contracts	to	eliminate	the	currency	exposure	on	any	individual	transaction	for	which	the	payment	is	anticipated	to	be	more	
than	one	month	after	the	group	has	entered	into	a	firm	commitment	for	a	purchase.	The	group	does	not	formally	apply	
hedge	accounting	to	its	foreign	currency	risk.

Forward	exchange	contracts	which	relate	to	future	commitments	at	year-end	were:	

000s Average rate Matures

Foreign currency

US$

2019 2 265 14.37 1 to 4 months

2018 1	511 13.01 1	to	4	months

EUR

2019 91 16.83 1 month

2018 8 15.08 1	month
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24. Financial risk management (continued)
24.4 Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The	group	has	the	following	exposures	in	foreign	currencies:

2019 2018

US$
(000s)

Euro
(000s)

US$
(000s)

Euro
(000s)

Year-end	spot	rates: 14.13 17.96 13.70 16.00

Foreign	denominated	receivables 465 6 305 –

Foreign	denominated	cash	and	equivalents 429 60 420 14

Foreign	denominated	payables (3 469) (70) (1 607) (69)

On-balance sheet exposures (2 575) (4) (882) (55)

Open	purchase	orders (1 884) (91) (5 831) (215)

Open	sales	orders 244 – 644 –

Open	normal	letters	of	credit	(not	accrued) 83 – 670 –

Open	forward	exchange	contracts	(buy) 2 265 91 1 511 8

Total exchange exposure (1 867) (4) (3 888) (262)

R000s R000s R000s R000s

Foreign exchange – Sensitivity analysis

If	the	Rand	weakened	by	10%,	it	would	result	in	a	
decrease	of	profit	before	tax	of: (2 638) (7) (5 327) (419)

If	the	Rand	strengthened	by	20%,	it	would	result	in		
an	increase	of	profit	before	tax	of: 5 275 14 10 653 838

In	practice,	many	of	our	products	we	import	are	not	locally	manufactured,	so	all	suppliers	would	be	exposed	to	the	same	

movement,	and	these	increases	would	be	passed	onto	the	customers,	or	decreases	demanded	back	by	these	customers.

24.5 Capital management
The	group’s	objectives	when	managing	capital	are	to	safeguard	the	entity’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	concern,	so	that	

it	can	continue	to	provide	returns	for	shareholders	and	benefits	for	other	stakeholders,	and	to	provide	an	adequate	return	

to	shareholders	by	pricing	products	and	services	commensurately	with	the	level	of	risk.

The	group	sets	the	amount	of	capital	in	proportion	to	risk.	The	group	changes	the	capital	structure	and	makes	adjustments	

to	 it	 in	 the	 light	 of	 changes	 in	 economic	 conditions	 and	 the	 risk	 characteristics	 of	 the	 underlying	 assets.	 In	 order	 to	

maintain	or	adjust	the	capital	structure,	the	group	may	adjust	the	amount	of	dividends	paid	to	shareholders,	return	capital	

to	shareholders,	issue	new	shares,	repurchase	shares	or	sell	assets	to	reduce	debt.	The	board	has	approved	a	maximum	

of	30%	gearing	as	an	acceptable	level	of	gearing.

There	were	no	changes	in	the	group’s	approach	to	capital	management	during	the	year	and	the	board	again	confirmed	the	

30%	gearing	limit.	The	group	is	not	subject	to	any	externally	imposed	capital	requirements.	The	banking	facilities	have	a	

maximum	of	two	times	“good	debtors”	covenant.
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24. Financial risk management (continued)

24.5 Capital management (continued)

The	group	monitors	capital	on	the	basis	of	the	debt-to-adjusted	capital	ratio.	This	ratio	is	calculated	as	net	interest-bearing	

debt	divided	by	capital.	Net	 interest-bearing	debt	 is	calculated	excluding	the	put	option	liability	and	less	cash	and	cash	

equivalents,	as	set	out	in	the	table	below.	The	directors	have	clarified	this	definition	of	“net	debt”,	used	in	determining	the	

compliance	with	a	board	mandate	of	30%	gearing.	Previously	 this	measurement	 included	non-interest-bearing	debt	as	

well.	The	debt	to	equity	measures	under	the	previous	method	were	0.24:1	(2018:	0.10:1).	Capital	comprises	all	components	

of	equity.	The	group	meets	the	JSE	capital	requirements	and	there	are	no	other	externally	imposed	capital	requirements.	

The	debt-to-adjusted	capital	ratio	at	30	June	was	as	follows:

2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

Short-term	loans 38 851 –

(Less)	cash	and	cash	equivalents (180 890) (259	420)

Net	debt (142 039) (259	420)

Total	equity 1 156 163 1	118	019

Debt	to	adjusted	capital	ratio (12.3%) (23.2%)	

These	ratios	are	within	the	group’s	stated	gearing	limit.

24.6 Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
Financial	assets	and	liabilities	measured	at	fair	value	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	are	categorised	in	its	entirety	

into	the	three	levels	of	the	fair	value	hierarchy	based	on	the	basis	of	the	lowest	level	input	that	is	significant	to	the	fair	value	

measurement	in	its	entirety:

Note Level
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

Put	option	liabilities	–	non-current 22 3 19 000 33	475

Put	option	liabilities	–	current 22 3 60 000 65	007

79 000 98	482

There	have	been	no	transfers	between	levels.	The	fair	value	of	the	put	option	financial	liability	disclosed	under	level	3	has	

been	 determined	 in	 accordance	 with	 the	 predetermined	 contractual	 valuation	 method,	 disclosed	 in	 Note	 22.	 In	 the	

contractual	valuation	formula	the	only	input	which	is	unobservable	from	market	data	is	subsidiaries’	profits.	

25. Commitments and contingencies
25.1 Contingencies

During	2019	a	statutory	fine	for	late	submission	of	the	employment	equity	returns	of	R1,5m	was	imposed	on	a	subsidiary;	

ARB	Electrical	Wholesalers.	Management	have	appealed	and,	based	on	legal	advice,	believe	that	no	liability	exists	and	no	

provision	 has	 been	 made	 as	 the	 return	 was	 submitted	 one	 day	 late,	 because	 the	 department	 of	 labour	 website	 was	

overloaded	and	the	returns	were	manually	submitted	the	next	day.
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25. Commitments and contingencies (continued)
25.2 Commitments

The	group	has	capital	commitments	of:

2019 2018

Contracted
(R000)

Not	
contracted

(R000)
Contracted

(R000)

Not	
contracted

(R000)

Land	and	buildings 98 503 – 44 526 12	639

Motor	vehicles – 2	736 – 2	901

Furniture	and	fittings 3 664 3	724 – 11	566

	 102 167 6	460 44 526 27	106

25.3 Operating lease commitments 
The	group	has	entered	into	18	(2018:	17)	operating	lease	agreements	in	respect	of	fixed	property	used	for	warehousing,	

offices	and	branch	trading	facilities.	These	leases	generally	have	an	initial	three	to	five-year	lease	term	with	options	to	

renew	 at	 market-related	 rentals.	 Annual	 escalations	 from	 6%	 to	 10%	 are	 common	 to	 all	 leases.	 No	 leases	 contain	

contingent	 rent	 provisions	 or	 covenants.	 Future	 minimum	 lease	 payments	 under	 non-cancellable	 operating	 leases	 are		

as	follows:

Up to 
one year

(R000s)

Two to 
five years

(R000s)

Five or 
more years

(R000s)
Total

(R000s) 

2019 22 993 47 022 46 919 116 934

2018 23	034 39	642 – 62	676

25.4 Bank guarantees
A	 limited	 cross	 guarantee,	 incorporating	 a	 cession	 of	 loan	 funds,	 has	 been	 given	 by	 each	 of	 ARB	 Holdings	 Ltd,	 ARB	

Electrical	Wholesalers	(Pty)	Ltd,	GMC	Powerlines	(Pty)	Ltd,	Industrial	Cable	Supplies	(Pty)	Ltd	and	ARB	Global	(Pty)	Ltd	in	

favour	of	Nedbank	for	general	banking	and	trade	facilities	granted	to	ARB	electrical	division	of	R48,0m	(2018:	R48,0m).

A	limited	guarantee,	incorporating	a	cession	of	loan	funds,	has	been	given	in	favour	of	Nedbank	for	general	banking	and	

trade	facilities	granted	to	Eurolux	(Pty)	Ltd	of	R55,0m	(2018:	R55,0m).

General	banking	facilities	within	the	group	are	unutilised	at	30	June	2019	and	2018.	Trade	facilities	have	been	utilised	for	

letters	of	credit,	forward	exchange	contracts	and	similar	trade	products	to	the	extent	of	R44,6m	(2018:	R52,0m).

26. Segment report
IFRS	8	requires	operating	segments	to	be	identified	on	the	basis	of	internal	reporting	on	operating	divisions	of	the	group	that	are	

regularly	 reviewed	 by	 the	 chief	 operating	 decision	 maker	 in	 order	 to	 allocate	 resources	 to	 the	 segments	 and	 to	 assess	 their	

performance.	The	group’s	reportable	segments	were	identified	primarily	based	on	the	difference	in	products	or	services	offered	

by	the	different	segments	rather	than	geographical	area	or	regulatory	environments	in	which	they	operate.

Based	on	management’s	monthly	significant	reporting	segments,	the	segment	report	has	been	prepared	by	reportable	operating	

segment.	As	a	result,	the	primary	reporting	format	is	by	business	segments	with	no	secondary	reporting	format.

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019

Annual financial statements

106 |  ARB Integrated report 2019



26. Segment report (continued)
The	group	has	three	operating	segments	from	which	it	derives	its	revenue.	The	activities	associated	with	each	segment	are	noted	below:

Electrical	–	Distributors	of	electrical	products	across	 three	main	categories:	power	and	 instrumentation	cable,	overhead	 line	

equipment	and	conductors,	and	low	voltage	products.

Lighting	–	Distributors	of	incandescent,	energy-saving	LED	and	fluorescent	lamps,	light	fittings	and	electrical	accessories.

Corporate	–	Property	holding	and	specialist	IT	hardware,	software	services	and	support.

The	 following	 table	 presents	 revenue	 and	 profit	 information	 and	 certain	 asset	 and	 liability	 information	 regarding	 the	 group’s	

business	segments	for	the	years	ended	30	June	2019	and	30	June	2018,	respectively:

Electrical
(R000s)

Lighting
(R000s)

Corporate
(R000s)

Inter-company
 elimination and

 reallocation
(R000s)

Total
(R000s)

2019

Segment	revenue 2 096 776 648 689 55 510 – 2 706 186

Inter-segment	revenue (111) (43 431) (52 064) 95 606 –

Sales	to	external	customers 2 096 665 605 258 3 446 817 2 706 186

Depreciation	and	amortisation 11 332 2 924 3 527 (135) 17 648

Operating	profit	 85 555 35 374 44 973 (10 535) 155 367

Impairment	of	goodwill – – (18 410) 18 410

Impairment	of	goodwill (26 234) 26 234 –

Gain	on	bargain	purchase	price 18 779 – – 18 779

Put	option	derivative (5 000) – (9 500) 14 500 –

Change	in	put	option	liability 16 241 – – 5 007 21 248

Net	profit	before	interest	and	tax 70 562 54 153 35 473 16 796 176 984

Investment	income – – 105 360 (105 360) –

Interest	received 19 458 403 26 988 (25 628) 21 221

Interest	paid (4 272) (14 866) (10 341) 25 628 (3 851)

Profit	before	tax 85 748 39 690 157 480 (88 564) 194 354

Tax (27 946) (6 118) (17 078) 1 953 (49 189)

Profit for the year 57 802 33 572 140 402 (86 611) 145 165

Segment	assets 888 237 461 307 713 141 (365 257) 1 697 428

Segment	liabilities 347 889 251 434 202 673 (260 731) 541 265

Entity-wide disclosure

Exports	(mainly	sub-Saharan	Africa) 132 422 40 192 – – 172 614
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Electrical
(R000s)

Lighting
(R000s)

Corporate
(R000s)

Inter-company
	elimination	and

	reallocation
(R000s)

Total
(R000s)

26. Segment report (continued)
2018

Segment	revenue 2	119	913 501	876 45	882 (77	521) 2	590	150

Inter-segment	revenue (2	323) (36	299) (38	899) 77	521 –

Sales	to	external	customers 2	117	590 465	577 6	983 – 2	590	150

Depreciation	and	amortisation 11	020 1	878 335 462 13	695

Net	profit	before	interest	and	tax 134	036 45	891 59	288 (8	889) 230	326

Investment	income – – 127	300 (127	300) –

Interest	received 18	927 373 19	254 (12	455) 26	099

Interest	paid (3	122) (9	111) (12	370) 23	045 (1	558)

Profit	before	tax 149	841 37	153 193	472 (125	599) 254	867

Tax (38	552) (10	264) (14	374) (30) (63	220)

Profit for the year 111	289 26	889 179	098 (125	629) 191	647

Segment	assets 948	957 346	540 707	199 (406	016) 1	596	680

Segment	liabilities 341	195 161	238 252	883 (276	655) (478	661)

Entity-wide disclosure

Exports	(mainly	sub-Saharan	Africa) 172	352 26	029 – – 198	381

Geographical information
All	trading	activities	and	non-current	assets	of	the	segments	are	domiciled	in	South	Africa.	No	single	customer	contributes	more	

than	10%	of	the	group’s	revenue.	

2019
(R000s)

2019
(R000s)

27. Business acquisitions

Business Radiant
GMC 

Powerlines

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Plant	and	equipment 5 900 1 362

Loans 4 882 –

Inventory 106 380 34 947

Trade	and	other	receivables 34 521 –

Trade	and	other	payables (30 927) (303)

Bank	overdraft (3 911) –
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2019
(R000s)

2019
(R000s)

27. Business acquisitions (continued)

Net	identified	assets	acquired 116 845 36 006

Gain	from	a	bargain	purchase (18 779) –

Total	purchase	consideration 98 066 36 006

Add	bank	overdraft	assumed 3 911 –

Balance	owed	to	vendors	at	acquisition	date (4 759) (18 506)

Net cash outflow on acquisition 97 218 17 500

Radiant and
GMC

 Powerlines
(R’000)

CraigCor
(R’000)

Effect on the group’s results as a result of the acquisition

Profit	after	tax	since	acquisition	date	included	in	consolidated	results	for	the	year 3 811 201

Revenue	since	acquisition	date	included	in	consolidated	results	for	the	year 114 391 46 237

Group	profit	after	tax	had	the	business	combination	been	included	for	the	full	year 128 232 193 677

Group	revenue	had	the	business	combination	been	included	for	the	full	year 2 876 059 2 627 876

As	set	out	in	the	directors’	report,	with	effect	from	1	January	2019	the	group,	via	its	investment	in	Eurolux,	acquired	an	effective	

100%	controlling	interest	in	The	Radiant	Group	(Pty)	Ltd	to	gain	access	to	a	lighting	distributor	supplying	imported	luminaires	and	

fittings	primarily	through	the	wholesale	distribution	channel	into	the	South	African	market.	The	purchase	consideration	was	a	

fixed	amount	and	was	settled	in	cash	in	February	2019.	The	gain	from	a	bargain	purchase	arose	as	the	business	was	incurring	

losses	and	this	discount	was	negotiated	to	compensate	the	group	for	the	costs	and	losses	required	to	rationalise	the	business	

and	integrate	it	into	the	existing	Eurolux	group.	

The	group	also	purchased	the	business	of	GMC	Powerlines	(Pty)	Ltd	as	a	going	concern	with	effect	from	1	March	2019,	to	access	

a	well-established	range	of	Eskom	approved	products,	imported	from	China.	The	purchase	price	was	partly	paid	in	cash	at	the	

closing	of	the	transaction,	the	balance	will	be	paid	in	monthly	instalments	of	R0,8m	with	an	adjustment	for	any	designated	slow	

moving	 stock	 sold	 by	 the	 final	 28	 February	 2020	 closing	 date,	 subject	 to	 a	 maximum	 purchase	 price	 of	 R50m.	 As	 the	 group	

acquired	the	slow	moving	stock	at	an	effective	Rnil	value,	the	fair	value	of	the	inventory	recognised	at	the	time	of	the	business	

combination	is	considered	to	be	a	provisional	amount	until	28	February	2020	at	which	date	it	will	be	determined	at	what	value	the	

slow	moving	stock	had	been	sold	for	since	acquisition.	It	is	estimated	that	the	final	purchase	price	will	be	R36,0m.	

Following	 the	acquisition	of	CraigCor	 in	 the	prior	year,	R1,7m	of	 the	contingent	consideration	 liability	has	been	settled	 in	 the	

current	year.	There	have	been	no	changes	in	the	recognised	amounts	or	the	range	of	outcomes.	Further	detail	about	the	valuation	

techniques	used	to	measure	the	contingent	consideration	is	noted	in	Note	21.
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Note(s)
2019

(R000s)
2018

(R000s)

28. Statements of cash flow notes
28.1 Operating cash flow before working capital changes

Profit	for	the	year 145 165 191	647
Adjusted	for	items	disclosed	later	in	the	statement	of	cash	flow

	� Interest	received (21 221) (26	099)
	� Interest	paid 3 851 1	558
	� Income	tax 49 189 63	220

Adjusted	for	non-cash	transactions
	� Change	of	put	option	liability	fair	value 22 (21 248) (26	000)
	� Gain	from	a	bargain	purchase	on	acquisition	of	Radiant 27.1 (18 779) –
	� Impairment	of	goodwill	in	Eurolux 12 18 410 –
	� Depreciation	and	impairment	of	land 11 17 479 13	538
	� Movement	in	inventory	impairment	provision 14 (6 911) –
	� Movement	in	accounts	receivable	ECL	provision 15 (509) –
	� Amortisation	of	intangible	assets 12 781 157
	� Equity	income	from	joint	venture – (1	045)
	� Loss	on	disposal	of	property,	plant	and	equipment 4 502 26
	� Operating	lease	smoothing 967 53

167 676 217	053

28.2 Tax paid
Tax	owing	at	the	beginning	of	the	year SOFP (5 615) (6	311)
Current	year	tax	charge 8 (47 463) (64	586)

	� Current	year	prior	period	adjustment 8 – 609
	� Adjustment	on	acquisition	of	CraigCor – (366)

Tax	owing	at	year-end SOFP 4 308 5	615

Tax	paid (48 770) (65	039)

28.3 Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Disposals	of	property,	plant	and	equipment 11 4 056 3	788
Loss	on	disposal	included	in	profit	and	loss 4 (502) (26)	

3 554 3	762

Shares issued

Number of shares

Ownership
%

2019
(000s)

2018
(000s)

29. Investments in direct subsidiaries
ARB	Electrical	Wholesalers	(Pty)	Ltd	(Local	empowered	electrical	wholesaler) 74 10 000 10	000
Eurolux	(Pty)	Ltd	(Lighting	wholesaler) 60 1 900 1	900
Xact	ERP	Solutions	(Pty)	Ltd	(IT	system	developer	and	provider) 100 100 100
ARB	Global	(Pty)	Ltd	(Global	electrical	wholesaler) 100 100 100
CED	–	Consolidated	Electrical	Distributor	(Pty)	Ltd	(Chint	distributor) 100 120 120

Company’s	share	of	the	aggregate	profits	after	tax	of	subsidiaries 84 169 180	399
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29. Investments in direct subsidiaries (continued)
All	 investments	are	measured	at	cost	 in	the	company’s	separate	financial	statements.	All	subsidiaries	are	incorporated	in	the	

Republic	of	South	Africa.	Set	out	below	is	the	summarised	information	in	respect	of	each	subsidiary	with	material	non-controlling	

interest.	As	disclosed	in	Note	22,	the	Eurolux	and	CraigCor	non-controlling	interests	hold	a	“put	option”	over	their	shares	in	the	

respective	companies.	In	terms	of	the	group’s	accounting	policy	for	these	put	options,	the	non-controlling	interest	is	derecognised	

and	consequently	 the	respective	subsidiaries	are	not	 included	 in	 the	summary	below.	The	group	also	has	a	“call	option”	over	

these	shares	held	by	the	Eurolux	and	CraigCor	non-controlling	interests,	but	only	in	the	event	that	a	non-controlling	interest’s	

employment	 is	 terminated.	 The	 “call	 option”	 value	 will	 be	 determined	 using	 the	 same	 method	 as	 the	 “put	 option”	 disclosed	

in	Note	22.	

The	 summarised	 information	 below	 is	 presented	 before	 intra-group	 but	 after	 intra	 sub-group	 eliminations	 and	 adjustments	

on	consolidation:

ARB Electrical  
Wholesalers (Pty) Ltd

2019
(R000s)

2018
(R000s)

%	of	interest	and	voting	rights	held	by	non-controlling	interest 26% 26%

Profit	for	the	year	allocated	to	non-controlling	interest 10 188 21	912

Accumulated	non-controlling	interests	at	end	of	the	reporting	period 133 691 150	498

Dividend	paid	to	non-controlling	interest (27 040) (36	400)

Total	revenue 1 959 198 1	942	181

Profit	for	the	year	 39 399 88	827

Total	assets 772 427 881	069

Total	liabilities 258 231 302	058

Net	cash	flow	from	operating	activities (33 548) 	24	107

Net	cash	flow	from	investing	activities 27 902 (20	603)

Net	cash	flow	from	financing	activities (76) (12	430)

30. Events after reporting date
The	group	entered	into	an	agreement	to	acquire	the	Radiant	properties	for	R88m,	which	will	be	funded	by	raising	R80,0m	of	debt	

and	the	balance	out	of	internal	cash	flows.

Subsequent	to	the	year-end,	Eurolux	continued	integration	of	Radiant	into	the	Eurolux	group,	including	the	conversion	of	Radiant	

onto	the	Eurolux	Kerridge	system	and	the	transfer	of	all	the	Eurolux	Johannesburg	operations	to	Radiant	properties.	The	total	

cost	 of	 this	 is	 estimated	 to	 be	 R14,1m	 of	 capital	 expenditure	 and	 R2,2m	 of	 operating	 expenditure.	 The	 only	 other	 material	

subsequent	event	is	the	declaration	of	the	dividend	for	the	2019	financial	year	(referred	to	in	4	above).

The	directors	are	not	aware	of	any	other	material	event	or	circumstance	arising	since	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	and	up	until	

the	 date	 of	 this	 report,	 not	 otherwise	 disclosed	 in	 these	 annual	 financial	 statements	 which	 significantly	 affects	 the	 financial	

position,	results	or	cash	flows	of	the	group.
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SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS

Shareholder spread
Number	of

	shareholdings
%	of	total

	shareholdings
Shares

held	
%

held

1	–	1	000	shares 461 42.49 191	972 0.08

1	001	–	10	000	shares 403 37.14 1	583	098 0.67

10	001	–	100	000	shares 136 12.53 4	502	570 1.92

100	001	–	1	000	000	shares 59 5.44 26	039	582 11.08

1	000	001	shares	and	over 26 2.40 202	682	778 86.25

Total 1	085 100.00 235	000	000 100.00

Distribution of shareholders

Companies	and	close	corporations 41 3.78 122	441	031 52.10

Trusts 46 4.24 14	511	911 6.17

Retirement,	hedge	and	collective	funds 44 4.05 50	674	268 21.56

Retail	shareholders 922 84.98 23	115	534 9.84

Custodians	and	nominees 11 1.01 17	216	435 7.33

Other 21 1.94 7	040	821 3.00

Total 1	085 100.00 235	000	000 100.00

Shareholder	type

Non-public shareholders* 8 0.74 134	362	528 57.18

Directors	direct 4 0.37 5	026	053 2.14

Directors	indirect 4 0.37 129	336	475 55.04

Public shareholders 1	077 99.26 100	637	972 42.82

Total 1	085 100.00 235	000	000 100.00

Beneficial	shareholders	with	a	holding	greater	than	3%		
of	the	shares	in	issue:

Burke	Consolidated	Holdings	(Pty)	Ltd 119	074	865 50.67

Namibian	GIPF 14	237	725 6.06

Alan	Burke	Trust 9	586	610 4.08

Old	Mutual	Group 9	160	349 3.90

Total 152	059	549 64.71

*	 Includes	“key	management”	and	directors	of	the	company	and	its	subsidiaries	that	resigned	during	the	year.

No change notice

There	were	no	shares	issued	and	no	changes	in	beneficial	shareholder	with	a	holding	greater	than	3%	between	the	year-end	and	the	

date	of	this	report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

Listed	on	JSE 20	November	2007

Announcement	of	year-end	results Thursday,	15	August	2019

Last	day	to	register	to	receive	dividend Tuesday,	3	September	2019

Record	date	in	respect	of	dividend Friday,	6	September	2019

Dividend	payment	date Monday,	9	September	2019

Integrated	report	posted Monday,	30	September	2019

Annual	general	meeting	 Tuesday,	5	November	2019	

Announcement	of	half	year	interim	results Thursday,	13	February	2020

Financial	year-end Tuesday,	30	June	2020

Announcement	of	year-end	results Thursday,	20	August	2020

Shareholder information
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

ARB Holdings Ltd

(Registration	number:	1986/002975/06)

Share	code:	ARH

ISIN:	ZAE000109435

(“ARB”	or	“the	company”)

Notice
Notice	 is	 hereby	 given	 to	 the	 shareholders	 of	 ARB	 that	 the	 AGM	 of	 ARB	 will	 be	 held	 at	 the	 company’s	 registered	 office	 located	 at	

10	Mack	Road,	Prospecton,	Durban,	4110	on	5	November	2019	at	10:00	to	(i)	deal	with	such	business	as	may	lawfully	be	dealt	with	at	

the	meeting,	(ii)	the	presentation	of	the	directors’	report,	the	annual	financial	statements,	the	audit	committee	report	and	the	social	

and	ethics	committee	report	of	the	company	for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019	(contained	in	the	integrated	report	of	the	company	for	

the	same	period,	of	which	this	notice	forms	a	part	[the	integrated	report])	and	(iii)	consider	and,	if	deemed	fit,	to	pass,	with	or	without	

modification,	the	ordinary	and	special	resolutions	set	out	hereunder	in	the	manner	required	by	the	Companies	Act,	2008,	as	amended	

(“the	Companies	Act”),	as	read	with	the	Listings	Requirements	of	the	JSE	Ltd	(“JSE”).

Kindly note that meeting participants (including shareholders and proxies) are required in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies 

Act to provide reasonably satisfactory identification before being entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting. Forms 

of identification include valid identity documents, driver’s licences and passports.

Record dates, voting and proxies
Please	take	note	of	the	following	important	dates	regarding	the	AGM:	

Record	date	for	the	purposes	of	receiving	this	notice Friday,	20	September	2019

Distribution	of	the	integrated	report Monday,	30	September	2019

Last	day	to	trade	for	voting	purposes Tuesday,	22	October	2019

Record	date	for	voting	purposes Friday,	25	October	2019

Last	day	to	lodge	proxy	form	in	writing	(by	10:00) Friday,	1	November	2019*

AGM	to	be	held	at	10:00 Tuesday,	5	November	2019

Results	of	AGM	published	on	SENS Wednesday,	6	November	2019

*	 	Dematerialised	shareholders	who	have	elected	own-name	registration	in	the	sub-register	through	a	Central	Securities	Depository	Participant	(“CSDP”)	and	who	
are	unable	to	attend	but	wish	to	vote	at	the	AGM,	should	complete	and	return	the	attached	form	of	proxy	and	lodge	it	with	the	transfer	secretaries	of	the	company	
at	least	48	hours	prior	to	the	AGM.	If	this	deadline	is	not	met,	the	shareholder	or	proxy	may	bring	it	to	the	meeting	but	will	be	required	to	provide	proof	(sufficient	
to	the	chairman	of	the	meeting)	of	the	validity	of	the	proxy	and	the	identification	of	the	bearer.

A	shareholder	of	the	company	entitled	to	attend	and	vote	at	the	AGM	is	entitled	to	appoint	one	or	more	proxies	(who	need	not	be	a	

shareholder	of	the	company)	to	attend,	vote	and	speak	in	his/her	stead.	On	a	show	of	hands,	every	shareholder	of	the	company	present	

in	 person	 or	 represented	 by	 proxy	 shall	 have	 one	 vote	 only.	 On	 a	 poll,	 every	 shareholder	 of	 the	 company	 present	 in	 person	 or	

represented	by	proxy	shall	have	one	vote	for	every	ordinary	share	held	in	the	company	by	such	shareholder.	

Shareholders	who	have	dematerialised	their	shares	through	a	CSDP	or	broker,	other	than	through	own-name	registration	and	who	

wish	 to	 attend	 the	 AGM	 must	 instruct	 their	 CSDP	 or	 broker	 to	 issue	 them	 with	 the	 necessary	 written	 authority	 to	 attend.	 If	 such	

shareholders	are	unable	to	attend	but	wish	to	vote	at	the	AGM,	they	should	provide	their	CSDP	or	broker	with	their	voting	instructions	

in	terms	of	the	agreement	entered	into	between	that	shareholder	and	his/her	CSDP	or	broker.

as	at	30	June	2019
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (continued)
as	at	30	June	2019

Forms	of	proxy	may	also	be	obtained	on	 request	 from	 the	company’s	 transfer	secretaries.	The	completed	 forms	of	proxy	must	be	

deposited	 at,	 posted	 or	 faxed	 to	 the	 transfer	 secretaries	 at	 the	 address	 below,	 to	 be	 received	 at	 least	 48	 hours	 prior	 to	 the	 AGM.		

Any	shareholder	who	completes	and	lodges	a	form	of	proxy	will	nevertheless	be	entitled	to	attend	and	vote	in	person	at	the	AGM	should	

the	shareholder	subsequently	decide	to	do	so.

Presentation of annual financial statements
The	 consolidated	 annual	 financial	 statements	 of	 the	 company	 and	 its	 subsidiaries	 for	 the	 year	 ended	 30	 June	 2019,	 including	 the	

directors’	report,	the	independent	auditor’s	report,	the	audit	committee	report,	the	risk	committee	report,	the	social	and	ethics	report	

and	 the	 balance	 of	 the	 integrated	 report	 as	 approved	 by	 the	 board	 of	 directors	 are	 presented	 to	 shareholders.	 Shareholders	 are	

afforded	the	opportunity	to	ask	questions	and	make	comments	on	these	financial	statements.	

Ordinary resolutions
1. Ordinary resolution 1: Re-election of retiring director

“RESOLVED	that	Ralph	Patmore,	who	retires	by	rotation	in	terms	of	the	company’s	MOI,	as	amended	or	substituted,	and	who,	

being	eligible,	offers	himself	for	re-election,	be	and	is	hereby	re-elected	as	a	director	of	the	company.”

A	brief	curriculum	vitae	of	Mr	Patmore	is	set	out	on	page	26	of	the	integrated	report	of	which	this	notice	forms	part.

2. Ordinary resolution 2: Election of audit committee members
Subject	to	the	passing	of	ordinary	resolution	1	above:

“RESOLVED	that	shareholders	elect,	each	by	way	of	a	separate	vote,	the	following	non-executive	directors	as	members	of	the	

audit	committee,	with	effect	from	the	end	of	this	AGM:
	� James	Dixon	(chairman)	–	independent	non-executive	director;
	� Simon	Downes	–	independent	non-executive	director;	and
	� Ralph	Patmore	–	independent	non-executive	director.”

Brief	curriculum	vitae	of	these	independent	non-executive	directors	offering	themselves	for	re-election	as	members	of	the	audit	

committee	are	set	out	on	pages	26	and	27	of	the	integrated	report	of	which	this	notice	forms	part.

3. Ordinary resolution 3: Reappointment of auditor and fixing of remuneration
“RESOLVED	that	the	audit	committee	be	and	is	hereby	authorised	to	reappoint	PKF	Durban	and	PKF	Cape	Town	as	the	auditor	of	

the	company	and	its	subsidiaries	and	RC	Boulle	being	a	partner	of	PKF	Durban,	as	the	individual	designated	auditor,	until	the	

conclusion	of	the	company’s	next	AGM	and,	in	addition,	the	audit	committee	be	and	is	hereby	authorised	to	determine	and	pay	the	

auditor’s	remuneration.”

4. Ordinary resolution 4: Signature of documents
“RESOLVED	that	any	two	directors	of	the	company	or	the	company	secretary	be	and	is	hereby	authorised	to	settle	the	terms	of	

and	 sign	 all	 such	 documentation	 and	 do	 all	 such	 things	 as	 may	 be	 necessary	 for	 or	 incidental	 to	 the	 implementation	 of	 the	

ordinary	and	special	resolutions	which	are	passed	by	the	shareholders.“

5. Ordinary resolution 5: Endorsement of ARB remuneration policy (non-binding advisory vote)
The	remuneration	policy,	which	forms	part	of	the	remuneration	report,	as	set	out	on	pages	55	to	61	of	this	integrated	report,	for	

the	financial	year	ended	30	June	2019,	will	be	tabled	at	the	meeting.

“RESOLVED	that	shareholders	endorse,	by	way	of	a	non-binding	advisory	vote,	that	the	company’s	remuneration	policy,	as	tabled,	

be	and	is	hereby	approved.”

In	terms	of	King	IVTM	dealing	with	the	board	of	directors,	companies	are	required	to	table	their	remuneration	policy	every	year	to	

shareholders	 for	 a	 non-binding	 advisory	 vote	 at	 the	 AGM.	 This	 vote	 enables	 shareholders	 to	 express	 their	 views	 on	 the	

remuneration	policies	adopted.	This	ordinary	resolution	is	of	advisory	nature	only	and	failure	to	pass	this	resolution	will,	therefore	

not	have	any	legal	consequences	relating	to	the	existing	arrangements.	The	board,	however,	will	take	the	outcome	of	the	vote	into	

consideration	when	considering	the	company’s	future	remuneration	policies.

Shareholder information
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6. Ordinary resolution 6: Endorsement of the implementation of the ARB remuneration policy (non-binding advisory vote)

The	implementation	of	the	remuneration	policy,	which	forms	part	of	the	remuneration	report,	as	set	out	on	pages	55	to	61	of	this	

integrated	report,	for	the	financial	year	ended	30	June	2019,	will	be	tabled	at	the	meeting.

“RESOLVED	that	shareholders	endorse,	by	way	of	a	non-binding	advisory	vote,	the	implementation	of	the	company’s	remuneration	

policy,	as	tabled,	be	and	is	hereby	approved.”

In	terms	of	King	IVTM	dealing	with	the	board	of	directors,	companies	are	required	to	table	their	implementation	of	the	remuneration	

policy	every	year	to	shareholders	for	a	non-binding	advisory	vote	at	the	AGM.	This	vote	enables	shareholders	to	express	their	

views	on	the	remuneration	policies	adopted.	This	ordinary	resolution	is	of	advisory	nature	only	and	failure	to	pass	this	resolution	

will,	therefore,	not	have	any	legal	consequences	relating	to	the	existing	arrangements.	The	board,	however,	will	take	the	outcome	

of	the	vote	into	consideration	when	considering	the	company’s	future	remuneration	policies.

Should	more	than	25%	of	the	total	votes	cast	against	ordinary	resolutions	5	and	6,	the	company	will	issue	an	announcement	on	

SENS	 inviting	 shareholders,	 who	 voted	 against	 the	 resolutions,	 to	 meet	 with	 members	 of	 the	 remuneration	 and	 nominations	

committee.	The	process	to	be	followed	will	be	set	out	in	a	SENS	announcement.

Save	for	ordinary	resolution	2,	a	50%	majority	of	votes	cast	by	those	shareholders	present	or	represented	and	voting	at	the	AGM	

is	required	for	the	ordinary	resolutions	as	set	out	in	this	notice	to	be	adopted.

Special resolutions
1. Special resolution 1: non-executive directors’ remuneration from 1 July 2019

“RESOLVED	that	the	remuneration	of	non-executive	directors,	in	the	form	of	fees	for	their	services	as	directors,	from	1	July	2019	

asset	out	below,	be	and	is	hereby	approved	as	contemplated	in	section	66(9)	of	the	Companies	Act:

Chairman of the board Retainer	of	R405	900	per	annum (2019:	R388	330)

R32	500	per	board	meeting	chaired (2019:	R31	130)

R13	000	per	sub-committee	meeting	attended	 (2019:	R12	450)

Non-executive director Retainer	of	R197	000	per	annum	 (2019:	R188	475)

R13	000	per	board	or	sub-committee	meeting	attended	 (2019:	R12	450)

Sub-committee chairman R19	500	per	sub-committee	meeting	chaired	 (2019:	R18	667)

Reason for and effect of special resolution 1

The	reason	for	and	effect	of	special	resolution	1	is	to	approve	the	remuneration	of	the	non-executive	directors	in	accordance	with	

the	requirements	of	the	Companies	Act	and	the	company’s	MOI.

2. Special resolution 2: Financial assistance to related or inter-related companies and corporations

“RESOLVED	that	the	company	be	and	is	hereby	authorised,	in	terms	of	a	general	authority	contemplated	in	section	45(3)(a)(ii)	of	

the	Companies	Act	for	a	period	of	two	years	from	the	date	of	this	resolution,	to	provide	direct	or	indirect	financial	assistance	as	

defined	 in	 section	 45(1)	 of	 the	 Companies	 Act	 to	 a	 related	 or	 inter-related	 company	 or	 corporation,	 subject	 to	 the	 board	 of	

directors	of	the	company	being	satisfied	that:

(a)	 	pursuant	 to	 section	 45(3)(b)(i)	 of	 the	 Companies	 Act,	 immediately	 after	 providing	 such	 financial	 assistance,	 the	 company	

would	satisfy	the	solvency	and	liquidity	test	(as	contemplated	in	section	4(1)	of	the	Companies	Act);

(b)	 	pursuant	to	section	45(3)(b)(ii)	of	the	Companies	Act,	the	terms	under	which	such	financial	assistance	is	proposed	to	be	given	

are	fair	and	reasonable	to	the	company;	and

(c)	 	any	conditions	or	restrictions	with	respect	to	the	granting	of	such	financial	assistance	set	out	in	the	company’s	MOI	and/or	

the	Listings	Requirements	of	the	JSE	have	been	complied	with.”
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Special resolutions (continued)

2. Special resolution 2: Financial assistance to related or inter-related companies and corporations	(continued)

Reason for and effect of special resolution 2

The	reason	for	and	effect	of	special	resolution	2	 is	to	provide	the	directors	with	an	authority	to	provide	financial	assistance	to	

related	or	inter-related	companies	and	corporations	in	accordance	with	section	45	of	the	Companies	Act.

A	75%	majority	of	votes	cast	by	 those	shareholders	present	or	represented	and	voting	at	 the	AGM	is	required	 for	each	of	 the	

special	resolutions	as	set	out	in	this	notice	to	be	adopted.

Reason for and effect of special resolution 3 (including statement of the board of directors’ intention regarding the utilisation 

of the authority sought)

The	reason	for	and	effect	of	special	resolution	3	is	to	grant	the	directors	of	the	company	a	general	authority,	up	to	and	including	

the	date	of	the	next	AGM	of	the	company	or	the	expiration	of	15	months	from	the	date	of	the	passing	of	this	special	resolution,	

whichever	is	the	earlier	date,	for	the	acquisition	by	the	company,	or	any	of	its	subsidiaries,	of	shares	issued	by	the	company.	

A	repurchase	of	shares	is	not	contemplated	at	the	date	of	this	notice.	However,	the	directors	believe	it	to	be	in	the	interests	of	the	

company	 that	 shareholders	 grant	 a	 general	 authority	 to	 provide	 the	 board	 with	 the	 flexibility	 to	 facilitate	 the	 repurchase	 of	

company	shares	as	and	when	the	board	considers	it	appropriate.

Please	 refer	 to	 the	 additional	 disclosure	 of	 information	 contained	 elsewhere	 in	 this	 notice	 required	 in	 terms	 of	 the	 Listings	

Requirements	of	the	JSE.

3. Special resolution 3: General authority to repurchase company shares
“RESOLVED	that	the	directors	of	the	company	be	and	are	hereby	authorised,	by	way	of	a	general	authority,	to	repurchase	on	behalf	

of	the	company	and/or	any	of	its	subsidiaries,	ordinary	shares	issued	by	the	company,	in	accordance	with	the	Companies	Act,	and	

in	particular,	subject	to	section	48(8)(b)	thereof,	the	company’s	memorandum	of	incorporation,	as	amended	or	substituted,	and	

the	listings	requirements	of	the	JSE,	and	provided	that:
	� any	such	acquisition	of	ordinary	shares	shall	be	affected	through	the	order	book	operated	by	the	JSE	trading	system	and	done	

without	any	prior	understanding	or	arrangement	between	the	company	and	the	counter-party;	this	general	authority	shall	only	

be	valid	until	the	company’s	next	AGM,	provided	that	it	shall	not	extend	beyond	15	months	from	the	date	of	the	passing	of	this	

special	resolution;
	� an	announcement	setting	out	such	details	as	may	be	required	in	terms	of	the	listings	requirements	of	the	JSE	will	be	published	

on	SENS	once	the	company	or	any	of	its	subsidiaries	has	acquired	ordinary	shares	constituting,	on	a	cumulative	basis,	3%	of	

the	initial	number	of	ordinary	shares	in	issue	as	at	the	time	the	general	authority	was	granted	and	for	each	3%	in	aggregate	

of	the	initial	number	of	shares	acquired	thereafter;	
	� in	terms	of	the	general	authority,	the	acquisition	of	ordinary	shares	in	any	one	financial	year	may	not	exceed,	in	aggregate,	

20%	of	the	company’s	issued	share	capital	of	that	class,	at	the	time	the	approval	is	granted,	and	the	shares	held	by	a	subsidiary	

of	the	company	may	not	exceed,	in	aggregate,	10%	of	the	number	of	issued	shares	of	the	company	of	that	class;
	� in	determining	the	price	at	which	the	company’s	ordinary	shares	are	acquired	by	the	company	and/or	any	of	its	subsidiaries	in	

terms	of	this	general	authority,	 the	maximum	premium	at	which	such	ordinary	shares	may	be	acquired	will	be	10%	of	the	

weighted	average	market	price	at	which	such	ordinary	shares	are	traded	on	the	JSE,	as	determined	over	the	five	business	days	

immediately	preceding	the	date	of	the	acquisition	of	such	ordinary	shares	by	the	company	and/or	any	of	its	subsidiaries;
	� a	 resolution	 shall	 be	 passed	 by	 the	 board	 of	 directors	 that	 it	 has	 authorised	 the	 repurchase,	 that	 the	 company	 and	 its	

subsidiaries	have	passed	the	solvency	and	liquidity	tests	as	required	by	section	46	of	the	Companies	Act	and	that,	since	the	

test	was	performed,	there	have	been	no	material	changes	to	the	financial	position	of	the	company	and	its	subsidiaries;
	� the	company	will	only	appoint	one	agent	to	affect	any	repurchase(s)	on	its	behalf;	and
	� the	 company	 and/or	 its	 subsidiaries	 will	 not	 acquire	 the	 company’s	 shares	 during	 a	 prohibited	 period	 as	 defined	 in	

paragraph	3.67	of	the	listings	requirements	of	the	JSE	unless	they	have	in	place	a	repurchase	programme	where	the	dates	

and	 quantities	 of	 securities	 to	 be	 traded	 during	 the	 relevant	 period	 are	 fixed	 (not	 subject	 to	 any	 variation)	 and	 has	 been	

submitted	to	the	JSE	in	writing	prior	to	the	commencement	of	the	prohibited	period.”

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (continued)
as	at	30	June	2019
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Reason for and effect of special resolution 3 (including statement of the board of directors’ intention regarding the utilisation 

of the authority sought)

The	reason	for	and	effect	of	special	resolution	3	is	to	grant	the	directors	of	the	company	a	general	authority,	up	to	and	including	

the	date	of	the	next	AGM	of	the	company	or	the	expiration	of	15	months	from	the	date	of	the	passing	of	this	special	resolution,	

whichever	is	the	earlier	date,	for	the	acquisition	by	the	company,	or	any	of	its	subsidiaries,	of	shares	issued	by	the	company.	

A	repurchase	of	shares	is	not	contemplated	at	the	date	of	this	notice;	however,	the	directors	believe	it	to	be	in	the	interests	of	the	

company	 that	 shareholders	 grant	 a	 general	 authority	 to	 provide	 the	 board	 with	 the	 flexibility	 to	 facilitate	 the	 repurchase	 of	

company	shares	as	and	when	the	board	considers	it	appropriate.

Please	 refer	 to	 the	 additional	 disclosure	 of	 information	 contained	 elsewhere	 in	 this	 notice	 required	 in	 terms	 of	 the	 listings	

requirements	of	the	JSE.	

Additional disclosure required in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE
The	following	additional	information,	some	of	which	might	appear	elsewhere	in	the	integrated	report	of	which	this	notice	forms	part,	

is	provided	in	terms	of	the	JSE	Listings	Requirements	for	purposes	of	considering	special	resolution	3:
	� major	shareholders	(refer	to	page	113	of	this	integrated	report);	and
	� share	capital	of	the	company	(refer	to	page	97	of	this	integrated	report).

Repurchase undertaking
The	directors	of	 the	company	confirm	they	are	satisfied,	after	considering	 the	effect	of	 the	maximum	repurchase	contemplated	by	

special	resolution	3,	that	for	a	period	of	12	months	after	the	date	of	notice	of	this	annual	general	meeting:
	� The	company	and	the	subsidiaries	of	the	company	(the	group)	will	be	able	to	repay	their	debts	as	such	debts	become	due	in	the	

ordinary	course	of	business;
	� The	assets	of	the	company	and	group,	fairly	valued	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	and	on	a	basis	

consistent	with	the	previous	financial	year,	will	exceed	the	liabilities	of	the	company	and	group;
	� The	company	and	the	group	will	have	adequate	share	capital	and	reserves	for	ordinary	business	purposes;	and
	� The	company	and	the	group	will	have	sufficient	working	capital	for	ordinary	business	purposes.

Directors’ responsibility statement
The	directors,	whose	names	are	given	on	pages	26	and	68	of	this	integrated	report,	which	this	notice	forms	part	of,	collectively	and	

individually,	accept	full	responsibility	for	the	accuracy	of	the	information	pertaining	to	special	resolution	3	and	certify	that,	to	the	best	

of	their	knowledge	and	belief,	there	are	no	facts	that	have	been	omitted	which	would	make	any	statement	false	or	misleading,	and	that	

all	reasonable	enquiries	to	ascertain	such	facts	have	been	made	and	that	this	notice	contains	all	information	required	by	law	and	the	

Listings	Requirements	of	the	JSE.

Material changes
Other	than	the	facts	and	developments	reported	on	in	this	integrated	report,	there	have	been	no	material	changes	in	the	financial	or	

trading	position	of	the	company	and	its	subsidiaries	since	the	date	of	signature	of	the	audit	report	and	up	to	the	date	of	this	notice.
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Electronic communications
Please	 note	 that	 in	 terms	 of	 the	 Companies	 Act	 and	 the	 Listings	 Requirements	 of	 the	 JSE,	 you	 may	 elect	 to	 receive	 shareholder	

communications	and	notices	from	ARB	electronically.	If	you	make	this	election,	notices	to	shareholders	of	the	company	will	be	sent	to	

you	by	email,	which	may	include	a	notice	of	the	availability	of	documents,	records,	statements	or	other	shareholder	communications	

on	 the	company’s	website,	www.arbhold.co.za,	which	you	will	 then	be	able	 to	access	 through	 the	 internet.	 If	 you	do	not	make	 this	

election,	printed	communications	from	the	company	will	be	posted	to	you	at	your	registered	address.	

Opting	to	receive	information	electronically	will	provide	you	with	faster	access	to	the	latest	information	about	ARB,	whilst	also	saving	

costs	 for	 the	 company	 and	 being	 more	 environmentally	 responsible.	 If	 you	 wish	 to	 receive	 future	 shareholder	 communications	

electronically,	please	complete	and	return	the	attached	form	to	our	transfer	secretaries.	

By	order	of	the	board

Mario Louw

Company	secretary

14	August	2019

Registered office

10	Mack	Road

Prospecton

Durban,	4110

(PO	Box	26426,	Isipingo	Beach,	4115)

Telephone:	+27	31	910	0200

Transfer secretaries

Computershare	Investor	Services	(Pty)	Ltd

Rosebank	Towers

15	Biermann	Avenue,	Rosebank

Johannesburg,	2001

(PO	Box	61051,	Marshalltown,	2107)

Telephone:	+27	11	370	5000

Fax:	+27	11	688	5248

Email:	ecomms@computershare.co.za

Email:	proxy@computershare.co.za	

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (continued)
as	at	30	June	2019

Shareholder information
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ELECTRONIC RECEIPT OF COMMUNICATIONS AND NOTICES

ARB Holdings Ltd

(Registration	number:	1986/002975/06)

Share	code:	ARH

ISIN:	ZAE000109435

(“ARB”	or	“the	company”)

Election to receive electronic shareholder communications
Please	 note	 that	 in	 terms	 of	 the	 Companies	 Act	 and	 the	 Listings	 Requirements	 of	 the	 JSE,	 you	 may	 elect	 to	 receive	 shareholder	

communications	and	notices	from	ARB	electronically.	If	you	make	this	election,	notices	to	shareholders	of	the	company	will	be	sent	to	

you	by	email,	which	may	include	a	notice	of	the	availability	of	documents,	records,	statements	or	other	shareholder	communications	

on	 the	 company’s	 website,	 which	 you	 will	 then	 be	 able	 to	 access	 through	 the	 internet.	 If	 you	 do	 not	 make	 this	 election,	 printed	

communications	from	the	company	will	be	posted	to	you	at	your	registered	address.

Full	name	of	shareholder*

Reference	number*

Telephone	numbers:

(office)	 (home)	 (cellular)

Email	address:

I	elect	to	receive	notices	and	other	shareholder	communications	electronically:

Signature:

Date:

*	 Can	be	obtained	from	the	envelope	in	which	you	received	the	2019	integrated	report	or	please	call	the	transfer	secretaries	on	+27	11	370	5000	for	details.

The	completed	form	should	be	returned	to	the	transfer	secretaries	via	post	or	email:

Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd

PO	Box	61051

Marshalltown

2107

Email:	ecomms@computershare.co.za

Telephone:	+27	11	370	5000

Fax:	+27	11	688	5248
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ARB Holdings Ltd
(Registration	number:	1986/002975/06)
Share	code:	ARH
ISIN:	ZAE000109435
(“ARB”	or	“the	company”)

For	use	at	the	AGM	of	the	shareholders	of	the	company	to	be	held	at	the	company’s	registered	office	located	at	10	Mack	Road,	Prospecton,	Durban,	4110	
on	5	November	2019	at	10:00	and	at	any	adjournment	thereof.

For	use	by	the	holders	of	the	company’s	certificated	ordinary	shares	(certificated	shareholders)	and/or	dematerialised	ordinary	shares	held	through	a	
Central	Securities	Depository	Participant	(“CSDP”)	or	broker	who	have	selected	own-name	registration	(own-name	dematerialised	shareholders).	

Not	for	use	by	the	holders	of	the	company’s	dematerialised	ordinary	shares	who	are	not	own-name	dematerialised	shareholders.	Such	shareholders	
must	contact	their	CSDP	or	broker	timeously	if	they	wish	to	attend	and	vote	at	the	AGM	in	person	and	request	that	they	be	issued	with	the	necessary	
written	authorisation	to	do	so	or	provide	their	CSDP	or	broker	with	their	voting	instructions	should	they	not	wish	to	attend	the	AGM	in	person	but	wish	
to	be	represented	thereat.

I/We	(full	name	in	block	letters)

of	(address)

being	the	registered	holder(s)	of	ordinary	shares	in	the	issued	share	capital	of	the	company,	do	hereby	appoint:

1.	 of		 or	failing	him/her,

2.		 of		 or	failing	him/her,

3.	the	chairman	of	the	AGM,
as	my/our	proxy	to	act	for	me/us	and	on	my/our	behalf	at	the	AGM	of	the	company	which	will	be	held	for	the	purpose	of	considering	and,	if	deemed	fit,	
passing,	 with	 or	 without	 modification,	 the	 special	 and	 ordinary	 resolutions	 to	 be	 proposed	 thereat	 and	 at	 any	 adjournment	 thereof,	 and	 to	 vote	 for		
and/or	 against	 the	 special	 and	 ordinary	 resolutions	 and/or	 abstain	 from	 voting	 in	 respect	 of	 the	 ordinary	 shares	 registered	 in	 my/our	 name(s),	 in	
accordance	with	the	following	instructions:

Number of ordinary shares/votes

In favour of* Against* Abstain*

Ordinary resolutions

1. Written	questions	regarding	the	integrated	report	(attached)	to	be	tabled	at	the	meeting

2. To	re-elect	Ralph	Patmore	as	a	director	of	the	company

3. To	elect	the	audit	committee	members,	each	by	separate	vote:

3.1 James	Dixon	(chairman)

3.2 Simone	Downes

3.3 Ralph	Patmore

4. To	reappoint	the	auditor	and	fix	their	remuneration

5. To	authorise	directors	and/or	the	company	secretary	to	act	and	sign	documentation

6. To	endorse	the	ARB	remuneration	policy	–	non-binding	advisory	vote

7. To	endorse	the	implementation	of	the	ARB	remuneration	policy	–	non-binding	advisory	vote

Special resolutions

1. To	approve	the	remuneration	of	non-executive	directors	from	1	July	2019

2. To	approve	the	granting	of	financial	assistance	to	related	and	inter-related	companies	and	corporations

3. To	approve	a	general	authority	to	repurchase	company	shares

*	 	Please	indicate	with	an	“X”	in	the	appropriate	spaces	above	how	you	wish	your	votes	to	be	cast.	If	no	indication	is	given,	the	proxy	will	be	entitled	to	vote	or	abstain	
as	he/she	deems	fit.

Signed	at	(place)		 on	(date)	 2019

Signature

Assisted	by	(where	applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse side.

FORM OF PROXY
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NOTES TO THE FORM OF PROXY

1.	 This	form	of	proxy	is	to	be	completed	only	by	those	shareholders	who:

(a)	 hold	shares	in	certificated	form;	or

(b)	 are	recorded	in	the	sub-register	in	electronic	form	in	their	own	name.

2.	 Shareholders	who	have	dematerialised	their	shares,	other	than	own-name	dematerialised	shareholders,	and	who	wish	to	attend	

the	AGM	in	person	must	contact	their	Central	Securities	Depository	Participant	(“CSDP”)	or	broker	who	will	furnish	them	with	

the	necessary	written	authority	to	attend	the	AGM,	or	they	must	instruct	their	CSDP	or	broker	as	to	how	they	wish	to	vote	in	this	

regard.	This	must	be	done	in	terms	of	the	agreement	entered	into	between	the	shareholders	and	their	CSDP	or	broker.

3.	 Each	shareholder	is	entitled	to	appoint	one	or	more	proxies	(who	need	not	be	shareholder(s)	of	the	company)	to	attend,	speak	

and,	on	a	poll,	vote	in	place	of	that	shareholder	at	the	AGM.

4.	 A	shareholder	may	insert	the	name	of	a	proxy	or	the	names	of	two	alternate	proxies	of	the	shareholder’s	choice	in	the	space	

provided,	with	or	without	deleting	“the	chairman	of	the	AGM”.	The	person	whose	name	stands	first	on	the	form	of	proxy	and	who	

is	present	at	the	AGM	will	be	entitled	to	act	as	proxy	to	the	exclusion	of	those	whose	names	follow.

5.	 A	shareholder’s	 instructions	to	 the	proxy	must	be	 indicated	by	 the	 insertion	of	 the	relevant	number	of	votes	exercisable	by	 that	

shareholder	in	the	appropriate	box	provided.	Failure	to	comply	with	the	above	will	be	deemed	to	authorise	the	chairman	of	the	AGM,	

if	the	chairman	is	the	authorised	proxy,	to	vote	in	favour	of	the	ordinary	and	special	resolutions	at	the	AGM,	or	any	other	proxy	to	

vote	or	to	abstain	from	voting	at	the	AGM	as	he/she	deems	fit,	in	respect	of	all	the	shareholder’s	votes	exercisable	thereat.

6.	 A	shareholder	or	his/her	proxy	is	not	obliged	to	vote	in	respect	of	all	the	ordinary	shares	held	by	such	shareholder	or	represented	

by	such	proxy,	but	the	total	number	of	votes	for	or	against	the	resolutions	or	in	respect	of	which	any	abstention	is	recorded	may	

not	exceed	the	total	number	of	votes	to	which	the	shareholder	or	his/her	proxy	is	entitled.

7.	 Documentary	evidence	establishing	the	authority	of	a	person	signing	this	form	of	proxy	in	a	representative	capacity	must	be	attached	

to	this	form	of	proxy,	unless	previously	recorded	by	the	company’s	transfer	secretaries	or	waived	by	the	chairman	of	the	AGM.

8.	 The	chairman	of	the	AGM	may	reject	or	accept	any	form	of	proxy	which	is	completed	and/or	received	other	than	in	accordance	

with	these	instructions	and	notes,	provided	that	he	is	satisfied	as	to	the	manner	in	which	a	shareholder	wishes	to	vote.

9.	 Any	alterations	or	corrections	to	this	form	of	proxy	must	be	initialled	by	the	signatory(ies).

10.	 The	completion	and	lodging	of	this	form	of	proxy	will	not	preclude	the	relevant	shareholder	from	attending	the	AGM	and	speaking	

and	voting	in	person	thereat	to	the	exclusion	of	any	proxy	appointed	in	terms	hereof.

11.	 A	 minor	 must	 be	 assisted	 by	 his/her	 parent/guardian	 unless	 the	 relevant	 documents	 establishing	 his/her	 legal	 capacity	 are	

produced	or	have	been	registered	by	the	company’s	transfer	secretaries.

12.	 Where	there	are	joint	holders	of	any	shares,	only	that	holder	whose	name	appears	first	in	the	register	in	respect	of	such	shares	

need	sign	this	form	of	proxy.

13.	 Completed	forms	of	proxy	must	be	lodged	with	the	transfer	secretaries	at	the	address	provided	below	at	least	48	hours	prior	to	

the	AGM.	If	this	deadline	is	not	met,	the	shareholder	or	proxy	may	bring	it	to	the	meeting	but	will	be	required	to	provide	proof	

(sufficient	to	the	chairman	of	the	meeting)	of	the	validity	of	the	proxy	and	the	identification	of	the	bearer.

ADDITIONAL FORMS OF PROXY ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE TRANSFER SECRETARIES ON REQUEST.

Transfer secretaries

Computershare	Investor	Services	(Pty)	Ltd

Rosebank	Towers	

15	Biermann	Avenue	

Rosebank

PO	Box	61051

Marshalltown

2107

Telephone:	+27	11	370	5000

Fax:	+27	11	688	5248

Email:	proxy@computershare.co.za
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Company registration number
1986/002975/06

Share code
ARH

ISIN
ZAE000109435

Website
www.arbhold.co.za	

Registered and corporate office
10	Mack	Road

Prospecton

Durban,	4110

(PO	Box	26426,	Isipingo	Beach,	4115)

Telephone:	+27	31	910	0200

Company secretary
Mario	Louw

11	Larch	Nook

Zwartkop	X4

Centurion,	0046

(PO	Box	23305,	Gezina,	0031)

Telephone:	+27	12	663	5244

Reporting accountants and auditor
PKF	Durban

2nd	Floor,	12	on	Palm	Boulevard

Gateway

Umhlanga	Rocks,	4319

(PO	Box	1858,	Durban,	4000)

Telephone:	+27	31	573	5000

Commercial bankers
Nedbank	Ltd

90	Braam	Fischer	Road

Kingsmead

Durban,	4001

(PO	Box	3560,	Durban,	4000)

Telephone:	+27	31	364	1111

Transfer secretaries
Computershare	Investor	Services	(Pty)	Ltd

Rosebank	Towers

15	Biermann	Avenue,	Rosebank

Johannesburg,	2001

(PO	Box	61051,	Marshalltown,	2107)

Telephone:	+27	11	370	5000

Sponsor
Grindrod	Bank	Ltd

3rd	Floor,	Grindrod	Towers

8A	Protea	Place

Sandton

Johannesburg,	2146

(PO	Box	78011,	Sandton,	2146)

Telephone:	+27	11	459	1860	

Attorneys
Webber	Wentzel

90	Rivonia	Road

Sandton

Johannesburg,	2196

(PO	Box	61771,	Marshalltown,	2107)

Telephone:	+27	11	530	5639

Investor relations agency
Keyter	Rech	Investor	Solutions	CC

Fountain	Grove	Office	Park

No	5	2nd	Road

Hyde	Park,	2196

(PO	Box	653078,	Benmore,	2010)

Telephone:	+27	11	447	2993
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AGM Annual	General	Meeting	(of	shareholders)

ARB Electrical Wholesalers ARB	Electrical	Wholesalers	(Pty)	Ltd	–	74%	held	subsidiary	and	part	of	the	electrical	division

ARB IT Solutions ARB	IT	Solutions	(Pty)	Ltd	–	100%	subsidiary	of	ARB	that	provides	the	IT	services	to	the	Electrical	
Group	and	forms	part	of	the	corporate	division

ARB, the group, the company ARB	Holdings	Ltd

Batsomi Power Batsomi	Power	(Pty)	Ltd	–	26%	B-BBBE	shareholder	of	ARB	Electrical	Wholesalers

BAC&I Black,	Asian,	Coloured	and	Indian:	the	broad	definition	of	“black”	in	terms	of	the	B-BBBE	code

B-BBEE Broad-Based	Black	Economic	Empowerment

CED CED	–	Consolidated	Electrical	Distributor	(Pty)	Ltd	–	CHINT	Distributors	and	part	of	the	electrical	
division

CFL Compact	Fluorescent	Lamp	–	form	of	energy	saving	luminaire	(light	bulb)

CGU Cash	Generating	Unit,	being	a	business	unit,	usually	used	in	IFRS	discounted	cash	flow	calculations	
to	justify	goodwill	or	put	option	liability	valuation

CHINT Zhejiang	CHINT	Electrics	Co.	Ltd,	the	largest	manufacturer	and	seller	of	low-voltage	electrical	
products	in	China

CPI Consumer	Price	Inflation

CSI Corporate	Social	Investment	–	investing	in	the	local	community	with	money	and	time	as	part	of	“good	
corporate	citizenship”

DIY Do-It-Yourself

Elektro Vroomen Elektro	Vroomen	(Pty)	Ltd	–	100%	subsidiary	of	ARB	Electrical	Wholesalers	and	part	of	the	electrical	
division

ECL Estimated	credit	losses,	an	IFRS	9	term,	being	the	probability	weighted	estimated	loss	on	accounts	
receivables	in	total	and	in	each	credit	status	period	(current,	60	days,	etc)	

EIR Effective	Interest	Rate,	used	in	discounting	amounts	to	net	present	value	and	unless	otherwise	
stated,	is	the	South	African	Prime	rate	of	interest.

ERP Enterprise	Resource	Planning	–	a	component	of	a	broader	IT	solution

Eurolux Eurolux	(Pty)	Ltd	–	60%	held	subsidiary	and	part	of	the	lighting	division

FVTPL An	IFRS	term	(fair	value	through	profit	or	loss)	meaning	that	the	asset	or	liability	is	revalued	to	fair	
value	and	the	adjustment	booked	to	profit	or	loss

FOCCI Fair	value	through	other	comprehensive	income,	an	IFRS	term	used	to	describe	a	method	of	
valuation	of	a	financial	instrument	that	does	not	go	through	profit	and	loss

IEC International	Elektro-technical	Commission	–	Belgian-based	international	standard	setting	authority,	
used	as	the	base	for	new	RSA	standards

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
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IFRS International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	and	its	interpretations	issued	by	the	International	
Accounting	Standards	board

JSE The	JSE	Ltd	–	Johannesburg	Stock	Exchange

LAP List The	Eskom	list	of	approved	products,	being	those	products	Eskom	is	allowed	to	buy

LOA Letter	of	authority	–	authority	issued	for	five	years	by	the	NRCS	[can	be	extended	by	three	years]	as	
evidence	of	compliance	with	applicable	South	African	Standards,	allowing	the	manufacture	or	import	
of	an	item

LED Light	emitting	diode	–	type	of	luminaire	(light	bulb)

NCI Non-controlling	interest	–	outside/minority	shareholders	in	the	group

NQF National	Qualification	Framework	–	RSA	national	education	qualification	standard	benchmark

NRCS National	Regulator	Compliance	Standards	–	incorporated	by	the	NRCS	Act	2008	to	enforce	RSA	
standards	such	as	the	SABS	standards

OEM Original	Equipment	Manufacturer

OHL Overhead	line	–	a	form	of	power	connectivity	using	suspended	(aluminium)	conductor	and	the	name	
of	a	department	in	the	electrical	division

RCC Regulators	Certificate	of	Compliance	–	confirming	compliance	with	SANS	standards	(such	as	SANS	
10142	wiring	code),	similar	to	a	letter	of	authority	(LOA)

RCP Republic	Price	Copper	–	the	industry	standard	measure	of	the	copper	price	being	the	monthly	average	
daily	price	of	copper	on	the	LME	(London	Metals	Exchange)	multiplied	by	the	daily	rand/dollar		
exchange	price

SABS South	African	Bureau	of	Standards

SADC Southern	African	Development	Community	–	covering	South	Africa,	Botswana,	Lesotho,	Swaziland	
and	Namibia

SANAS South	African	National	Accreditation	System	–	National	body	that	oversees	standards	compliance	
(such	as	B-BBEE	certification,	calibration	laboratories

SANS South	African	National	Standards	–	developed	by	the	SABS,	reviewed	by	the	NRCS	and	gazetted	by	
the	Department	of	Trade	and	Industry

SENS Securities	Exchange	News	Service	–	the	JSE	automated	news	service

SoCI Statements	of	comprehensive	income	(IFRS	term	for	an	income	statement)

SoFP Statements	of	financial	position	(IFRS	term	for	a	balance	sheet)

SoCE Statement	of	change	in	owner’s	equity

VWAP Volume	weighted	average	(share)	price
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ARB Holdings Ltd

Tel:	 +27	31	910	0150

Fax:	 +27	31	910	0252

Email:	 info@arbhold.co.za

www.arbhold.co.za


